
  

 

  
 

A copy of this preliminary prospectus has been filed with the securities regulatory authority in British Columbia but 

has not yet become final. Information contained in this preliminary prospectus may not be complete and may have 

to be amended.  

 

This Preliminary Prospectus is not related to a public offering. No securities regulatory authority has expressed an 

opinion about these securities and it is an offence to claim otherwise. 

 

PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS 

 

Non-offering Prospectus  DATED: MAY 27, 2020 

 

                                        EYEFI  GROUP TECHNOLOGIES INC. 

 

No securities are being offered pursuant to this Prospectus. 

 
This non‐offering prospectus (the “Prospectus”) of EYEFI Group Technologies Inc.(the “Company” or “EYEFI”) is 

being filed with the British Columbia Securities Commission (the “BCSC”). The filing is to comply with Policy 2 – 

Qualifications for Listing of the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “CSE”) in order for the Company to meet one of 

the eligibility requirements for the listing of the Shares on the CSE by becoming a Reporting Company as defined 

herein, pursuant to the applicable securities legislation in the Province of British Columbia.  Upon receipt of this 

Prospectus by the BCSC, the Company will become a Reporting Company in British Columbia.  

 

No securities are being offered pursuant to this Prospectus. As such, no proceeds will be raised, and all expenses 

incurred in connection with the preparation and filing of this Prospectus will be paid by the Company from its general 

corporate funds.  

 
The Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, EYEFI Pty. Ltd. is a software and engineering company that has developed, 

patented and commercialized innovative spatial, predictive, approximation and radial convolution technology called 

SPARC and an associated product suite that turns any sensor, camera or smartphone device (fixed, mobile, airborne, 

portable or handheld) into a target co-ordinate acquisition system. SPARC solves critical problems for government and 

industry customers operating in infrastructure and asset management, emergency management and incident response 

markets. As an example it has developed an Industrial Internet of Things (IIoT) hardware sensor (EYEfi Sensor) 

product and Cloud application called Smart Waste for waste bins and Smart Drain for storm water pits and is rolling 

out this technology in Australia and New Zealand. 

 

There is no market through which the securities of the Company may be sold and holders of the Company’s 

securities may not be able to resell any such securities. This may affect the pricing of the Company’s securities 

in the secondary market, the transparency and availability of trading prices, the liquidity of the securities and 

the extent of Company regulation. See “Risk Factors”.  

 

An application will be filed by the Company to have its Shares listed for trading on the Canadian Securities Exchange 

(“CSE”). Listing will be subject to the Company fulfilling all the listing requirements of the CSE, including, without 

limitation, the distribution of the Shares to a minimum number of public shareholders and the Company meeting certain 

financial and other requirements. 

 

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company does not have any of its securities listed or quoted, has not applied to 

list or quote any of its securities, and does not intend to apply to list or quote any of its securities, on the Toronto Stock 

Exchange, Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc., a U.S. marketplace, or a marketplace outside Canada and the United States 

of America (other than the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange or the PLUS markets operated 
by PLUS Markets Group plc).  

 

An investment in the securities of the Company is subject to a number of risks. Investors should carefully consider the 

risk factors described under the heading “Risk Factors” before purchasing any securities of the Company. See “Risk 

Factors”. 



  

 

  
 

 

No underwriters or selling agents have been involved in the preparation of this Prospectus or performed any review or 

independent due diligence of its contents.  

 

No person has been authorized to provide any information or to make any representation not contained in this 
Prospectus and, if provided or made, such information or representation should not be relied upon. The information 

contained in this Prospectus is accurate only as of the date of this Prospectus.  

 

This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any securities.  

 

Unless otherwise noted all currency amounts in this Prospectus are stated in Canadian dollars. 

 

Enforcement of Judgments 

 

EYEFI Group Technologies Inc.is incorporated pursuant to the British Columbia Corporation Act and is resident in 

Canada.  Three of the directors and officers of the Company, Simon Langdon, James Hope and Benjamin (“Ben”) 

Melin are residents of Australia. They have appointed the following agent for service of process in British Columbia: 
 

Name of Person or Company Name and address of Agent 

Joanne McClusky 

Barrister & Solicitor 

#390-825 Homer Street, 

British Columbia V6B2W2 

 

 

Investors are advised that although an officer and two directors have appointed Joanne McClusky as their agent for 

services of process, it may not be possible for investors to enforce and collect judgments obtained in courts in British 

Columbia predicated on the civil liability provisions of securities legislation.  
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS 

 

Except as otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires in this Prospectus, reference to “the Company” or 

“EYEfi” refers to EYEfi Group Technologies Inc. 
 

Capitalized terms, except as otherwise defined herein, are defined in the section entitled “Glossary of Terms”. 

 

Investors should rely only on the information contained in this Prospectus. We have not authorized any other person 

to provide investors with additional or different information. If anyone provides investors with additional, different, 

or inconsistent information, including information or statements in media articles about the Company, investors 

should not rely on it. The Company is not making an offer to sell or seeking offers to buy Shares or other 

securities of the Company. Investors should assume that the information appearing in this Prospectus is accurate 

only as at its date, regardless of its time of delivery. The Company’s business, financial conditions, results of 

operations and prospects may have changed since that date. 

 

Third Party Information  
This Prospectus includes market, industry and economic data which was obtained from various publicly available 

sources and other sources believed by the Company to be true. Although the Company believes it to be reliable, the 

Company has not independently verified any of the data from third party sources referred to in this Prospectus, or 

analyzed or verified the underlying reports relied upon or referred to by such sources, or ascertained the underlying 

economic and other assumptions relied upon by such sources. The Company believes that its market, industry, and 

economic data are accurate and that its estimates and assumptions are reasonable, but there can be no assurance as to 

the accuracy or completeness thereof. The accuracy and completeness of the market, industry, and economic data 

used throughout this Prospectus are not guaranteed and the Company does not make any representation as to the 

accuracy of such information. 

 

CURRENCY 
Unless stated otherwise, all dollar amounts in this Prospectus are expressed in Canadian dollars.  

 

CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

 

Certain statements in this Prospectus are forward‐looking statements or information (collectively “forward‐looking 

statements”). The Company is providing cautionary statements identifying important factors that could cause the 

Company’s actual results to differ materially from those projected in these forward‐looking statements. Any 

statements that express, or involve discussions as to, expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives, assumptions or future 

events or performance (often, but not always, through the use of words or phrases such as “may”, “anticipates”, “is 

expected to”, “estimates”, “intends”, “plans”, “projection”, “could”, “vision”, “goals”, “objective” and “outlook”) are 

not historical facts and may be forward‐looking and may involve estimates, assumptions and uncertainties which 

could cause actual results or outcomes to differ materially from those expressed in the forward‐looking statements.  
 

In making these forward‐looking statements, the Company has assumed that its innovative technology called SPARC 

with its many applications will continue to be adopted by new Channel Partners and other new customers in addition 

to its current Channel Partners who imbed SPARC in their software for resale to their customers. Refer to the 

“Glossary” for a definition of Channel Partner. 

 

These forward‐looking statements include, among other things, statements relating to the ability of the Company to 

continue to generate revenue; the disruptive effect of the Covid 19 virus on its supply chains in India and China for 

the EYEfi Sensors and electronic components which has affected the rollout of its project for waste bins in New 

Zealand (refer to “General Description of the Business” item 6 “Material Agreements” and its contract with Fujitsu 

Australia Limited; the duration of the supply chain disruption is unknown and could affect delivery of the EYEfi 
Sensor product/hardware to new customers where it is essential to the provision of services; there is no assurance that 

the supply chains can be change in a timely manner; the slow down of its services and products to customers due to 

the Covid 19 virus will likely disrupt its projections and plans in 2020 and perhaps beyond which will impact on its 

use of funds and plans to further develop, market and promote its services and products; there may be unanticipated 
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cash needs arising from the Covid 19 virus disruptions and other unexpected contingencies and the possible need for 

additional financing which may not be on acceptable terns to the Company.   

 

The Forward-looking statements are based on the reasonable assumptions, estimates, opinions and analyses of 

management made in light of its experience and perception of historical trends in the deliver of services through its 
Cloud, current conditions, expected future developments and other factors management of the Company believes are 

appropriate, relevant and reasonable in the circumstances at the date that such statements are made. All of these 

assumptions, estimates and opinions will necessarily be subject to change due to the effect of the Covid 19 virus. The 

Company has based the forward looking information in this Prospectus on various material assumptions, including: 

despite the threat of the Covid 19 virus, the Company will sustain or increase profitability although on a slower 

projection then previously planned, and will be able to fund its operations with existing  capital and projected revenue 

from its current agreements with its Channel Partners; the Company will be able to attract and retain key personnel 

in future if required; the general business, economic, financial market, regulatory and political conditions in which 

the Company operates will remain positive as its services can be provided in the Company’s Cloud although deliver 

of its hardware may be affect by supply chain disruptions; that the general regulatory environment will not change in 

a manner adverse to the business of the Company; the tax treatment of the Company and its subsidiary will remain 

constant and the Company will not become subject to any material legal proceedings; the economy generally; 
competition, and anticipated and unanticipated costs.  

 

Additional assumptions are: 

 that it will list on the CSE. 

 that it will be able to fund its operations from revenue from current contracts with its existing Channel 

Partners. 

 that its Cloud coding and firmware development will not be affected by the Covid 19 virus as teams are 

virtual and often work remotely using Cloud systems and online workflow management. Some aspects of 

this are outsourced to offshore teams, however EYEfi has local resources in Australia who can also provide 

these services. 

 that it can address the supply chain issues of its hardware prototyping in India and China, now affected by 
the Covid 19 virus. 

 its revised expectations arising from the Covid 19 virus, regarding its revenue, expenses and operations will 

be met. 

 expectations about the success of its operations compared to competitors and that its 

competitive position relative to other companies in the same industry will improve. 

 that it can address the impact of competition on the Company’s operations. 

 that the operating costs of the Company will be consistent in all material respects with the budgeted amounts. 

 it will reach its expected business objectives over the next 12 months but acknowledging it will have to 

regularly adjust its business objectives. 

 its expectations that revenue from its current agreements with Channel Partners and projected agreements 
under discussion with to new Channel Partners will be adequate to cover expenses during 2020 and the 12 

months following listing on the CSE. 

 that general economic and industry conditions in the jurisdictions of the subsidiary company will remain 

stable in relation to current general and industry conditions. 

 the economic interest of the directors in the Shares. 

 compensation arrangements for the directors and executive officers, employees and contractors. 

 

By their nature, forward‐looking statements involve numerous assumptions, inherent risks and uncertainties, both 

general and specific, which contribute to the possibility that the predicted outcomes may not occur or may be delayed. 

There are unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are beyond our control, that could influence 

actual results include, but are not limited to: the effect of the Covid 19 virus on the supply chains business and 

operations of the Company; global economic and financial market deterioration arising from the Covid 19 Virus 
impeding access to capital or increasing the cost of capital; the effects of tariffs on economic growth causing a 

downturn in general economic conditions; equity risk; the ability of the Company to continue to generate revenue 

adequate to fund its business plans and operations; competition other technology companies operating in the 

Company’s industry; the effect of government regulation and compliance on the Company; the ability of the Company 

to maintain properly working systems; volatility of the Company’s share price following listing on a the CSE; failure 
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to list on the CSE; the inability to secure additional financing; the Company’s intention not to pay dividends in the 

near future; claims, lawsuits and other legal proceedings and challenges; conflict of interest with directors and 

management; and other factors beyond the Company’s control. 

 

Further, any forward‐looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made, and, except as 
required by applicable law, the Company undertakes no obligation to update any forward‐looking statement to reflect 

events or circumstances after the date on which such statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated 

events. New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for management to predict all such factors and 

to assess in advance the impact of each such factor on the Company’s business or the extent to which any factor, or 

combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward‐looking 

statement. See “Risk Factors” for a more detailed discussion of these risk factors and the disruptive effect of the 

Covid 19 virus. 
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SUMMARY OF PROSPECTUS  

 

The following is a summary of the principal features of the Company and should be read together with the  

more detailed information and financial data and statements contained elsewhere in this Prospectus.  

 

The Company EYEFI Group Technologies Inc. was incorporated on October 4, 2018 under the “Act” with 
the name 1181950 B. C. Ltd. On January 8, 2020, the name was changed to the current name, 

EYEFI Group Technologies Inc. Its head office is located at #301-175 West 2nd Street, North 

Vancouver, BC V7M 0A5 and its registered office is at 390 – 825 Homer Street, Vancouver, 

B.C. V6B2W2. See “Corporate Structure”. 

 

The Company has one wholly owned subsidiary company, EYEFI Pty Ltd. incorporated 

pursuant to the Australian Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) on June 8, 2006 with incorporation 

number ACN (Australian Corporation Number) 114 673 684 with the name Landmark 

Security (AUS) Pty. Ltd. On January 4, 2007 its name was changed to its current name. Its 

head office is located at Unit 1, 255 Wellington Street, Collingwood, Victoria 3066 Australia. 

Its registered office is located at C/ - DLK Advisory Pty. Ltd., Level 10, 99 Queen Street, 

Melbourne, Victoria 3000, Australia. See “Corporate Structure”.  

Business of the 

Company 

All of the business and operations of the Company are carried on by its wholly owned 
subsidiary, EYEFI Pty. Ltd. which is a software and engineering company that has developed, 

patented and commercialized an innovative spatial, predictive, approximation and radial 

convolution technology called SPARC and associated product suite that turns any sensor, 

camera or smartphone device (fixed, mobile, airborne, portable or handheld) into a target co-

ordinate acquisition system.  SPARC solves critical problems for government and industry 

customers operating in infrastructure and asset management, emergency management and 

incident response markets. It has also developed an Industrial Internet of Things (IIoT) 

hardware sensor (EYEfi Sensor) product and Cloud application called Smart Waste for waste 

bins and Smart Drain for storm water pits and is rolling out this technology in Australia and 

New Zealand. 

See “Description of the Business” and “Risk Factors” for a more detailed discussion of the 
business. 

 

Market and 

 Competition 

The Company operates in Australia. For further details, see “Description of the Business” 

which contains information about its competitors and “Risk Factors”. 

 

Directors and 

Executive Officers 

Simon Langdon –CEO and director  

James Hope - director 

Harold Forzley - director 

Ben Melin – CFO and corporate secretary 

  

See “Directors and Executive Officers” for more information. 
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Use of Funds Estimated Funds Available and Use of Funds 

No securities are offered pursuant to this Prospectus. This Prospectus is filed with the BCSC for 

the purpose of allowing the Company to become a reporting Company in British Columbia and 

to enable the Company to develop an organized market for its Shares by subsequently listing on 

the CSE. Since no securities are offered pursuant to this Prospectus, no proceeds will be raised. 

All expenses incurred in connection with the preparation and filing of this Prospectus are being 
paid by the Company from general corporate funds.  

 

As of April 30, 2020, the Share Swap Agreement to acquire the issued and outstanding ordinary 

shares of EYEfi had not yet closed. The Share Swap Agreement closed on May 27, 2020.  

 

The Estimated Funds Available set out below and the Use of Funds below assumes the closing 

of the Share Swap Agreement on April 30, 2020.  

 

As of April 30, 2020 the Company had approximately $34,824 in working capital comprised of 

cash $24,859 and prepaid expenses of $$9,965   

 

Estimated Funds Available: The estimated funds available to the 

Company in the next 12 months are as follows: 
Amount 

Working Capital of the Company as of April 30, 2020 34,824 

Working Capital of EYEfi (3) as of April 30, 2020 327,600 

 Two Year Loan Facility from a director (Simon Langdon) of AUD 

$485,000 (See “Directors and Executive Officers” for details) 

441,350 

Total  803,774  

 

Use of Available Funds: The intended uses of the estimated available funds are as follows: 

   

Principal Purpose Estimated  

Cost ($)  

Listing on the CSE 10,000 

General and administrative expenses of the Company (See table 1 below 

for a detailed breakdown of these expenses) 

43,200  

General and administrative expenses of the subsidiary, EYEfi (See table 2 

below for a detailed breakdown of these expenses) 

603,330 

2020 expansion plans (See “General Description of the Business – 2020 

Expansion Plans”) 

 

109,200  

120,000 

Unallocated 38,044 

Total  803,774 

 

Table 1 

 

General and Administrative Expenses of the 

Company 

Monthly 

Amount ($) 
 

Annual 

Amount ($)  

 

CEO fees (See table 2 below) 0 0 

CFO, corporate secretary fees (See table 2 below) 0 0 

Annual filing fees  100 1,200 

Audit fees 

(includes audit fees for EYEfi) 

2,000 24,000 

CSE monthly listing fees 750 9,000 

Legal fees 0 0 

Office, insurance and miscellaneous 0 0 

Annual Compliance 750 9000 

Total   3,600 43,200 

Table 2 
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General and Administrative Expenses of the 

subsidiary, EYEfi 

Monthly 

Amount  

AUD $  

Annual 

Amount  

AUD $  

CEO fees  

(See “Directors and Executive Officers”) 

(1) 15,000 180,000 

CFO, corporate secretary fees (See “Directors and 

Executive Officers”) 

(1) 5,500 66,000?? 

Accounting, tax compliance and bookkeeping 

services 
 

5,500 66,000 

CCP Technologies Limited 

(See “General Description of the Business – 

Material Agreements”) 

(2) 3,000 36,000 

Legal 1,250 15,000 

Salaries and wages  14,000 168,000 

Office, insurance, patent fees, compliance and 

miscellaneous 

6,000 72,000 

Travel 1,000 12,000 

Rent 4,000 48,000 

Total  AUD $ 55,250 663,000 

Total  CAD $ 50,277.50 603,330 

 
(1) Simon Langdon, the CEO of the Company is paid AUD $180,000 per year pursuant to his 

employment contract. Ben Melin, the CFO is paid AUD $5,500 per month pursuant to his 

contract. See “Directors and Executive Officers” and “Executive Compensation” for details. 

 
(2)  The fee for May is $12,000 and then will drop to approximately $3,000 a month. See “General 

Description of the Business”. 

 
(3) The working capital figure above excludes “income in advance” of $336,000 due to the 

availability of R&D tax concession offsets 
The actual amount that the Company spends in connection with each intended use of funds may 

vary significantly from the amounts specified above, and will depend on a number of factors 

including those listed under the heading “Risk Factors.  

 

Summary 

Financial 

Information of the 

Company 

The Company’s fiscal year end is December 31. The following is a summary of the financial 

data of the Company for the interim comparative unaudited financial statement for the quarter 

ended March 31, 2020; attached as Schedule A; annual comparative financial statements for the 

years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 attached as Schedule E. The summary should be read 

in conjunction with such statements and related notes and MD&A attached respectively as 

Schedules B and F. In addition, The proforma consolidated statement of the Company and 
EYEFI Pty. Ltd. are attached as Schedule “E” to this Prospectus. The interim unaudited financial 

statements ended March 31, 2020 and the annual comparative audited statements for the fiscal 

year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 and the related MD&A for the subsidiary EYEfi are 

attached respectively as Schedules C, D, G and H to this Prospectus. See “Selected Financial 

Information and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis”. 
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Statement of Operations of 

the Company 

 

 

 
Revenue 

Expense 

Net income (loss) 

Net income (loss) per 

Ordinary Share 

Weighted average number of 

Shares outstanding 

Balance Sheet 

Total assets 

Short term liabilities 

Long term liabilities 

Shareholder’s equity 
Cash dividends declared per 

Ordinary Share 

 

Interim three months 

ended  

March 31, 2020 

(unaudited) 

$ 
0 

(40,549) 

(40,549) 

(0.01) 

 

3,073,000 

 

 

27,186 

(15,916) 

0 

(11,270) 
0 

Fiscal Year Ended 

Dec. 31, 2019 

 

(audited)  

 ($) 
0 

(11,118) 

(11,118) 

(111.18) 

 

100 

 

 

976 

(14,997) 

0 

14,021 
0 

 

Fiscal Year 

Ended 

Dec. 31, 2018 

(audited)  

($)    
0 

(2,904) 

(2,904) 

(29.04) 

 

100 

 

 

2,483 

(5,386) 

0 

2,903 
0 
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Statement of Operations of the 

Subsidiary, EYEfi Pty Ltd 

 

 
 

 

Revenue 

Cost of sales 

Gross profit 

Other income 

Expense 

Net income (loss) from ordinary 

activities 

Net income (loss) per Ordinary Share 

Weighted average number of Shares 
outstanding 

Balance Sheet 

Total assets 

Short term liabilities 

Long term liabilities 

Shareholder’s equity 

Cash dividends declared per Ordinary 

Share 

 

Interim three 

months ended  

March 31, 2020 

(unaudited) 

$ 

 
52,667 

(37,908) 

14,759 

22,288 

(310,059) 

(273,012) 

(0.11) 

2,500,012 

 

 

2,430,431 

(1,790,988) 
(92,295) 

547,148 

- 

Fiscal Year 

Ended 

Dec. 31, 2019 

(audited)  

 ($) 

 
969,082 

(283,477) 

685,635 

2,132 

(566,120) 

121,647 

0.05 

2,500,012 

 

 

2,560,194 

(1,730,613) 
(93,959) 

735,622 

- 

Fiscal Year 

Ended 

Dec. 31,2018 

(audited)  

($)    

 
1,536,638  

(321,791) 

1,214,847 

4,437 

(342,275) 

877,009 

0.35 

2,500,012 

 

 

1,685,931 

(613,148) 
- 

1,072,783 

- 

Fiscal Year  

Ended 

Dec 31, 2017 

(audited)  

($)  

 
1,000,585 

(295,805) 

704,780 

(12,254) 

(499,997) 

192,529 

0.08 

2,500,012 

 

 

1,002,883 

(507,597) 
- 

495,286 

- 

 

Business Objectives 

 

Based on the estimated funds that the Company 

believes will be available to it over the next 12 months 

which includes the revenue set out in its projections in 

its Business Plan to achieve the business objectives set 
out below.     

 

Business Objectives Estimated Time Estimated Cost ($) 

Obtain a listing of the Shares on the CSE 

 

 

 

2020 Expansion Plans  
(See “General Description of the Business – 

2020 Expansion Plans” 

One month from the date of issue of a Receipt by the 

BCSC for the Company’s Final Prospectus.   

 

 

 
Over the next 12 months 

 

10,000 

 

 

 

 
$109,200 

   

Listing The Company has applied to list its Shares on the CSE. Listing will be subject to the Company’s fulfilling all of 

the listing requirements of the CSE, including, without limitation, the distribution of the Shares to a minimum 

number of public shareholders and the Company meeting the minimum listing requirements. 

 

Risk 

Factors 

Investment in the Company involves a substantial degree of risk and must be regarded as highly speculative due to 

the nature of the Company’s business and its present stage of development. Prospective investors should carefully 

consider, in addition to matters set forth elsewhere in this Prospectus, the risks described under “Risk Factors”, 

which are summarized below. 

 

 Global financial conditions over the last few years have been characterized by volatility and now with the Covid 

19 virus, there is much more uncertainty. 
 

 The supply chains of EYEfi: The Covid 19 virus is impacting our supply chain in terms of sensor production 

(China/India) and electronic component supply and delaying its product launch plans with one of its two large 

channel partners, Fujitsu Australia Limited. 
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 EYEfi is working on resolving its supply chain issues but no assurances can be given about the timelines to 

accomplish this.  

 

 Cybersecurity is a risk as EYEfi Cloud is a public cloud application and is subject to threats and attacks and 

data breaches that could affect for example delivery of service and supply lines. Security data is controlled by 

the cloud provider which could make it difficult to distinguish between everyday computing events and security 
events. The Company is constantly monitoring for security events. 

 

 The Company may experience an inability to attract or retain qualified personnel 

 

 Subsequent issues of Shares by the Company will dilute your shareholdings. 

 

 Future sales of Shares by existing shareholders could cause the share price to fall. 

 

 There can be no assurance that the Company’s business will enable it to sustain profitability in future periods.  

 

 Legal proceedings may arise from time to time in the course of the Company’s business. 
 

 The Company may experience significant fluctuations in its quarterly and annual results of operations for a 

variety of reasons, some of which are outside of the Company’s control, particularly the disruption caused by 

the Covid 19 virus. 

 

 The Company’s directors and officers may be subject to potential conflicts of interest. The CEO has signed an 

employment agreement which includes a non compete restrictive covenant and confidentiality covenant. 

 

 There can be no guarantee that an active and liquid trading market will develop or be maintained, the failure of 

which may have a material adverse effect on the value of the Shares and the ability of an investor to dispose of 

the Shares in a timely manner, or at all. 
 

 There can be no assurance that the price of the Shares will not decrease after listing on the CSE. 

 

 As a reporting Company, the Company will be subject to reporting requirements under applicable securities 

law and stock exchange policies, which may divert management’s attention. 

  

This information is presented as of the date of this Prospectus and is subject to change, completion, or amendment 

without notice. See “Description of the Business”, “Directors and Executive Officers – Conflicts of Interest”, “Use 

of Funds” and “Risk Factors”. 

 

An investment in the Shares is suitable for only those investors who are willing to risk a loss of their entire 

investment and who can afford to lose their entire investment. Investors should consult their own 

professional advisors to assess the income tax, legal and other aspects of an investment in the Shares. See 

“General Description of the Business” and “Risk Factors”. 
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GLOSSARY  

 

 “AUD $” means Australian dollars. 

 

“Act” means the British Columbia Corporations Act. 
 

“API” means a set of computing functions and procedures allowing the creation of applications that access the 

features or data of an operating system applications or other service. It is a tool set that programmers can use in 

helping them to create software. An example is the Apple (iOS) API that’s used to detect touchscreen interactions.  

 

“Audit Committee” means the audit committee of the Company in accordance with NI 52-110. 

 

“Auditors” means MNP LLP 

 

“B.C.” means the province of British Columbia. 

 

“BCSC” means the British Columbia Securities Commission. 
 

“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Corporation. 

 

“CEO” means Chief Executive Officer. 

 

“CAD $” means Canadian dollars. 

 

“CFO” means Chief Financial Officer. 

 

“Channel Partners” means resellers that can provide access to new customers and markets.   

 
“Cloud” means cloud computing with on-demand availability of computer system resources, especially data storage 

and computing power, without direct active management by the user. The term is generally used to describe data 

centers available to many users over the Internet 

 

“Company” means EYEFI Group Technologies Inc. 

 

“CSE” means the Canadian Securities Exchange. 

 

“Computershare” means Computershare Investor Services Ltd., the registrar and transfer agent for the Company. 

 

“Escrow Agent” means Computershare Investor Services Ltd.  

 
“Escrow Agreement” means the Form 46-201 escrow agreement dated **, 2020 among the Company, the Escrow 

Agent and certain shareholders of the Company. 

 

“EYEfi.” means EYEFI Pty. Ltd., the subsidiary company of the Company. 

 

“EYEfi Sensor” means EYEfi’s industrial (IIoT) ultrasonic sensor device (hardware and firmware) capable of 

communicating across various public and private networks, and uses the Internet to communicate readings with the 

EYEfi Cloud platform.  

 

“Final Prospectus” means the Prospectus of the Company for which a receipt is issued. 

 
“Financial Statements” means the Company’s annual audited financial statements and the related notes thereto as at 

December 31, 2019, the unaudited interim quarterly financial statements and the related notes thereto as at March 31, 

2020 and the proforma consolidated financial statements to December 31 2019. 
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“IFRS” means International Financial Reporting Standards.  

 

“IoT” means the internet of things, a system of interrelated computing devices, mechanical and digital machines 

provided with unique identifiers (“UIDS”” and the ability to transfer data over a network without requiring human-

to-human or human-to-computer interaction. 
 

“IIoT” means Industrial Internet of Things.  

 

“Listing” means the date that the Shares are first listed for trading on the CSE. 

 

“Listing Date” means the date of listing. 

 

“MD&A” means Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 

 

“NEO” means “Named Executive Officer”, and has the meaning ascribed by the BCSC in Form 51‐102F6, as follows: 

 

(a)  a CEO; 
(b)  a CFO;  

(c)  each of the three most highly compensated executive officers of the company, including its subsidiaries, or the 

three most highly compensated individuals acting in a similar capacity, other than the CEO and CFO, at the 

end of the most recently completed financial year whose total compensation was, individually, more than 

$150,000, as determined in accordance with subsection 1.3(6), for that financial year; and  

(d)  each individual who would be an NEO under paragraph (c) but for the fact that the individual was neither an 

executive officer of the company or its subsidiaries, nor acting in a similar capacity, at the end of that financial 

year. 

 

“NI 52‐110” means National Instrument 52‐110 Audit Committees.  

 
“NI 58‐101” means National Instrument 58‐101 Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices.  

 

“NP 46‐201” means National Policy 46‐201 Escrow for Initial Public Offerings.  

 

“NP 58‐201” means National Policy 58‐201 Corporate Governance Guidelines. 

 

“Shares” means the Shares of the Company. See “Description of the Securities” for a description of the rights and 

restrictions attached to the Shares. 

 

“Person” means a Company or individual. 

 

“Prospectus” means this non‐offering prospectus dated as of the date on the cover page.  
 

“Reporting Issuer” means, inter alia, a company that has issued securities in respect of which a prospectus was filed 

and a receipt was issued by a securities Commission of a province in Canada,  has any securities that have been listed 

and trading on an exchange in Canada or completed a takeover with a listed issuer.  

 

“Receipt” means a receipt issued by the BCSC providing approval to a prospectus. 

 

“SaaS” means a method of software delivery and licensing in which software is accessed online via a subscription, 

rather than bought and installed on individual computers. 

 

“SEDAR” means the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval. 
 

“Transfer Agent Agreement” means the Transfer Agent, Registrar and Dividend Disbursing Agent Agreement dated 

** , 2020 between the Company and Computershare Investor Services Inc. 
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

 

Name, address and Incorporation 

 
The Company, EYEFI Group Technologies Inc. was incorporated on October 14, 2018 pursuant to the “Act” with 

the name 1181950 B.C. Ltd.   

 

On January 8, 2020, the names was changed to the current name, EYEFI Group Technologies Inc. Its head office is 

located at #301-175 West 2nd Street, North Vancouver, BC V7M 0A5 and its registered office is located at 390 – 825 

Homer Street, Vancouver, B.C. V6B2W2. See “Corporate Structure”. 

 

Subsidiary company:  

 

The Company has one wholly owned subsidiary company, EYEFI Pty Ltd. incorporated pursuant to the Australian 

Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) on June 8, 2006 with incorporation number ACN (Australian Corporation Number) 114 

673 684. On January 4, 2007 its name was changed from Landmark Security (AUS) Pty. Ltd. to its current name. Its 
head office is located at Unit 1, 255 Wellington Street, Collingwood, Victoria 3066 Australia. Its registered office is 

located at C/O - DLK Advisory Pty. Ltd., Level 10, 99 Queen Street, Melbourne, Victoria 3000, Australia. EYEFI 

Pty Ltd. “EYEfi” is the operating entity. See “General Development of the Business”.  

 

 

GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS 

 

Business of the Company and EYEfi 

 

The Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, EYEFI Pty. Ltd. is a software and engineering company that has 

developed, patented and commercialized innovative spatial, predictive, approximation and radial convolution 
technology called SPARC and an associated product suite that turns any sensor, camera or smartphone device (fixed, 

mobile, airborne, portable or handheld) into a target co-ordinate acquisition system.  SPARC solves critical problems 

for government and industry customers operating in infrastructure and asset management, emergency management 

and incident response markets. As an example it has developed an IoT hardware sensor (EYEfi Sensor) product and 

Cloud application called Smart Waste for waste bins and Smart Drain for storm water pits and is rolling out this 

technology in Australia and New Zealand. 

 

Three Year Operating History 

 

Acquisition 

During the period from incorporation on October 14, 2018 to March 4, 2020, 2020 the Company did not have any assets 

and was actively looking for a technology project to acquire. Management of the Company entered into discussions in 
the last months of 2019 with the management of EYEfi. Ltd. This led to the Company’s name change on January 8, 2020 

and on March 4, 2020, the Company signed an arms-length Share Swap Agreement with EYEfi and its shareholders the 

“Share Swap Agreement”. The Company acquired all of the issued Shares of EYEfi in exchange for 19,002,500 Shares 

at an issue price of $0.08 per Share (the “Transaction””). The Transaction closed on May 27, 2020 (the “Closing Date”).  

 

The insiders and shareholders of the Company were arms-length to the insiders and shareholders of EYEfi until the 

Closing Date. On the closing date, four of the then current directors of the Company resigned. They were Mark van der 

Horst of North Vancouver, B.C., Chris Haugen of Delta, B. C. and Ben Mumford and Dale Eckert of West Vancouver, 

B. C. On the Closing Date, Simon Langdon and James Hope were appointed directors of the Company. Simon Langdon 

was appointed CEO and Ben Melin was appointed CFO and corporate secretary. 

 

Bankruptcy, Receivership, Receiverships, Restructuring  

There have not been any bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings against the Company or its subsidiaries, or 

any voluntary bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings, material restructuring transactions by the Company 

or any of its subsidiaries, any within the two most recently completed financial years.  
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Social, Environmental Polices, Seasonal Issues 
There are no social and environmental policies or seasonal and environmental issues that have or are expected to 

affect the Company and its business. 

 

Material Restructurings 

There have not been any material restructuring of the Company since incorporation on October 14, 2018 to the date 

of this Prospectus other than the “Share Swap Agreement”.  

 

Trends 

The Company is unaware of any particular trends that would affect its business, operations, products and service. 

Current global financial and economic conditions are currently very unpredictable due to the Covid 19 virus which is 

impacting businesses globally by disrupting supply chains, travel, production and consumption threatening operations 

and financial markets. Many industries are impacted by these market conditions. Additional key impacts of the current 

financial market turmoil include contraction in credit markets and the credit lines required by businesses, resulting in 

a widening of credit risk; devaluations and high volatility in global equity, commodity, foreign exchange and monetary 

markets and a lack of market liquidity. Such factors may significantly impact the Company’s operations and future 
plans. The Company’s services are provided through the internet. However the supply chain for its hardware products 

are being disrupted by the Covid 19 virus. If such supply chain disruption continues to affect the rollout of its products 

and services, resulting in a need to raise funds the Company’s operations and financial condition could be adversely 

impacted. See “Risk Factors”. 

 

Employees and Consultants 

 

As at the date of this Prospectus, EYEfi employs Simon Langdon, CEO to run its operations. EYEfi also employs a 

general manager of operations and an office administrator. It engages independent contractors from time to time to 

work on a project by project basis and has a contract with an independent third party which provides technical support 

to the operations.  Refer to “Description of the Business” and “Directors and Executive Officers”. 
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DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS 

 

 

GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS 

 

 

1. Introduction 

2. Business Model 

3. SPARC Technical Description 

4. Products 

5. Hardware Manufacturing and Assembly 

6. Cloud Coding and Firmware Development 

7. Applications 

8. Material Agreements 

9. Competition  

10. Intellectual Property 

11. Employees 

12. Plans for 2020 

  

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

EYEfi is an electronics and software engineering company that has developed an international patented 

technology, described as Spatial, Predictive, Approximation and Radial Convolution (SPARC). SPARC includes 

an ultra-small footprint proprietary algorithm that turns any sensor, camera or smartphone device (fixed, mobile, 

airborne, portable or handheld) into a target co-ordinate acquisition system.   

SPARC solves the challenge of locating a distant point of interest (“POI”) being observed or pointed at in the field 

of view.  

Previously, establishing the location of a distant POI being observed or pointed at in the field of view often 

involved triangulation, requiring at least two, or ideally three overlapping views from known positions and at 

various angles. The result is then manually translated to a map, grid coordinates or geo-coded electronic 

topographic map.  

Depending on the application and the accuracy required, most other methods of target acquisition involve 

expensive and large equipment (e.g. Radar, Laser Range Finders) and are also active and detectable, or involve 

triangulation requiring multiple overlapping views and bearings and may only yield rudimentary accuracy.  

 

These conventional approaches can be time consuming, resource intensive or expensive; and in some cases (i.e. 

triangulation) only provide rudimentary accuracy. 

EYEfi’s unique patented solution involves only one pointing device making it incredibly flexible, portable and 

versatile, and can be used on-person, fixed, mobile or on airborne platforms. SPARC determines the location of 

any object or POI you can see or point at in the real-world, over any distance, day or night, without the need for 

triangulation, pixel mapping or any other frame of reference, or the use of expensive or bulky hardware. EYEfi’s 

solution is completely passive, covert and undetectable, requires no internet, GPS or satellite; and provides real-

time geo-target acquisition and geo-pointing from a single device.   

SPARC involves a suite of spatial algorithms and software classes. The small software footprint allows it to be 

installed on any mobile application or embedded into the firmware of any electronic device including industrial 

and military cameras, unmanned aerial vehicles and drones, and wearable technologies and can be used in any 

cloud application 
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SPARC identifies the location of anything being observed or pointed at in the real-world, and has the following 

product features: 

  Real-time spatial targeting and assessment 

  Works over any distance, height and terrain 

  Optimized for targeting at extremely acute angles 

  No hardware modifications needed 

  No triangulation, pixel mapping or 3D rendering or post-processing needed 

  Covert and untraceable technology  

  Available as an embedded or server-side API 

  Proven technology, plug-and-play 

 

In addition to SPARC, EYEfi has developed and commercialized a number of software classes and APIs that 

leverage SPARC to extend the capability into products that solve real world problems. These include EYEfi’s 

Spatial Video Solutions for real-time situational awareness, spatial targeting and intelligence gathering. This is 

achieved with SPARC’s seamless integration of video plus spatial and field intelligence mapping. EYEfi has also 

developed Spatialeye® (beta) a geo-pointing and augmented-reality style Smartphone application that pin-points 

real-world points of interest within the field of view.  

Target location results are instantly displayed for the user on a map and on the image in an augmented reality view 

and can be easily annotated and shared in real-time via public or private cloud platforms, email and social media.  

EYEfi’s latest product, EYEfi Cloud, provides a single platform for integrating and connecting sensory networks, 

spatial data with video, industrial internet of things (“IIoT”) sensors (EYEfi Sensor), and end user decision makers. 

EYEfi Cloud also allows API connectivity for data sharing and advanced intelligence gathering.  

EYEfi’s Sensor connects to EYEfi Cloud and is designed for use in two key critical infrastructure applications: 

 Monitoring the water levels in roadside pits to warn response crews before inundation occurs 

 Fill level analysis of waste levels in public space, bulk or skip bins to provide alerts to waste services 

providers 

EYEfi’s spatial technology and IIoT Sensor products are centrally managed and accessed by our customers, using 

EYEfi Cloud.     

EYEfi has focused on strategically selling its products and technology to a select group of government and large 

corporate clients. These clients have conducted extensive due diligence on the technology and are actively using 

and paying for the solution. Some of EYEfi’s clients, including Telstra, Australia’s largest telecommunication 

carrier, which has productized EYEfi’s Spatial Video Solutions (to be superseded late 2020 by EYEfi’s new single 

cloud based platform, EYEfi Cloud) for emergency management, incident response, asset and infrastructure 

protection.  

The private cloud platform is used to service Telstra’s government clients, including Melbourne Water for bushfire 

management and lightning detection within major water catchments, and VicRoads (a statutory corporation which 

is the road and traffic authority in the state of Victoria, Australia) for an Automated Incident Management solution 

via in-vehicle mobile camera units with GPS tracking, live video and automated incident logging capability.  
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2. BUSINESS MODEL 

EYEfi end-users/customers are typically governments and large corporations. To sell to these end-users, EYEfi 

utilises an indirect sales model and sells its solutions via Channel Partners (i.e. Resellers), such as Telstra and 

Fujitsu that have established relationships with our target end-customers. EYEfi provides a wholesale rate for our 

products and services, to the Channel Partners who then mark-up and/or bundle their services and sell to their end 

customer.  

 
EYEfi is looking to identify and secure similar large Channel Partners in North America and eventually, other regions 

around the world. As such, our initial business development activities focused on: (i) securing the actual Channel 

Partners, (ii) migration of some legacy EYEfi customers (direct) and existing opportunities, to long term contracts 

with those Channel Partners, and (iii) working with the Channel Partners on key target opportunities to assist them 

with the sales process and help them those opportunities. This model provides an efficient, streamlined and focused 

business development activity on a focused group of Channel Partners, rather than tens of thousands of end customers. 

 

EYEfi technology suite can service a broad range of industries verticals and use cases as highlighted in the image 

below: 

 
 

 

EYEfi’s product development strategy is to continue to develop products and services that solve specific customer 

problems and challenges. EYEFI’s solutions are embedded within the customer’s business operations that make 

them very sticky and customers cannot live without them. An example is the EYEFI solution sold to the Victoria’s 

transport authority, VICROADS, that is highly integrated into the workflow and management tools of the client’s 
operational systems. 

 

EYEfi’s solutions create additional product/revenue pull-through for the reseller/partner services, by unlocking 

complimentary services that the partner can value-add further value. For instance, when Telstra sells the EYEfi’s 

bushfire /wildfire) monitoring solution, it can value-add by offering the client installation, network infrastructure 

and helpdesk support services. Another example would be Fujitsu selling EYEfi’s smart waste/drain product, and 

providing installation, field service and helpdesk services to the client. 

 

Revenue Model: 

EYEfi charges a fixed fee per hardware device plus a SaaS (subscription) fee per month / per device for the 

EYEfi Cloud solution. EYEfi may also charge licensing fees and activation fees depending on the solution.  
 

Scalable: 

The solution is highly scalable and can be deployed globally. The hardware devices can be manufactured on scale 

in Asia and the cloud solution is delivered via either Amazon Web Services (“AWS”) or deployed on a private 

cloud solution for the customer or reseller.  
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As an example, EYEfi has a Channel Partner (Reseller) agreement with Fujitsu that is responsible for supplying 

the hardware to end user customers and on-selling EYEfi Cloud subscriptions for each connected device. Fujitsu 

procures the hardware under license from an EYEfi authorized manufacturer, and EYEfi receives a fixed fee per 

hardware device procured by Fujitsu, and, an ongoing monthly subscription (SaaS) fee per device from Fujitsu, 

who then on-sells the product to their customers. 
 

This commercial model shifts the capital expenditure to the Channel Partner (reseller), Fujitsu, whilst providing a 

fixed income stream to EYEfi, for subscription revenue.  

 

Mission Critical Data & Long-Term Contracts: 

EYEfi collects and stores mission critical data from clients. Clients sign medium to long term contracts with the 

Channel Partner.   

 

 

3. SPARC TECHNICAL DESCRIPTION 

 

SPARC Algorithms & APIs 
The SPARC algorithm enables translations between real-world positional and directional objects (spatial pose 

data), and real-world geographical target coordinates. 

 

Target Mode 

Action – The user clicks on the camera image or uses the camera pan–tilt–zoom controls to place the cross-hair 

on an unknown POI. 

Result – An electronic weigh-point or marker is produced on the EYEfi MAP/GUI, along with the Target 

Latitudinal, Longitudinal, Altitudinal (POI x, y, z), street address, still image and spatial data recorded in the 

database.  

 

Geo-Fence Mode 
Action – The user conducts a series of mouse clicks (on map/GUI) or by positioning the camera to observe a series 

of points(s) to mark the area of interest. 

Result – A zone or area (polygon etc.) is produced on the EYEfi MAP GUI. The area of the polygon and the x,y,z 

bounding points are reported to the screen and recorded to the database. 

 

Virtual Triangulation Mode 

Action – Identify the best camera with best view (direct line-of-sight) to the POI targeted from a  

network of cameras.  

Result – An electronic weigh-point or marker is produced on the EYEfi MAP GUI, and the camera with the best 

view is presented to the user. The POI’s latitudinal, longitudinal, altitudinal (POI x,y,z), street address, still image 

and spatial data is reported in the GUI, and recorded in the database. 

 

Reverse-Lookup Mode 

Action – The user clicks on the MAP GUI interface, or types in a street address or latitude/longitude coordinates 

of the POI. 

 

Result - An electronic weigh point or marker is placed on the map, and the relevant camera or selected cameras 

automatically position to view/observe the POI. The latitudinal, longitudinal, altitudinal (POI x, y, z), street 

address, still image and other spatial data is recorded in the database  

 

EYEfi also provides users with messaging functions to notify teams electronically of the target locations through 

the EYEfi network including automated messages to a user (“Push”) notifications within the application, short 

message service (“SMS”) or email. It can also calculate routes for field staff based on the navigational data 
produced by the system. For instance, the system can send the ground crew directions to or from the POI, based 

on their current location.  
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SPARC Additional Geo-Services 

 

EYEfi has developed several additional geo-services and supporting geo/math functions including: 

Calibration functions 

Spatial calibration processes that provide real-world orientation and compensation to the model that adjust for 
imperfections in the horizontal plane of a pointing device. The calibration processes can also work in with and 

strengthen data fusion and filtering used with IMU’s. 

 

Geo services and math functions  

Several supporting spatial mathematics to support SPARC, including calculating the distance between two 

latitudinal and longitudinal points including ellipsoidal flattening, return of all x,y,z tuples (finite ordered list) 

between two points along a polyline or polygon, and calculate an x, y at a given distance from the origin. 

 

Geo server  
Geo Server hosts the Digital Terrain Model (DTM), Digital Elevation Model (DEM) ESRI GIS shape file data 

sets and other properties.   

  
EYEfi is also in the process of building the next version of SPARC - as a standalone licensable API library to 

support embedded, native and web application developers with the necessary Geo-services (above) fully integrated 

including support for GeoTIFF/PNG GIS data sets. 

 

SPARC’s patented mathematical process involves: 

1. Orientating a camera toward the POI. 

2. Retrieving camera data including location relative to the three dimensional coordinate system (x,y,z), 

and a camera position including camera heading and camera tilt. 

3. Querying an associated topographic map database to identify one or more coordinates located on the 

topographic map along the camera heading to form a first dataset. 

4. Computing one or more coordinates located on a radial plane between the camera and the POI based on 

the camera heading and camera tilt to form the second database. 

5. Comparing the first dataset with the second dataset to identify a pair of matching coordinates. 

6. The matching coordinates represent the three-dimensional coordinate location of the POI.  

The camera view is displayed on a graphic user interface provided on a client user terminal located remotely from 

the camera. 
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SPARC Technical Advantages 

 

SPARC calculates the location or position of anything you can see or point at in the real-world. SPARC is a 

mathematical process of which the accuracy is only limited by the resolution of the underlying model and the 

initial pointing data.   
SPARC’s method for estimating the location of a POI or position of an object relative to a three-dimensional 

coordinate system involves computing, calculating and comparing datasets to identify their matching coordinates. 

  

A practical application of the SPARC algorithms, and in particular the SPARC target acquisition mode (geo-

targeting), involves using the orientation and positional information (spatial pose) from a single pointing device 

(e.g. a camera pan-tilt-zoom mechanism or an Inertial Measurement Unit (“IMU”)) combined with either a Digital 

Terrain Model (“DTM”), Digital Elevation Model (“DEM”) or Digital Surface Model (“DSM”) to then project 

and calculate the POI intersect between the two datasets) to identify the real-world location of the object or POI 

being observed or pointed at. 

 

SPARC’s advanced calibration methods further improve its accuracy so that it approaches the resolution of the 

underlying DTM/DEM/DSM.   

 

 

4. EYEfi PRODUCTS 

EYEfi has two key product pillars or groups:  

 

 EYEfi Spatial Video (ESV) that is built and powered by EYEfi SPARC. ESV is a private cloud platform 

that provides spatial video, GPS tracking, SPARC functionality and incident management features, and;  

 EYEfi Cloud, our next-generation public cloud product that supports EYEfi’s IIoT sensor hardware, incident 

management and GPS tracking capabilities (EYEfi Cloud Plugins).  

 

EYEfi Cloud is being actively developed and updated to replicate the EYEfi Spatial Video capabilities and will 

therefore ultimately replace ESV to be a single remote monitoring cloud platform containing all of EYEfi’s 
capabilities (including SPARC) and our various customer offerings. 
 

EYEfi Spatial Video - Situational Awareness Technology 

 

EYEfi Spatial Video (ESV) - is a situational awareness platform that provides users with real-time intelligence 

gathered from fixed, mobile and airborne cameras (HD/FLIR), sensors, telemetry and environmental monitoring 

equipment such as scientific-grade weather stations. ESV has an intuitive maps-based user interface, EYEfi 

Navigator, providing users with ease of navigation and control over field equipment and associated information 

and includes a suite of optional ‘smart plugin’ capabilities.  

 

EYEfi ESV Server – is the main product component and cloud application (private cloud). It includes a maps-based 

user interface including spatial video tools that enable entirely new levels of situational awareness so that users 
can effortlessly locate, track and control their EYEfi site equipment and other data being aggregated within the 

system.  

 

EYEfi SPARC (plugin) – a suite of geo-targeting and geo-pointing tools for tower operators, command centre staff 

and field crews, that enables operators to determine the location of fire, lightning, floods or any other objects using 

a single camera, within seconds – accurate within +/- 150m @ 15km as externally tested (2009) and validated by 

Victoria’s leading spatial research institution, the Spatial CRC-SI. NOTE: SPARC has since been tested with 

industrial-spec PT camera heads and with accuracy of +/- 40m (DEM dependent) at >30km.   

 

EYEfi Very Early Detection (plugin) – provides automatic real-time detection and visual tracking (using SPARC) 

of lightning events with notifications via an application program interface (“API”), email and SMS.  
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EYEfi Automated Incident Management (plugin) – integrated with EYEfi’s emergency vehicle camera solution, 

provides real-time autonomous incident logging, live streaming video, GPS tracking, job dispatch, resource 

management and reporting. 

 

EYEfi embedded firmware/scripting – EYEfi code that operates within select 3rd party hardware (such as a 
router/gateway device located at an EYEfi site in the field) enabling that hardware to communicate with a 3rd party 

device. eg. weather stations, lightning detection devices and telemetry and communications equipment and 

connects these devices to the network and EYEfi ESV Server.     

 

EYEfi API (service) – EYEfi Navigator has an API for integration with 3rd party applications and also supports 

the Axis IP Network Cameras via their custom API, VAPIX – allowing for full support of Axis Cameras and 3rd 

party cameras.  

 

EYEfi Spatial Video can be configured as a shared system to enable multiple authorized users to control and share 

camera streams, sensor, environmental and spatial data.  

 

This provides an entirely new level of intelligence gathering, situational awareness and collaboration across 
multiple users and stakeholders, including those involved in the management of wildfires, illegal vessel monitoring 

within marine and national parks, or the management of major assets and infrastructure.  

 

EYEfi Industrial IOT Sensors 

 

EYEfi’s IIoT Sensor hardware and platform can monitor important services and infrastructure in ways not 

previously possible. 

 

EYEfi has been in development for several years and offers a variety of sensing options sonar and cloud analytics 

(leveraging EYEfi's existing spatial video technology) along with mesh networking slave sensors that can be used 

for a variety of use cases including;  
 

 Monitoring the water levels in roadside stormwater pits/drains to warn response crews before inundation 

events, and to help proactively manage drain networks   

 Monitoring the waste levels in bulk or skip bins by providing alerts to waste services 

 Monitoring of public space litter bins 

 Remote, automated periodic inspection of water, communications or other types of pits 

 

EYEfi’s sensors work on private and public LoRa networks and cellular networks such as NBIoT and LTE CAT 

M1.   

 

EYEfi has successfully completed trials with Fujitsu and Downer in Australia (smart drain variant) and are being 

used by councils across New Zealand (smart waste variant) and planned for release with Fujitsu Australia and 
New Zealand as a major Channel Partner.  

 

EYEfi’s Sensors are fully integrated with EYEfi Cloud, and has disruptive qualities, such that the application of 

these sensors and cloud software fundamentally change the way waste service providers and asset managers 

operate, reducing (and in some cases entirely removing) key routine maintenance tasks and the associated costs. 

EYEfi also believes that the intended price-point vs. performance/feature set of the product will be fundamentally 

disruptive within industry, when compared to other products that are generally more expensive and in some cases 

considerably more expensive than EYEfi’s.  See “Competition” in item 9 of this section of the Prospectus. 

 

EYEfi’s Sensor Gen-III features an ultrasonic sensor using advanced algorithms that help our device perform in 

very challenging and hostile environments (such as storm water pits and waste bins), with support for various 
other sensors planned in subsequent releases, and be fully integrated with EYEfi Cloud. 
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Product Features include: 

 

• Sensors with user definable alert thresholds and level detection 

• Integrated temperature sensors and alerts 

• Optimised battery life using advanced sleep code 

• GPS options and tracking of assets 

• Ubiquitous connectivity using 3G/LTE Cat M1/LoRaWAN (other various options planned) 

• Future integration of SPARC with video analytics, object identification and adaptive learning 

• Ruggedized and suitable for hostile environments (designed to be hard wearing and shock resistant by 

being able to stand up to shock, vibration, extreme temperatures, wet and dusty conditions).  

• Visual analysis of street foliage encroaching on power lines 

• Monitor rising water levels in drains/pits 

• Provide gas detection and remote inspection within telco pits 

• Monitor waste levels in public space litter bins and bulk bins 

• Monitor product levels in bulk bins or silos 

• Remote visual inspection and analysis 

 

EYEfi Spatialeye® - Mobility Solution 

 

Spatialeye® is a native application being developed for mobile that is powered by EYEfi’s core IP, EYEfi SPARC, 

and enables individuals to use their Smartphone as a geo-targeting device to pin-point real-world points of interest 
within the field of view. Target location results are displayed on the map, and can be easily annotated and shared 

in real-time via public or private cloud platforms, email and social media, enabling users to search, discover, 

connect and interact with the world around them in ways not previously possible.  

 

Spatialeye Pro for Government and Enterprise 

 

EYEfi is currently developing Spatialeye Pro (AR+) for Police, Search and Rescue, Emergency Services and 

Defence applications. The product includes Geo-sleeve – a custom smartphone case that tethers/connects to the 

Smartphone providing additional battery capacity, GPS/GNSS receiver and an industrial-grade IMU for improved 

accuracy 

 

EYEfi Cloud 

 

EYEfi Cloud is EYEfi’s next generation remote monitoring, intelligence gathering and situational awareness 

platform for managing data between fixed, mobile, airborne and wearable technologies delivered to end users via 

the web browser, web app and mobile application. 

 

EYEfi is in the process of replicating the EYEfi Spatial Video product capabilities within EYEfi Cloud, and will 

become the ultimate single platform for EYEfi's spatial, smart sensors and connected devices; combining all of 

our customers remote monitoring needs in one place, through the use of EYEfi Cloud's capability plugins. 

 

- EYEfi Smart Waste 

- EYEfi Smart Drain 
- EYEfi Automated Incident Management 

- EYEfi Spatialeye 

- EYEfi SPARC 

 

EYEfi Cloud 3rd party hardware support 

 

EYEfi has worked with EWS to integrate the EWS Radiolert hardware with EYEfi Cloud, so that EWS customers 

can get the benefit of the many and varied existing product features of EYEfi Cloud, along with specific features 

for EWS contained within a new EYEfi Cloud capability plugin, Radiolert Fleet Manager.  

 

This plugin is an add-on component to EWS’s product offering, enabling their Radiolert hardware to be securely 
networked together (both wired and wireless) and controlled by authorized personnel, at any time and location 
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using the centralized EYEfi Cloud application. For example, ambulance dispatch could monitor the status of their 

Radiolert units in real time, and to allow instant changes, including: 

 

• Activation: Remotely switch one or more Radiolert devices to over-broadcast mode 

• Audit Control: Review detailed system log files, including messages, location, time, date, frequency and 

language data 

• Configuration: Instantly adjust pre-set verbal messages, languages, radio frequencies, system firmware 

and other parameters 

• Live Authorization: Remotely authorize emergency crews to operate the Press-To-Talk LIVE microphone 

for a prescribed voice message 

• Automatic Vehicle Location: Instantly see the real-time and precise position of any emergency vehicle 

within your fleet, overlaid on a map.  

 

Government Authorities can also use Radiolert Fleet Manager to instantly control Fixed-Location Radiolert units 

to broadcast over wide areas during times of disaster. 

 
EYEfi are working with other technology providers and, those that offer hardware solutions but require a cloud 

platform to manage the hardware. EYEfi will engage these organisations on a strategic basis as we did with EWS, 

to ensure that partnerships are mutually beneficial and synergistic in terms of the product, applications and target 

audience.  

 

5. HARDWARE MANUFACTURING AND ASSEMBLY 

 

EYEfi does not carry any stock or tie up capital in inventory. Components and sensors are ordered after receiving an 

order from a customer to the Channel Partner.  

 

Hardware manufacturing and assembly involves PCB production and electronic component supply, assembly and 
testing, conducted by a nominated manufacturer who is authorised by EYEfi and non-exclusive. 

 

Our current manufacturer, CCP, uses providers in India and China, which are currently impacted by Covid19. The 

worst case example of impacts is in the radio module manufacturer which has a lead time of eight to ten weeks. 

 
EYEfi’s Channel Partners are responsible for the purchase, warehousing and installation of hardware devices. 

EYEFI receives a fixed fee per hardware device sold (100% gross profit margin).  

 

Typically, the Channel Partner will place an order directly with CCP and the devices are then manufactured subject 

to standard lead-times. These orders are a minimum of 1,000 devices, and then used for the Channel Partner to fulfil 

orders with their downstream customers. 
 

Given the current situation with Covid19 and extended lead-times, we are working with Fujitsu to get them to place 

an initial order (once they officially launch the EYEfi Smart Drain and Smart Waste product to their customers) at 

the earliest opportunity,  despite their customer demand, to ensure they have access to the product to fulfil their 

customer orders. See “Material Agreements” in this section of the Prospectus regarding the agreement with Fujitsu. 

 

EYEfi devices utilise hundreds of components all of which are sourced from various electronic manufacturers 

(“ECM”). To the extent possible, EYEfi is actively working with CCP and the ECMs to ensure that all options 

available are being explored to mitigate against this risk, including alternate suppliers and countries, and local options.  

 

The agreements with manufacturer are non-exclusive arrangement so EYEfi is not restricted in sourcing the various 
product and services from available alternatives.  For new revenue, the hardware (cameras and sensors) used in the 

field is common off the shelf (“COTS”) hardware. For instance, VicRoads uses the cameras made by Axis which has 

operations and supplies located across the world. Their latest statement suggests that there may be some delays in 

delivery times due to the Covid19 virus, but it is not definitive. 
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None of the exiting recurring contracted revenue from Telstra is affected Covid19. No new hardware prototyping is 

required to maintain existing contracts. The EYEfi Cloud and supporting infrastructure is managed by EYEfi, CCP 

staff and platform/cloud infrastructure providers e.g. Amazon AWS. 

 

6. CLOUD CODING AND FIRMWARE DEVELOPMENT 
 

Coding is unaffected by the Covid 19 virus as teams are virtual and often work remotely to conduct this work, using 

cloud systems and online workflow (managed by EYEfi).  

 

However, this is a service upon which EYEfi relies and some parts of cloud coding is outsourced to an offshore 

team and an arms-length third party, CTI Logistics Limited, ASX:CLX, over which EYEfi has no control. To 

counter this risk, EYEfi has local resources in Australia who have provided these services in the past and can be 

switched on and engaged in a short period of time, if needed.  

     

7. APPLICATIONS 
 

Smart Waste - fill level analysis of waste levels in public space, bulk or skip bins to provide alerts to waste services 

providers, with automated collection scheduling and routing for drivers. Utilising wireless sensors to measure the 

water level in a pit or drain, and flow rates, EYEfi’s technology provides an automatic monitoring of bins including 

notifications on timely details of when these are full and enables optimal route planning for collections, reducing 

collection times, transportation costs and ensuring the avoidance of unsightly overflowing bins. The platform 

provided by EYEfi is a hardware sensor and Cloud service and maintains comprehensive information on all 

containers being managed: their type, function, capacity, status, location and a history of events, live photos of 
every bin, when and where to collect the right containers at the right time thereby improving fleet utilisation and 

savings on collection costs.  

 

Smart Drain - monitoring the water levels in roadside pits to warn response crews before inundation occurs 

by remotely monitoring the “health” of drains in real time, without the need for ongoing field inspections. The 

intended outcome is to reduce the operating costs by reducing costly drain inspections and response efforts, and 

to provide better outcomes to customers through identifying blocked pits, drains and gully traps prior to flooding 

events 

 

Automated Incident Management - live video, GPS tracking and incident recording for road authorities, 

emergency services, and incident response 

 
Traffic Monitoring - utilizes the Automated Incident Management (AIM – now available in EYEfi Cloud) 

capabilities of the platform provided through in-vehicle, GPS enabled mobile camera units with automated 

incident logging capability. AIM supports automated and real-time tracking, job dispatch and management, 

resource management and reporting. See “Material Agreements” in this section of the prospectus for a discussion 

of this application. 

 

Remote Infrastructure Monitoring - for bushfire monitoring, marine parks, major road and rail infrastructure. 

EYEfi Spatial Video support will be added to EYEfi Cloud as a plugin and available from Q4 2020. Spatial Video 

Solutions provides real time situational awareness, bushfire and lightning detection. This is achieved through 

seamless integration of video plus spatial and field intelligence mapping, allowing one to assess emergency 

situations easily and quickly. It also facilitates collaboration with other agencies for optimal response handling.  
 

Unmanned Aerial Vehicles & Drones 

 

 Embed SPARC directly on the UAV/drones, and autonomous vehicles 

 SPARC can augment existing data sources to extend sensory capability 

 SPARC can assist military drones (and other applications) in target acquisition without being detected by 

other systems 
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Drone designers and manufactures have integrated sensors such as ultrasonic, camera (close proximity) and GPS. 

The use of stereo cameras enables drones to use simple triangulation to determine the location of an object. LIDAR 

can also be used in consumer drones but have limited use due to high battery consumption and costs. 

  

SPARC can extend the sensory capabilities of drones from just metres (typically <30m) to many miles. SPARC 
achieves this by using the on-board camera, the inertial measurement unit (IMU) and a Digital Elevation Model 

(DEM) or Digital Surface Model (DSM), that already exist on modern drones. Essentially, SPARC can provide 

long-distance spatial targeting well before these objects or points of interest (POI) become detectable by the 

existing close proximity sensor systems. 

  

SPARC has access to the IMU data and imagery from modern drones. IMU data is shared through an API that is 

normally available on-board for embedded applications, or over the air to the controlling device and software (such 

as EYEfi’s Smartphone App, Spatialeye).  

  

Alternatively SPARC can be embedded directly on the drone due to its small footprint code base. SPARC can also 

be used in military drones, in fixed or pan–tilt–zoom cameras and is entirely covert. Ad-hoc targets can be acquired 

without the risk of being detected by other systems, and in an instant without the need for triangulation. 
 

Camera & Pan-Tilt-Head Manufacturers 

 

 Embed SPARC directly in the camera or pan-tilt-zoom operating system 

 SPARC can integrate with other systems to create totally new products and solutions 

 SPARC capability can be offered to the high-end camera market and also mid-low end markets 

 

SPARC can be embedded in the camera or pan-tilt-zoom operating system or as custom software. It can geo-enable 

every single camera so that any object being observed in the field of view could have its location determined in an 

instant.  

 
Additionally, with the integration of SPARC the low-end camera market can compete more effectively against the 

more expensive and complex camera systems. 

 

Smart Glasses and Wearable's 

 

 Augmented Reality - Every image is searchable. 

 Share Point of Interest (POI) and events based on where users are looking at, not where they are located 

 SPARC solves a number of key challenges for phone manufacturers, Virtual Reality and Augmented 

Reality 

 

SPARC can facilitate crowd-data and provide a network for sharing POIs or events, such as a fire or accident, by 
simply pointing, clicking, annotating, and sending. SPARC captures what the user is looking at, not just where the 

user is located.  

 

Image Search & Mapping Providers 

 

 Search within an image. Every pixel is searchable. Add the subject location to an image. 

 Integrate 3rd party data sources into image and map search 

 Developers can integrate SPARC into their applications and launch new products and services 

 

With SPARC and Spatialeye, one could simply click on any pixel in an image and see where the subject of the 

image was taken, or the corresponding real-world location of any object or feature within the image. For instance, 
for an image of a tree with a building in the background, one can click and query the location of the tree or click 

and query the name of the building. SPARC turns every image into a searchable and interactive object. 

  

Additionally, mapping tools can be launched using the SPARC algorithm. For instance, one can run translations 

between real-world positional and directional objects, and real-world geographical target coordinates and vice 
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versa. A 3rd party application could send the directional and positional (pointing) information and the SPARC API 

could return the target location. Alternatively a 3rd party application could send the known target GPS location to 

SPARC and it could return the required pointing information.    

 

Target Acquisition Systems and Situational Awareness 

 

 Covert - SPARC assists military drones or aircraft without being detected by other systems 

 Augmented Reality - Tag the location of an object in Augmented Reality 

 Embedded Solution - Embed SPARC directly onto any electronic device 

 

For military applications, as an alternative to an on-person Laser Range Finder (LRF), SPARC can enable field 

personnel in the military or defence to covertly identify and acquire approximate target locations quickly and 

completely undetectable to others, and at a fraction of the cost of other methods.  

 

For military applications, as an alternative to an on-person Laser Range Finder (LRF), SPARC can enable field 

personnel in the military or defence to covertly identify and acquire approximate target locations 
 

Search and Rescue 

 

Additionally, the on board camera IMU or the pointing equipment’s positional and orientation data can be used as 

an input to SPARC, which combined with a Digital Terrain Model (DTM) will enable SPARC to determine the 

approximate location of the target being pointed at. The pointing data could even come from the IMU sensors in a 

modern pilot helmet feeding into SPARC to create the same result based on where the pilot is actually looking. 

 

For search and rescue operations, SPARC can be embedded into wearable glasses, helmets, fixed cameras or even 

camera devices on board aircraft. For instance, an observer on a rescue helicopter or the pilot could simply point 

at (or observe) the subject or object at any distance night or day, and determine its location. In the case of Spatialeye, 

SPARC’s reverse-geo lookup features can then be used to tag the location in EYEfi’s Augmented Reality style 
user interface to tag/pin on a map and also overlay a marker on the real image. This allows anyone using the 

application to be easily directed or guided to view/observe the same location POI. 

 

Field Services 

 

 Location-based, spatially contextual information from the field. Communicate observations made in the 

field relating to assets, safety, emergencies, and compliance 

 Improve asset validation, tracking and verification in the field. Create better systems of record to drive 

productivity. 

 Easier way for staff to locate, verify, audit including navigation and callout prompts 

 Significantly reduce manual interactions and paperwork. Provide better visibility & sign-off 
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Work-flow: 

 

 
 

Situation Awareness capability for personnel working in the field, mobile vehicles and on fixed locations (e.g. 

communications towers) can help drive productivity with real-time dispatch, and understanding of what is 

happening onsite with better intelligence gathering. 

 

Target and Reverse Look Up - a geo-location targeting feature that allows the field staff or control center staff to 

point at a POI in the field of view, or click on any pixel in an image to identify and display the object/asset and its 

location and any other relevant data. Additionally, the Reverse Look Up feature enables augmented reality style 

viewing of a POI and asset information as an overlay to the real world image.   
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User Cases: 

 

Industry Business Application 

Telco Job dispatch, asset location and verification, sign-off and 

commissioning/handover, situational awareness 

Mining Asset management, OH&S, asset location and verification, Job 

dispatch, project management, sign-off and 

commissioning/handover, situational awareness 

Field Job dispatch, asset location and verification, sign-off and 

commissioning/handover, Project management add-on, asset 

location, OH&S, and verification, incident management, 

situational awareness 

Government Control burn activities, project management, system of record, 

situational awareness, bushfire, park management 

Road Authority Incident management and project management 

Defense  On-person situational awareness 
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8. MATERIAL AGREEMENTS – CLIENTS& CHANNEL PARTNERS 

 

8. A  Channel Partner Agreement with Telstra Corporation Limited (“Telstra”) 

 

Telstra, Australia’s largest telecommunication company, has productized EYEfi’s Spatial Video platform for use 
with their government and emergency services customers. Telstra customers can easily monitor assets and 

infrastructure in the public domain; providing timely intelligence on the location, rate and progress of fire, 

lightning, smoke plumes, the location of illegal vessels in marine parks, or for incident management for road 

authorities.  

 

EYEfi signed an initial agreement with Telstra dated May 4, 2016 as amended on June 5, 2019 (the “Telstra 

Agreement”) for the territory of Australia. EYEfi is a preferred supplier of Telstra SaaS/Cloud products hosted in 

the existing Telstra NAS hosting environment and the hardware products required to provide the SPARC 

Technology. Additional terms include: 

  

 EYEfi is a preferred supplier of certain SaaS/Cloud and hardware products required for Telstra to use the 

SPARC Technology. Note that the EYEfi software is hosted in Telstra’s existing NAS hosting environment. 

 Each party provides a license to use the other’s IP as required for EYEfi to provide its SPARC 

  Technology and services. 

 EYEfi to maintain professional indemnity insurance to AUS $10,000,000 per claim and in the annual aggregate 

and public liability insurance on an occurrence basis of not less than $10,000,000 per claim and workman’s 

compensation. 

 EYEfi is required to have systems of quality management, environmental management and occupational health 

and safety management consistent with New Zealand and Australia national ISO standards.  

 EYEfi also must provide a design warranty for any designing defects that result in a continuing pattern of 

failure of the same type or create a risk to Telstra of suffering loss where the type of risk would not reasonably 

be expected from the use of the product being supplied. 

 Parties will meet quarterly to discuss the technology and EYEfi’s new product roadmap. 

 Neither party can assign the agreement. 

 Governing law is the state of Victoria, Australia. 

 The agreement with Telstra is non-exclusive. 

 

EYEfi’s services provided to Telstra are key to the operations of Telstra’s downstream customers, such as 

VicRoads who use the EYEfi technology to remotely manage in excess of 3000 incidents per month across 

Victoria’s road network. The EYEfi service is a key component of a broader Telstra Managed Services contract 

with VicRoads, to provide managed networks, applications and other technologies key to VicRoads operations. 

For these reasons, EYEfi believes it to be very unlikely that Telstra would cancel its agreement with EYEfi. 

If, however, Telstra did cancel (for some reason) then EYEfi could easily deliver the services directly to the 

customers via the EYEfi Cloud platform. Furthermore, EYEfi is progressively adding the functionality of both the 

spatial video product and IIoT sensors products, in our flagship EYEfi Cloud platform. Our public cloud 

application is accessible by any internet connected customer.  

EYEfi’s product provides real-time video, camera control, GPS tracking, lightning detection, and environmental 

monitoring using fixed or mobile HD or thermal cameras and sensors. The data is transmitted via EYEfi’s ultra-

low latency gateway devices over Telstra’s mobile and fixed IP networks enabling carrier-grade security, hosted 

application and national network coverage.   

 

Telstra’s Spatial Video Solutions as a Telco Cloud Service 

 
EYEfi enables Telstra to provide a fully hosted spatial video cloud platform (powered by EYEfi Spatial Video) 

including integration and connections of cameras and sensors to key decision makers, data sharing, intelligence 

gathering and API connections to 3rd party applications. The new Spatial Cloud will provide a single platform for 

Telstra’s customers offering everything that EYEfi Spatial Video offers, adding support for EYEfi’s Sensor 
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products (IIoT), an advanced API and also provision for EYEfi’s future products such as EYEfi Spatialeye 

(Smartphone App). 

 

 
 

 
 

VicRoads - Road Authority Incident Management  

 
VicRoads, a Telstra Spatial Video customer is a statutory corporation which is the road and traffic authority in the 

state of Victoria, Australia. VicRoads, utilizes the Automated Incident Management (“AIM”) – available in EYEfi 

Cloud provided through in-vehicle, GPS enabled mobile camera units with automated incident logging capability. 

AIM supports automated and real-time tracking, job dispatch and management, resource management and 

reporting. 

 

A good example of the system at work is with incident management vehicles operated by major road authorities. 

Every time an officer stops and turns on the vehicle hazard lights or arrow board, the system automatically logs 

the incident, capturing location and time along with images from the scene. Automatic HD recording of details 

improves reporting compliance and allows officers to focus on key tasks.  

 

Meanwhile, operations staff have better real-time visibility of field activities to provide guidance or support officer 
safety. If there is a known danger or the officer has not responded, the vehicle camera can be activated and 

controlled remotely to scan the scene and assist in a response. The imagery can be used to support legal proceedings 

or processes should that be required. 
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Benefits: 

• Improve workflow methodology and process of capturing incident information and dispatching and 

managing resources relating to the incident  

• Improve the accuracy and completeness of data relating to incidents  

• Compliancy with the Road Act and management reporting  

• Location based information relating to the vehicles and resources servicing incidents on the road 

network  

• Safety of incident management personnel and the travelling public 

 

The VicRoads Incident Response Team operates a growing fleet of incident management vehicles that have 

incorporated camera/video, GPS and communications technologies provided by EYEfi Pty Ltd and managed 

within the EYEfi Spatial Video (cloud) system at Telstra. 

 

8. B Channel Partner Agreement with Fujitsu  

 

EYEfi has signed a reseller (channel partner) agreement dated March 7, 2019 with Fujitsu Australia Limited to 
distribute EYEfi products. Fujitsu provides services to its customers consisting of installing and managing Fujitsu 

hardware devices capable of the IIoT that create and transmit data from various locations and provides its 

customers access to the EYEfi Platform. EYEfi is working with Fujitsu on the Waste Bin Solution for New 

Zealand, discussed below. 

 

 Fujitsu terms include: 

 

 Each hardware device of a customer must be approved by EYEfi as a device suitable for the EYEfi Platform 

 Fujitsu must procure from an EYEfi Authorised Manufacturer 

 Fujitsu owns/resells the hardware devices. 

 EYEfi is licensed by Fujitsu to use the hardware devices to provide the Platform services. 

 Fujitsu can request EYEfi to develop or implement EYEfi plugins. EYEfi is not required to do so. If 

provided they will be an additional cost to Fujitsu   

 EYEfi can display its EYEfi trademark or other branding on the Platform.  

 Fees are determined by an agreed Fee Schedule for services provided. 

 Hardware purchased directly from EYEfi has a 12 month return to base warranty. 

 EYEfi will provide support (Level 2 – 3) to the Channel Partner, to ensure they can adequately support the 

end-users and customers. Termination by either party on 180 days’ notice and termination by EYEfi 

immediately if there is any breach by Fujitsu not rectified in 14 days or is not capable of rectification or 

becomes involvement. In this instance the parties have agreed that EYEfi can provides its services directly to 

Fujitsu’s subscribers.  

 If EYEfi’s Platform suffers a serious degradation in services and Fujitsu and its users cannot access the 
EYEFfi Platform due to termination or for insolvency reasons, EYEfi will use its best efforts to continue to 

provide access to the Subscribers and users. 

 If EYEfi is unable to provide its subscribers and users access to the EYEfi Platform, then if directed by 

Fujitsu, EYEfi can contract directly with the subscribers and end users. 

 Disputes will be resolved by mediation. 

 Fees: Fujtsu as with all Channel Partners, pay one-off and ongoing fees for the platform, however, the main 

fees are tiered pricing (in the pricing schedule of the partner agreement) for connections/subscription of 

devices.  

 

EYEfi is working with Fujitsu on several customer opportunities to use the solution for roadside pits, drains and 

gully traps. There are over 2.5 million pits and drains in Australia that require regular maintenance and monitoring. 
 

EYEfi has been working with local governments in New Zealand and bin manufacturers and has successfully 

rolled out the solution across the New Zealand as part of an initial trial with ten local government authorities. 
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On expiry of each of the trial agreement, EYEfi will migrate these opportunities to Fujitsu who will be responsible 

for ordering the necessary sensors and hardware and selling and managing the Waste Management Solution in 

New Zealand.  

 

The table below shows the current ongoing revenue of the trial in NZ. Once those trials run their course, those 
customers will be offered contracts by our Channel Partner, Fujitsu, along with the appropriate pricing at the time. 
 
The revenue to EYEfi will be very similar to that of the current trial pricing, until unit volumes increase.  The 

revenue in the table below has already been received as it was paid for 12 months in-advance.  

 
Council Product Number of 

devices/sites 

Annual Cost/Revenue 

(trial $ only) NZD 

Clutha District 

Council 

EYEfi Sensor II (Waste bins) 

Trial 

30 $3850 

Dunedin City 

Council 

EYEfi Sensor II (Waste bins) 

Trial 

30 $3850 

Gisborne 

District 

Council 

EYEfi Sensor II (Waste bins) 

Trial 

28 $3836 

Kapiti Coast 

District 

Council 

EYEfi Sensor II (Waste bins) 

Trial 

6 $550 

Mackenzie 

District 

Council 

EYEfi Sensor II (Waste bins) 

Trial 

25 $1710 

Marlborough 

District 

Council 

EYEfi Sensor II (Waste bins) 

Trial 

26 $2615 

New Plymouth 

District 

Council 

EYEfi Sensor II (Waste bins) 

Trial 

26 $3715 

Ruapehu 

District 

Council 

EYEfi Sensor II (Waste bins) 

Trial 

6 $822 

Wellington 

City Council 

EYEfi Sensor II (Waste bins) 

Trial 

16 $1866 

Whakatane 

District 

Council 

EYEfi Sensor II (Waste bins) 

Trial 

36 $4716 

 Total 229 $27,530 

 

EYEfi is working with Fujitsu on a timetable to implement the Waste Management Solution. The timetable has 

been affected by the disruption to supply chains. 
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8. C Channel Partner Agreement with Emergency Warning Systems Ltd. (EWS)  

 

EYEfi has signed a Channel Partner (reseller) agreement dated January 30, 2019 with Emergency Warning 

Systems Ltd. (EWS) located in Balwyn, Victoria, Australia, to integrate and utilize the EYEfi Cloud platform so 

that EWS customers can manage EWS hardware in the field. EYEfi developed the Radiolert Fleet Manager (as a 
capability plugin) for EWS, which connects and manages the EWS hardware in the field. EWS has designed and 

built radio alert hardware that sends emergency warnings and messages to the public, using radio break-through 

technology to interrupt public transmissions, with emergency alert messages.  

 

In this instance, EWS simply re-sells our EYEfi Cloud device subscriptions to their customers which enables their 

customers to gain access and manage EWS hardware devices that they procured from EWS. EWS are actively 

cultivating sales opportunities around the world including the middle-east, the US, Australia and Asia, with a 

pipeline involving many thousands of device connections. 

 

Terms include: 

 Each hardware device of a customer must be approved by EYEfi as a device suitable for the EYEfi Platform 

 EWS and/or their customers owns the hardware devices (EYEfi does not sell EWS’s hardware). EWS re-sell 

subscription access to EYEfi Cloud, to their customers. 

 The EYEFI Platform has different permission levels which allows subscribers to access different types of 

information, reporting and/or different visual representations of information. EWS is responsible for setting 

and managing the permission levels. 

 EYEfi has the authority to deny access to a subscriber if it causes EWS to be in breach of the agreement or 

harm to EYEfi’s intellectual property, if the problem is not remedied within 30 days. For each device to be 

represented on the EYEfi Platform EWS must ensure the device is suitable for the EYEfi Platform and 

complete the installation process after which EYEfi will activate the device. 

 EYEfi is licensed by EWS to use the hardware devices to provide the Platform services. 

 EWS owns each device unless otherwise agreed to. 

 EYEfi can display its EYEfi trademark or other branding on the Platform within the Radiolert Fleet 

Manager.  

 Fees are determined by an agreed Fee Schedule for services provided. 

 EWS, as with all EYEfi Channel Partners, provide Level 1 support to its customers for the application, with 

EYEfi providing more in-depth technical support to EWS directly when required 

 EYEfi does not provide hardware helpdesk support for EWS hardware.  

 Termination by either party is on 30 days’ notice and EYEfi can terminate immediately if there is any breach 

by EWS not rectified in 30 days 

 Termination can also be on 90 days’ notice by either party. 

 IF EWS is unable to provide its subscribers and users access to the EYEfi platform due to insolvency, 

administration, liquidation or bankruptcy, EYEfi must, if directed by EWS, continue to provide subscribers 
and users access to the EYEfi Platform, provided they enter into a direct contract with EYEfi. 

 Disputes will first attempted to be resolved by mediation and in the event mediation is unsuccessful, legal 

disputes are subject to the laws of the state of Victorian and the federal laws of Australia. 

 Fees: EWS as with all Channel Partners, pay one-off and ongoing fees for the platform, however, the main 

fees are tiered pricing (in the pricing schedule of the partner agreement) for connections/subscription of 

devices.  

 

EWS customers get the benefit of the many and varied product features within the EYEfi Cloud platform, however 

we have developed EWS/Radiolert Fleet Manager as an add-on component to enable Radiolert units to be securely 

networked together (both wired and wireless) and controlled by authorized personnel, at any time and location. 

For example, Ambulance Dispatch could monitor the status of their Radiolert units in real time, and to allow 
instant changes, including: 

 

• Activation: Remotely switch one or more Radiolert devices to over-broadcast mode 

• Audit Control: Review detailed system log files, including messages, location, time, date, frequency and 

language data 
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• Configuration: Instantly adjust pre-set verbal messages, languages, radio frequencies, system firmware 

and other parameters 

• Live Authorization: Remotely authorize emergency crews to operate the Press-To-Talk LIVE 

microphone for a prescribed voice message 

• Automatic Vehicle Location: Instantly see the real-time and precise position of any emergency vehicle 

within your fleet, overlaid on a map.  

 

Authorities will also use Radiolert Fleet Manager to instantly control Fixed-Location Radiolert units to broadcast 

over wide areas during times of disaster. 

 

8. D CCP Network Australia Pty. Ltd. (“CCP”) 

 
Pursuant to a six-month agreement dated November 4, 2019 EYEfi engaged CCP to underpin its hardware and 

cloud platform by providing a peer review of its software and to provide development resources to develop, 

maintain and manage EYEfi’s cloud and cloud applications. The agreement provides for weekly meetings. CCP 

provides a hardware design and electronic engineer, firmware developer, software engineer, hardware/firmware 

quality assurance (“QA”) engineer and a project coordinator. The QA engineer coordinates with EYEfi each month 

to allocate resources and manage the tasks with CCP’s resources in Australia. CCP is paid AUS $12,000 each 

month until May 31, 2020. This project was for development product work relating to the EYEfi Sensor and EYEfi 

Cloud which is now complete. The fees post May will be based on month to month requirements with an expected 

average monthly amount of $3,000. The agreement has an unlimited term and will terminate on 30 days’ notice if 

a breach is not remedied or on three months’ notice. CCP has signed a confidentiality agreement with EYEfi. 

 

9. COMPETITION 

 

General 
 

There is potential that the Company will face intense competition from other companies, some of which can be 

expected to have longer operating histories and more financial resources and production and marketing experience 

than the Company. Further, because of the early stage of the industry in which the Company operates, the Company 

expects to face additional competition from new entrants. 

To remain competitive, the Company will require execution of our business plan/strategy to Channel Partner with 

large brands to deliver our product through our Channel Partners, creating pull-through business for our Channel 

Partners and to give EYEfi access to a large customer base. 
 

The Company believes it has an advantage because our technology is problem-solving, it is Cloud based, network 

agnostic, and the  SPARC technology can operate in the Cloud, on mobile device, airborne platforms 

(UAV’s/Drones), vehicles, and fixed locations (e.g. communications/fire towers) – making it more versatile and 

adaptable to many different industries, applications and use-cases than others on the market.  

 

It is an industry-leading solution where we design and build the end-to-end solution (hardware and a small footprint 

software with minimal processing) to determine the location of a POI. The solution is supported by EYEfi’s spatial 

patents and sensor solutions as an entirely unique end-to- end service.  

 

Competitor Comparison 

 
Based on management’s knowledge of the active companies in sensory, intelligence gathering and spatial 

targeting, particularly those with a focus on government and emergency services, asset/infrastructure monitoring, 

the Company is of the view that the following businesses could potentially compete with “EYEfi” in its market. 
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Competitor 

Name and location 

Description of Business and Size of Assets Comparison to SPARC 

ForestWatch/Envirovision 

solutions  

 

South Africa/USA 

http://evsusa.biz/productsservices/forestwatch/ 

 

An advanced wildfire detection system (stand alone 

not cloud based) that uses image analysis (using 
visual spectrum cameras located on 

communications or fire towers) to detect and locate 

wild fires, and provide alerts/notifications to 

emergency management personnel in a control room 

setting. 

 

Private company revenue not known 

 

 

Unlike SPARC, this solution 

focuses more on detection 

(eg. the presence of smoke), 

and has less emphasis on the 
targeting of the actual 

geographical location of that 

smoke. 

 

To our understanding, 

ForestWatch does determine 

the location of the fire, but it 

does this by pixel mapping 

(at each individual camera 

view as the camera rotates in 

steps/preset positions) to real-

world geographical 
coordinates. This means that 

a camera has to be calibrated 

to the surrounding terrain (at 

each preset position), making 

it suitable for only fixed 

locations/installations, and, 

susceptible to camera 

movement and/or entire 

knocks to the camera putting 

it out of calibration and 

therefore useless until 
corrected. 

 

To our understanding, 

ForestWatch cannot be used 

on mobile or airborne 

cameras, and the overall 

system architecture limits its 

scalability 

IQ Firewatch  

Germany 

https://www.iq-firewatch.com/ 

 

IQ FireWatch is specifically manufactured for early 

wildfire and forest fire detection. IQ FireWatch is a 
multi-spectral sensor able to process data under 

conditions of chronological synchronism, which 

means it can be perfectly calibrated for all regions, 

vegetation as well as for all operating and weather 

conditions. 

 

Private company revenue not known 

 

Unlike SPARC, this solution 

focuses more on detection (eg. 

the presence of smoke) and 

has less emphasis on the 
targeting of the actual 

geographical location of that 

smoke. 

 

To our understanding, 

Firewatch does determine the 

location of the fire, but it does 

this by triangulation, requiring 

overlapping views from two or 

more cameras in order to 

determine the real-world 

geographical coordinates. This 
method shares many of the 

issues that real-world fire 

http://evsusa.biz/productsservices/forestwatch/
https://www.iq-firewatch.com/
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spotters have to deal with, 

such as reduced accuracy if 

overlapping views cannot be 

utilized, or if cameras in other 

locations do not have line-of-

sight view of a fire/smoke, or 
if bad weather or clouds 

obfuscate the fires location. 

 

To our understanding, 

FireWatch cannot be used on 

mobile or airborne cameras, 

and the overall system 

architecture limits its 

scalability. 

Enevo Inc.  

Finland 

https://www.enevo.com/ 

 

Enevo is a progressive waste technology company, 

using its patented IoT tech suite to reduce waste-
related costs.  

 

It helps waste companies, smart cities, and 

commercial organizations across the U.S. and 

throughout the UK and Europe measure, analyse, 

and manage their waste – reducing their waste-

related operational costs and increasing 

sustainability. 

 

Private company revenue not known 

 

EYEfi’s smart sensors are 

designed to be used in various 

applications (e.g. Drains/Pits, 

Waste, Water) whereas the 
Enevo technology is purpose 

built for waste applications 

only. 

 

 This combined with the 

affordability of our device 

(compared to our competitors) 

are two key factors that 

provide EYEfi significant 

differentiation.  

Sensoneo  
Slovakia 

https://sensoneo.com/ 
 

Sensoneo provides smart enterprise-grade waste 

management solutions for cities and businesses to 

cost-efficiently manage the waste lifecycle and 

improve the environment and well-being of people.  

It combines unique ultrasonic smart sensors that 

monitor waste in real time with software providing 

cities and businesses with data-driven decision 

making for optimization of waste collection routes, 

frequencies and vehicle load. 

 
Private company revenue not known 

As above for Enevo. 
 

 

 

  

https://www.enevo.com/
https://sensoneo.com/
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10. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

 

EYEfi’s International Patents 

 

EYEfi has registered patents in USA, Canada, China, Japan, South Korea, Australia and New Zealand. EYEfi has 

also established large global resellers for its products. It is well positioned to expands its reseller network into new 

markets and also established licensing of its technology to large customers.  

 
PATENT NUMBER COUNTRY APPLICANT/ASSIGNEE TITLE  FILING/EXP 

DATE 

STATUS 

9,058,689 USA EYEfi Pty Ltd SPATIAL PREDICTIVE 

APPROXIMATION AND 

RADIAL CONVOLUTION 

16 June 2009/ 

16 June 2029 

Granted on 16 

June 2015 

2,727,687 Canada EYEfi Pty Ltd SPATIAL PREDICTIVE 

APPROXIMATION AND 

RADIAL CONVOLUTION 

16 June 2009/ 

16 June 2029 

Granted on 14 

November 2017 

  
 

        

ZL 20098013199.4 China EYEfi Pty Ltd SPATIAL PREDICTIVE 

APPROXIMATION AND 

RADIAL CONVOLUTION 

16 June 2009/ 

16 June 2029 

Granted on 25 

December 2013 

  
 

        

5575758 Japan EYEfi Pty Ltd SPATIAL PREDICTIVE 

APPROXIMATION AND 

RADIAL CONVOLUTION 

16 June 2009/ 

16 June 2029 

Granted on 11 

July 2014 

  
 

        

10-1663669  South Korea EYEfi Pty Ltd SPATIAL PREDICTIVE 

APPROXIMATION AND 

RADIAL CONVOLUTION 

16 June 2009/ 

16 June 2029 

Granted on 30 

September 2016 

  
 

        

2009260182 Australia EYEfi Pty Ltd SPATIAL PREDICTIVE 

APPROXIMATION AND 

RADIAL CONVOLUTION 

16 June 2009/ 

16 June 2029 

Granted on 10 

March 2016 

  
 

        

590428 New Zealand EYEfi Pty Ltd SPATIAL PREDICTIVE 

APPROXIMATION AND 

RADIAL CONVOLUTION 

16 June 2009/ 

16 June 2029 

Granted on 4 

March 2014 
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EYEfi’s Trademarks  

 

TRADEMARK 

NUMBER 
MARK CLASS DESCRIPTION 

FILING 

DATE 
STATUS 

1103375 EYEFfi® 
CLASS 9 and 

38 

Class: 9 Camera system - mounted on 

pole, trailer, in ground or any other 

suitable structure, permanent or semi-

permanent installation connected to 

network by wireless, Wi-Fi, mobile 

data network and/or fixed line or any 

other suitable communications 

network, standalone or hosted video 

switching control software with 

remote user access and content 

management service. 

 

Class: 38 Communications by fibre 

(fibre) optic networks; net casting 

(broadcasting over a global computer 

network); providing 

telecommunications connections to a 

global computer network; providing 

user access to a global computer 

network (service providers); switching 

network services 

(telecommunications); 

telecommunications security 

(providing secure connections and 

access including to computers and the 

global computer network); web portal 

services (providing user access to a 

global computer network); webcasting 

(broadcasting over a global computer 

network) 

14 March 

2006 
Registered 

1103370 
 

CLASS 9 and 

38 

Class: 9 Camera system - mounted on 

pole, trailer, in ground or any other 

suitable structure, permanent or semi 

permanent installation connected to 

network by wireless, Wi-Fi, mobile 

data network and/or fixed line or any 

other suitable communications 

network, standalone or hosted video 

switching control software with 

remote user access and content 

management service.  

 

Class: 38 Communications by fibre 

(fibre) optic networks; net casting 

(broadcasting over a global computer 

network); providing 

telecommunications connections to a 

global computer network; providing 

user access to a global computer 

network (service providers); switching 

network services 

(telecommunications); 

telecommunications security 

(providing secure connections and 

access including to computers and the 

global computer network); web portal 

14 March 

2006 
Registered 
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services (providing user access to a 

global computer network); webcasting 

(broadcasting over a global computer 

network) 

1553152 Spatialeye® EYEfi Pty Ltd 

Global positioning system (GPS) 

apparatus; Application software; 

Computer programmes (programs) 

and recorded software distributed 

online; Computer programs 

(downloadable software); Computer 

software downloaded from the 

internet; Personal computer 

application software; Target location 

apparatus (electronic); Distance 

measuring apparatus; Electronic 

distance measuring apparatus; 

Coordinate measuring apparatus 

3 May 2013 Registered 

 

 

11. EMPLOYEES 

 

Employees 

 

The Company employs Simon Langdon, the CEO to run its operations. The Company also employees a general 

manager of operations and an office administrator. Refer to item 6.C of this section of the prospectus for discussion 

of its contract with CCP which provides technical support to the operations. 

 

It also engages independent contractors from time to time to work on a project by project basis. 

 

 

12. 2020 EXPANSION PLANS  

 
1. Smart Drain/Waste.  

 

EYEfi is working with Fujitsu (initially, and other partners as we identify them) to launch this product here in 

Australia and NZ, off the back of successful trials here in Australia (smart drain with Fuj/Downer) and in NZ (smart 

waste with various councils). Launch date is currently July 2020, Fujitsu will then be actively marketing the solution 

to its customers, which will then firm up sales pipelines and subsequent opportunities. 

2. Bushfire Monitoring 

 

EYEfi is working with our partners Telstra, Fujitsu and Axis Communications (Camera manuf.) targeting the various 

state and federal governments, following the recent and horrific bushfire season in Australia. 

A proposal has been sent to the SA government to provide an end-to-end bushfire detection and monitoring solution. 

The project is valued at $18M over 3 years. EYEfi is also having discussions with the states of Victorian and New 

South Wales and the Australian federal governments about similar potential deployments.  

3. Emergency Warning Systems 
 

EYEfi has partnered with EWS, who provide a radio alert hardware for proving emergency alert messages to the 

community via their radio break-through device that sends radio messages onto available frequencies such as those 

in your in-car radio. 

EYEfi has integrated the EWS Radiolert hardware into the EYEfi Cloud platform, which has allowed them to network 

these devices and management them from a central location. This drives device subscription revenue through our 
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cloud platform and is a very low-touch income generator as EWS manage the entire sale process with their customers 

buying their hardware. 

 

4.  Existing Customer Growth 
 

EYEfi plans to expand the number of units sold to councils in New Zealand for its waste management solution, 

through our channel partnership with Fujitsu. EYEfi also plans to expand the number of units sold to VICROADS, 

and to grow these customers and their State and National counterparts through our channel partner, Telstra 

Corporation.  

 
5. New Growth Opportunities  

EYEfi is expecting to engage with new resellers in North America and is also open to exploring acquisition 

opportunities to help it build scale and distribute its products.  

EYEfi will be employing Business Development Managers and consultants in Australia, NZ and North America to 

help secure and develop our Channel Partners, and targeted sales opportunities.  

However, most of this activity during 2020 will be managed remotely from Australia, until Covid 19 restrictions 

are lifted, which will then enable the CEO to travel and manage these tasks, and then the bulk of the expansion on 

the ground in NZ, and NA will unfold in 2021. 

 

Some strategic consultancy engagements will occur in 2020 but will mostly be remunerated through share options.     
 

The budget for the 2020 expansion plans is estimated to be AUD $120,000, primarily consisting of:  

 

Business Activity/Milestone Timeframe Amount AUD $ 

General Sales and 

Marketing  

 

Within 3 months of listing on 

the CSE 

15,000 

Fujitsu Product launch 

in Australia 

 

Within 3 months of listing on 

the CSE 

20,000 

Fujitsu Product launch 

in New Zealand 

 

Within 6 months of listing on 

the CSE 

15,000 

Launch EYEfi Cloud 

V2.0 

 

Within 8-10 months of listing on 

the CSE 

40,000 

Establish NA Channel 
Partner 

 

Within 9-12 months of listing on 
the CSE 

30,000 

Total estimated cost (AUD)  120,000 

 

Total estimated cost $109,200. 

 

Risks 

Below are some of the risks facing the Company. See the section entitled “Risk Factors” for a full discussion of all 

risks. 

 

Risk Management 
Any start-up or established business must continuously manage the risks by recognizing and mitigating the 

ambiguities and risks both in internal and external business environments that surround a company. The Company's 

management team manages risks proactively. Here are some of the risks that the Company faces:   
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Technology Risk 

The Company is dependent upon network communication or internetworking for product connectivity. The network 

communication defines a set of protocols allowing application programs to talk to each other without regard to the 

hardware and operating systems where they are run. A disruption in the internetworking would have a serious 

impact on the Company’s services to its customers. 

Cybersecurity Risk: EYEfi Cloud is a public cloud application and is subject to threats and attacks and data breaches 

that could affect for example delivery of service and supply lines. Security data is controlled by the cloud provider 

which could make it difficult to distinguish between everyday computing events and security events. The Company 

is constantly monitoring for security events. The Company is also subject to attacks by ransomware and the encrypting 

of data and hardware attacks that could affect computer chips. 

 

The Covid 19 Virus and Supply Chains   

The Covid 19 virus is impacting our supply chain in terms of the EYEfi Sensor production (China/India) and 

electronic component supply. This is currently delaying our product launch plans with Fujitsu Australia Limited. 

 

 

Competitive Risks  

There are other well-established companies who are competitors to the Company providing services and products to 

the same kind of customers the Company is targeting. A discussion of these competitors is contained earlier in this 

section of the Prospectus.  

 

Legal and Regulatory Risks  
Some of the possible legal or regulatory issues are continuous reporting requirements by the Regulatory Authorities 

and Exchange, tax complications, user and privacy policy, customer complaints, etc. The Company has retained 

professional advisors with the requisite experience to deal with these matters and will consult with them to keep it 

informed of possible complications before they arise. 

 

 

USE OF AVAILABLE FUNDS 

 

Available Funds and Principal Purposes 

 

This is a non‐offering Prospectus. The Company is not raising any funds in conjunction with this Prospectus, and 

accordingly there are no distributions of securities or resulting offering proceeds. 
 

As of April 30, 2020 the Share Swap Agreement to acquire the issued and outstanding ordinary shares of EYEfi had 

not closed. The Share Swap Agreement closed on May 27, 2020 

 

The Estimated Funds Available set out below and the Use of Funds below assumes the closing of the Share Swap 

Agreement on April 30, 2020.  

 

As of April 30, 2020 the Company had approximately $34,824 working capital comprised of cash of $24,859 and 

prepaid expenses of $9,965.   
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Use of Available Funds: The intended uses of the estimated available funds are as follows: 

   

Estimated Funds Available: The estimated funds available to the Company in the next 12 months 

are as follows: 
Amount 

Working Capital of the Company as of April 30, 2020 34,824 

Working Capital (3) as of April 30, 2020 327,600 

 Two Year Loan Facility from a director (Simon Langdon) of AUD $485,000 (See “Directors and 

Executive Officers” for details) 

441,350 

Total  803,774  

   General and Administrative Expenses of the Company Monthly 

Amount ($) 

 

Annual 

Amount ($)  

 

CEO fees (See table 2 below) 0 0 

CFO, corporate secretary fees (See table 2 below) 0 0 

Annual filing fees  100 1,200 

Audit fees 
(includes audit fees for EYEfi) 

2,000 24,000 

CSE monthly listing fees 750 9,000 

Legal fees 0 0 

Office, insurance and miscellaneous 0 0 

Annual Compliance 750 9000 

Total   3,600 43,200 

 

Table 2 

 

General and Administrative Expenses of the Subsidiary, EYEfi Monthly 

Amount  

AUD $  

Annual 

Amount  

AUD $  

CEO fees  

(See “Directors and Executive Officers”) 

(1) 15,000 180,000 

CFO, corporate secretary fees (See “Directors and Executive Officers”) (1) 5,500 66,000 

Accounting, tax compliance and bookkeeping services 5,500 66,000 

CCP Technologies Limited 

(See “General Description of the Business – Material Agreements”) 

(2) 3,000 36,000 

Legal 1,250 15,000 

Salaries and wages  14,000 168,000 

Office, insurance, patent fees, compliance and miscellaneous 6,000 72,000 

Travel 1,000 12,000 

Rent 4,000 48,000 

Total  AUD $ 55,250 663,000 

Total  CAD $ 50,277.50 603,330 

 
(1) Simon Langdon, the CEO of the Company is paid AUD $180,000 per year pursuant to his employment contract. 

Ben Melin, the CFO is paid AUD $5,500 per month pursuant to his contract. See “Directors and Executive Officers” 

and “Executive Compensation” for details. 
 
(2)  The fee for May is $12,000 and then will drop to approximately $3,000 a month. See “General Description of the 

Business”. 

 
(3) The working capital figure above excludes “income in advance” of $336,000 due to the availability of R&D tax 

concession offsets. The actual amount that the Company spends in connection with each intended use of funds may 

vary significantly from the amounts specified above, and will depend on a number of factors including those listed 

under the heading “Risk Factors.  
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The actual amount that the Company spends in connection with each intended use of funds may vary significantly 

from the amounts specified above, and will depend on a number of factors including those listed under the heading 

“Risk Factors and the success of the Company’s Business Plan. See “General Description of the Business”.  

 

The Company intends to spend the funds available to it as stated in this Prospectus. There may be circumstances, 
however, where for sound business reasons, a reallocation of funds may be necessary in order for the Company to 

achieve its stated business objectives. The actual use of available funds will vary depending on the Company’s 

operating and capital needs from time to time and will be subject to the discretion of the management of the Company.  

 

Business Objectives and Milestones 

 

The Company’s business objective is to list on the CSE. The cost of covering administrative costs for the first 12 months 

following listing is estimated at $.  

 

Event 

 

Time Frame                                                 $ 

Listing on the CSE Within four weeks of the date of  

 this Prospectus 10,000 

 

2020 Expansion Plans Continuously for 12 months post listing 109,200  
  

See “General Description of the Business” – 2020 Expansion Plans” 

 

The Board may, in its discretion, approve asset or corporate acquisitions or investments based upon the Board’s 

consideration of the qualitative aspects of the subject acquisitions, including risk profile, technical upside, asset quality 

and other factors. Such acquisitions may require shareholder or regulatory approval. See “General Description of the 

Business”. 

 

The Company intends to spend a significant portion of the funds available to it according to the “Use of Funds” 

 as stated in this Prospectus. There may be circumstances however, where, for sound business reasons, a reallocation 

of funds may be necessary. See “General Development of the Business” and “Risk Factor” 

 
The Company and EYEfi had negative cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2020.  EYEfi also had 

negative cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019 and positive cash flows for the year ended December 31, 

2018. Given the disruption of the Covid 19 virus, there is no assurance the Company will be able to generate a positive 

cash flow from its expected and planned operations for the next twelve months. As a result, the Company may be 

required to raise additional capital or other types of financing. There is no assurance that it will be available when 

needed or that these financings will be on terms favourable to the Company. Refer to: 
 

(i)  “Executive Summary – Statement of Operations”:  

(ii)  “Risk Factors”.  

(iii) The Company’s audited annual statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 and the accompanying 

Management Discussion and Analysis attached to this Prospectus as Schedules A and B;  

(iv) EYEfi’s audited annual financial statements for the two years ended June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018 and the 

accompanying Management Discussion and Analysis attached to this Prospectus as Schedules C and D. 

(v) the Consolidated proforma financial statements for the two years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 

2018 attached as Schedule E.  

 

Risk Factors 
 

There are certain risk associated with the business of the Company and with an investment in its securities including 

the following: future fluctuations in the Company’s quarterly results of operations, supply chain disruption arising 

from the Covid 19 virus and the effect of this on completing installation terms in its current and future agreement with 

customers; limited market for the Company’s securities, future dilution to existing and future shareholders, no history 

of paying dividends, competition, failure to  address competitive challenges adequately; conflicts of interest; litigation; 

changes in laws; insurance coverage; market acceptance; acquisitions; and potential delay or future impairment. The 
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risks and uncertainties described above are those the Company currently believes to be material, but they are not the 

only ones faced by the Company. There may be risks that the Company currently considers not to be material or of 

which the Company is not aware, that may become material risks which could materially and adversely impact the 

Company’s operations. See “Risk Factors” for a full description of the risk factors affecting the Company. 

 

Estimated Funds Available and Use of Funds 

No securities are offered pursuant to this Prospectus. This Prospectus is filed with the BCSC for the purpose of 

allowing the Company to become a reporting Company in British Columbia and to enable the Company to develop 

an organized market for its Shares by subsequently listing on the CSE. Since no securities are offered pursuant to 

this Prospectus, no proceeds will be raised. All expenses incurred in connection with the preparation and filing of 

this Prospectus are being paid by the Company from general corporate funds.  

 

 

DIVIDEND RECORD AND POLICY 

 

The Company has not declared any dividends or made any distributions since incorporation. The Board may declare 

dividends at its discretion but does not anticipate paying dividends in the near future. While there are no restrictions 
in the Company’s constating documents or pursuant to any agreement or understanding which could prevent the 

Company from paying dividends or distributions, the Company anticipates using all available cash resources to fund 

working capital and grow its business. As such, the Company has no plans to pay dividends in the foreseeable future. 

Any decisions to pay dividends in cash or otherwise in the future will be made by the Board of Directors on the basis 

of the Company’s earnings, financial requirements and other conditions existing at the time a determination is made 

 

 

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 

The Company’s MD&A for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 are 

attached as Schedules “B” and “F” to this Prospectus.  

 

EYEfi’s MD&A for the three months ended March 31 2020 and the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 are attached 

as Schedules “D” and “H” to this Prospectus.  

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE SECURITIES 

Authorized and Issued Share Capital 

 

The Issuer’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of Shares without par value of which 23,005,600 

Shares are issued and outstanding at the date of this Prospectus. See “Consolidated Capitalization”. 

 

Shares 

 
All of the Shares of the Issuer rank equally as to voting rights, participation in a distribution of the assets of the Issuer 

on the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Issuer and the entitlement to dividends. The holders of the Shares 

are entitled to receive notice of all meetings of shareholders and to attend and vote such shares at the meetings. Each 

Share carries with it the right to one vote. The Shares do not have pre-emptive rights, are not subject to redemption, 

have no sinking or purchase fund provisions, have no provisions restricting the issuance of additional securities or any 

other material restrictions, nor a requirement to contribute additional capital. Holders of the Shares are entitled to 

receive such dividends as may be declared by the Board of Directors out of funds legally available therefor. In the 

event of dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Issuer, holders of the Shares are entitled to share rateably in all 

assets of the Issuer remaining after payment of all amounts due to creditors. 

 

Listing of the Shares is subject to the Company fulfilling all of the listing requirements of the CSE. 
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PRIOR SALES 

In the past 12 months the Company has issued the following securities. 

 

Date Number of 

Shares 

Issue Price  

per Share  

($) 

Aggregate  

Issue Price  

($) 

Consideration 

Received 

$ 

February 27, 2020 3,000,000  0.02 60,000 60,000 

April 24, 2020 177,500 0.08 14,200 14,200 

April 30, 2020 825,500 0.08 66,040 66,040 

May 27, 2020 19,002,500 (1) 0.08 1,520,200 0 

 
(1) Pursuant to the Share Swap Agreement dated May 4, 2020, these Shares were issued in exchange for all of 

the issued shares of EYEfi. See “General Development of the Business”, “Escrow Securities and Securities Subject to 

Contractual Restrictions on Transfer”, “Directors and Executive Officers” and “Material Agreements”. 

 
CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 

 

The following table sets forth the share and loan capital of the Company as at the dates below. The table should be 
read in conjunction with and is qualified in its entirety by the Company’s unaudited quarterly financial statement 

ended March 31, 2020 and the accompanying MD&A attached to this Prospectus as Schedules “A” and “B” and the 

comparative annual audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 and the accompanying MD&A 

attached to this Prospectus as Schedules “C” and “D”.  

 

Description Amount Authorized 

at the date of this 

Prospectus 

Outstanding as at the 

date of this Prospectus  

(unaudited) 

Outstanding as at March 

31, 2020 

 (unaudited) 

 

Outstanding as at 

December 31, 2019 

 (audited) 

Shares Unlimited  23,005,600 23,005,600 100 

 

 

OPTIONS AND OTHER RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 

 
Stock Options:  

 

No options have been granted.  

 

Stock Option Plan 

 

The Company adopted a rolling 10% Stock Option Plan on May 27, 2020. The Stock Option Plan has not been 

approved by the Company’s shareholders, but will be presented to the shareholders of the Issuer at the next Annual 

General Meeting of shareholders.  

 

The purpose of the Stock Option Plan is to provide for the acquisition of Shares by officers, employees, directors and 
consultants of the Corporation for the purpose of advancing the interests of the Corporation through the motivation, 

attraction and retention of officers, employees, directors and consultants of the Corporation  and its affiliates and to 

secure for the Corporation and its shareholders the benefits inherent in the ownership of Shares by such persons, it 

being generally recognized that share incentive plans aid in attracting, retaining and encouraging such people due to 

the opportunity offered to them to acquire a proprietary interest in the Corporation. 

 

Under the Stock Option Plan, the Corporation can issue up to 10% of the issued and outstanding Shares as incentive 

Stock Options to directors, officers, employees and consultants to the Corporation. The Stock Option Plan limits the 

number of Stock Options which may be granted to any one individual to not more than 5% of the total issued Shares 

of the Corporation in any 12 month period. The number of Stock Options granted to any one consultant or a person 

employed to provide investor relations activities in any 12 month period must not exceed 2% of the total issued Shares 
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of the Corporation. As well, Stock Options granted under the Stock Option Plan may be subject to vesting provisions 

as determined by the Board of Directors. Other terms of the Stock Option Plan are: 

 

(a)  a condition that Stock Options are non-assignable and non-transferable; 

(b)   the term of a Stock Options cannot exceed ten years from the date of grant; 
(c)   a condition that no more than 5% of the issued Shares may be granted to any one individual in any 12 month 

period unless disinterested shareholder approval is obtained; 

(d)   a condition that no more than 2% of the issued Shares may be granted to any one consultant in any 12 month 

period; 

(e)   the Company will determine and set the vesting conditions and period for every grant of a Stock Option in 

addition to the minimum vesting period for Stock Options granted to Consultants. 

(f)   a condition that no more than an aggregate of 2% of the Shares may be granted to a person conducting investor 

relations activities in any 12 month period and shall vest over 12 months with no more than 25% of the Stock 

Options vesting in any three month period; 

(g) upon termination an optionee has 180 days to exercise their Stock Options although this period may be extended 

at the discretion of the Issuer; 

(h) the 180 day exercise period following termination may be terminated or shortened at the discretion of the 
directors for any stock options issued to persons other than directors, that have not vested at the date of 

termination. 

(i)   a director will have an additional 30 days to exercise the Stock Option for each year served as a director of the 

Company or its affiliates to a maximum of one year after the initial 180 day exercise period unless the director 

is convicted of a criminal or securities offence (a “Conviction”), is declared bankrupt or is terminated arising 

from a court order or shareholder resolution), the Options shall terminate on the date of such Conviction, date 

of bankruptcy, court order or shareholder resolution, and; 

(j)      the period in which an optionee's heirs or administrators can exercise any portion of its outstanding Stock 

Options is the earlier of: (a) one year from the optionee's death, or (b) the expiration of the option period. 

 

The Stock Option Plan will be administered by the Board of Directors of the Issuer, or delegated to a committee of 
three directors of the Issuer which will have full and final authority with respect to the granting of all Stock Options 

thereunder. No such committee has been set up. 

 

Please see Schedule “L” of the Prospectus for the Stock Option Plan. 

 

 

ESCROWED SECURITIES AND SECURITIES SUBJECT TO 

CONTRACTUAL RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER 

 

Escrow under NP 46-201 

 

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Shares subject to contractual restriction and escrow are as shown in the following 
table: 

 

Designation of class 

Number of securities held in escrow or that 

are subject to a contractual restriction on 

transfer Percentage of class 

Shares 14,919,515 (1)      64.85%      (2) 

 
(1) These Shares are owned by EYEFI R&D Pty. Ltd. which is owned by Simon Langdon, the CEO and a director 

of the Company. 

 

Ben Melin, the CEO of the Company has an indirect interest in 372,987 Shares that are owned by DLK Investment 

Group Pty. Ltd as trustee for DLK Investments Trust. There are three owners of this trust each owning one-third of 

the units. The other two unit holders are arms-length to Mr. Melin. Mr. Melin does not have a voting control of the 

trust. As a result the 372,987 Shares are not held in escrow.   
 
(2)  Based on 23,005,600 Shares issued and outstanding as at the date of this Prospectus. 
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The 14,919,515 Shares are held in escrow by the Company’s Transfer Agent, Computershare Investor Services Inc. 

pursuant to an Escrow Agreement dated ** 2020. See “Material Agreements”. 
 

In accordance with National Policy 46-201 Escrow for Initial Public Offerings (“NP 46-201”), all Shares of the 
Company held by a principal of the Company as of the date of this Prospectus are subject to escrow restrictions. A 

principal who holds securities carrying less than 1% of the voting rights attached to the Company’s outstanding 

securities is not subject to the escrow requirements under NP 46-201. Under the NP 46-201, a “principal” is defined 

as: 

 

(a)  a person or company who acted as a promoter of the Company within two years before the Prospectus; 

(b) a director or senior officer of the Company or any of its material operating subsidiaries at the time of the 

Prospectus; 

(c)  a 20% holder – a person or company that holds securities carrying more than 20% of the voting rights attached 

to the Company’s outstanding securities immediately before and immediately after the Company’s IPO; or 

(d)  a 10% holder – a person or company that (i) holds securities carrying more than 10% of the voting rights 

attached to the Company’s outstanding securities immediately before and immediately after the Company’s IPO and 
(ii) has elected or appointed, or has the right to elect or appoint, one or more directors or senior officers of the Company 

or any of its material operating subsidiaries. 

 

A principal’s spouse and their relatives that live at the same address as the principal will also be treated as principals 

and any securities of the Company they hold will be subject to escrow requirements. A person who holds less than 

1% of the outstanding Shares is not required to deposit their Shares in escrow. 

 

A Company will be classified for the purposes of escrow as either an “exempt Company”, an “established Company” 

or an “emerging Company” as that term is defined in NP 46-201. Uniform terms of automatic timed-release escrow 

apply to Principals of exchange listed companies, differing only according to the classification of the Company. The 

Company anticipates that on the Listing Date, it will be classified as an “emerging Company”.  
 

Assuming there are no changes to the escrow securities initially deposited and no additional escrow securities are 

deposited, this will result in a 10% release on the listing date (as defined by NP 46-201), with the remaining escrow 

securities being released in 15% tranches every 6 months thereafter. All escrowed Shares are subject to the direction 

and determination of the CSE. Specifically, escrowed Shares may not be sold, assigned, hypothecated, transferred 

within escrow or otherwise dealt with in any manner without the consent of the CSE. As such, the following automatic 

timed releases will apply to the securities held by its Principals: 

 

Date of Automatic Timed Release Amount of Escrowed Securities Released 

On the date the Company’s securities are listed on the CSE (the 

“Listing Date”) 

1/10 of the escrowed securities 

6 months after the First Release  1/6 of the remaining escrowed securities 

12 months after the First Release  1/5 of the remaining escrowed securities 

18 months after the First Release  1/4 of the remaining escrowed securities 

24 months after the First Release  1/3 of the remaining escrowed securities 

30 months after the First Release  1/2 of the remaining escrowed securities 

36 months after the First Release  The remaining escrowed securities 

 

Pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreement, 1,491,952 Shares will be released from escrow on the Listing Date. 

2,237,927 Shares will be released from escrow on each of the subsequent release dates. 
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PRINCIPAL SECURITYHOLDERS 

 

To the knowledge of the Company’s directors and officers, the only person who beneficially own or exercise, directly 

or indirectly, control or direction over more than 10% of the votes attached to the Shares is as follows: 

  

Name of  
Shareholder 

 

EYEfi R&D 

Pty. Ltd (1) 

 

Type of 
Ownership 

 

Indirect 

 

 

 

Number and % as at the date of this 
Prospectus  

 

14,919,515     64.86% (2) 

Number and % on a fully 
diluted basis (3) 

 

14,919,515     64.86% (2) 

 
(1)  EYEfi R&D Pty. Ltd. is owned by Simon Langdon, the CEO. The Shares are also held in escrow. See “Officers 

and Directors” and “Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to Contractual Restrictions on Transfer.” and 

“Material Agreements”. 

 
(2) This percentage figure is based on the number of currently issued shares, 23,005,600 as the denominator. 

 
(3)  This percentage figure is based on a denominator of 23,005,600 is composed of the current issued Shares of 

23,005,600. See “Consolidated Capitalization” and “Options and Other Rights to Purchase Securities”. 
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DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

 

Name, Occupation and Security Holding 

 

Name, Position with 

Company and 
Province and Country 

of Residence 

Date of 

Appointment  
to Office 

Principal Occupation for Past Five Years 

 
 

Shares Held as 

of the Date of 
this 

Prospectus 

 

Percent-

age of 
Shares 

Currently 

Held 

Simon Matthew 

Langdon  

Director, CEO (1) 

 

Victoria, Australia 

May 27, 

2020 

 

CEO and director of EYEfi since June 2006, 

director and officer of the Company since 

May 27, 2020.  

14,919,515 

held indirectly 
(2)  

64.85% 

James Hope 

Director (1) 

May 27, 

2020 

Practising lawyer and principal of the law 

firm of Hope Earle Lawyers located in 

Melbourne, Australia. Director of the 

Company since May 27, 2020 

0 0 

Ben Melin 

CFO, Corporate 

Secretary 

  
 

Victoria, Australia 

 

 

 

May 27, 

2020 

Since July 2017, director of DLK Advisory 

Group Pty. Ltd., Melbourne, Australia, 

which is an active professional accounting 

practice specializing in business, tax and 
consulting services.  

From July 2012 to June 2017 Mr. Melin was 

a partner/principal of Crowe Horwath which 

is still active; CFO of the Company since 

May 27, 2020 

372,987 held 

indirectly (3) 

1.62% 

Harold Forzley 

Director and 

Chairman of the board 

of directors  (1) 

May 4, 2020 Since August 1986 Mr. Forzley has operated 

Harold Forzley Consulting which provides 

accounting services, business plans and 

corporate analysis; director of the Company 

since May 4, 2020 

 

0 0 

(1) Member of Audit Committee. 

 
(2) Mr. Langdon’s Shares are registered to EYEfi R&D Pty. Ltd. which is owned and controlled by Simon Langdon. 

They are subject to escrow. See “Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to Contractual Restrictions on 

Transfer”. 

 
(3) Mr. Melin’s Shares are registered to DLK Investment Group Pty. Ltd. as trustee for DLK Investment Trust which 

is owned by Mr. Melin as to one-third and as a result does not have voting control of the trust. As a result these 

shares are not subject to escrow.  

 

The term of office of the directors currently every year at the time of the Company’s annual general meeting. The term 

of the office of the officers expires at the discretion of the Company’s directors subject to any contractual terms. 

 

The term of office of the directors currently every year at the time of the Company’s annual general meeting. The term 
of the office of the officers expires at the discretion of the Company’s directors subject to any contractual terms. 

 

 

  



 

50 
 

 

Aggregate Ownership of Securities 

The directors and officers of the Company, as a group, currently beneficially own, directly or indirectly, 15,202,600 

Shares representing 66.47% of the issued and outstanding Shares of the Company.  

 

Management Experience 
 

The following is a brief description of the management and key personnel of the Corporation: 

 

Simon Matthew Langdon Age 49 – CEO and Director  

 

Education: Mr. Langdon received an Advanced Diploma/Associate Degree in Electronics Engineering in November 

of 1992 from Swinburne in Melbourne, Australia and has been a member of the Australian Institute of Company 

Directors, since February, 2018.  

 

Prior business experience: Mr. Langdon is an electronics engineer and embedded software developer, and has been 

designing and commercialising technology products for more than 25 years. As such he has accomplished the 

following: 
 

− Managed a large national field service engineering team at Dataplex/Netcomm which is a large data 

communication, networking and modem/router manufacturer  

− Designed and commercialised Telstra’s first IP network video/CCTV solution in the market for the 2006 

Commonwealth Games in Melbourne 

− Designed and architected Telstra’s first ASP solution for small to medium enterprise - Netrading  

− Architected and led the deployment of the largest online trading exchange in the southern hemisphere – Telstra 

corProcure. This solution later sold for circa $20 million to Australia Post.  

− Architected and secured a $60 million win-back for Telstra - whole of business 5-year contract for VicRoads 

− Architected and secured Telstra’s first end-to-end managed service agreement for the major events segment 

(data and voice) 
− Awarded the line of business award for most outstanding innovative salesperson in Telstra business and 

government by David Thodey (then GMD, Telstra) 

− Awarded trainee technical officer graduate of the year (98th percentile) for the Department of Transport, State 

of Victoria  

− Formally recognised (certificate) by former chief commissioner of police, Christine Nixon, for his role as chief 

architect of the Commonwealth Games athlete’s village security overlay  

− Invited as a technology advisor (steering committee) to the board of Crime Stoppers 

− Professional witness in the Victorian Bushfire Royal Commission 

− Founded EYEfi Pty Ltd and designed, built and commercialised the product suite 

− Managed EYEfi’s R&D program including code/algorithm development, electronics and product design, patent 

development and filing, and all reporting obligations to AusIndustry for the COMET program (Australian 

Federal Government) and is a Global patentee, EYEfi SPARC  
− Secured key partnerships with Telstra Corporation Limited, Fujitsu Australia and New Zealand 

 

Employment Contract 

Mr. Langdon signed an employment contract with EYEfi dated September 1, 2019 employing him as CEO and 

Managing Director with an annual salary of AUS $180,000.   

 

The employment agreement contains a non-disclosure/confidentially covenant and a covenant restricting Mr. 

Langdon from engaging in another business or employment and any activity that conflicts with EYEfi interest without 

the consent of EYEfi. The consent will not be given if the request would adversely affect his ability to do the job or 

bring the company into disrepute.  

 
Termination by EYEfi: one weeks notice after one year of employment, two weeks notice for more than one year but 

less than three years of employment, three weeks for more than three years but less than five years of employment 

and four weeks for more than five years of employment. An additional two weeks notice is required upon completion 

of two years of service. Termination would be immediate if there were termination for cause. 
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Mr. Langdon will devote 100% of his time to the business of the Corporation.  

Two Year Loan from Simon Langdon to the Company 

 

Pursuant to a loan agreement dated May 27, 2020 (the Loan Agreement”) between the Company and Mr. Langdon, 

Mr. Langdon has advanced a loan of AUD $485,000 (the “Loan”) to the Company for a two year term commencing 
on the date of the first drawdown by the Company with interest at the rate of 8% calculated daily and on an accrual 

basis, payable either quarterly or on the repayment date. The Company may at its discretion repay the principal sum 

or so much of the principal sum as may remain outstanding at any time during the term of the loan. The loan will be 

repaid in full with any outstanding interest, at the discretion of the Company on the occurrence of either of the 

following: the Company’s working capital reach $1,000,000 or the Company secures a net capital equity raise of 

$2,000,000 or more. See “Material Agreements”. 

 

Ben Melin Age 43    CFO   

 

Mr. Melin is a Chartered Accountant and member of the Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand body 

since June 2002. He has been a  Fellow of the Financial Services Institute of Australasia since March 2007. He is also 

Chartered Tax Advisor and member of The Tax Institute (Australia) since July 2012 and a registered tax agent since 
April 2014.  

He received a Bachelor of Commerce – Major in Accounting and Finance (Granted December 1998) from the 

University of Melbourne located in Melbourne, Australia. 

 

Mr. Melin has worked in the accounting and corporate finance professions for over 20 years and has extensive 

experience in business and corporate advisory, private client services, wealth management and tax consulting.  He 

has been a director of DLK Advisory Pty Ltd. since July of 2017 and previously was partner at Crowe Horwath, 

Chartered Accountants of Melbourne, Australia from July 2012 to June 2017. He has also held senior positions at 

the Myer Family Office, a private investment company and Price Waterhouse Coopers. 

 

He specializes in providing accounting, taxation, business advisory, estate, intergenerational and succession 
planning services to his clients. He works closely with emerging mid-market companies through their growth 

stages, assisting with their business strategies and advising on capital and debt funding solutions. 

 

Mr. Melin will devote approximately 10% of his time to the business of the Corporation. He has not signed a non-

disclosure and non-competition agreements.  

 

Non- Management Directors  

 

James Hope Age 51  Director 

 

Mr. Hope received a Bachelor of Economics in January 2020 from La Trobe University located in Melbourne, 

Australia and a Juris Doctor in December 2004 from the University of Melbourne also located in Melbourne. In 
addition to legal qualifications, James studied Economics in Oklahoma USA on an academic scholarship. Mr. Hope 

has also authored articles of Law of Australia and lectured at Swinburne University (Finance Law) located in 

Melbourne. 

 

He is a practising lawyer and principal of the law firm of Hope Earle Lawyers located in Melbourne, Australia 

(Principal) 

 

Professional Affiliations 

 

Member, Law Institute of Victoria 

Accredited Business Law Specialist 
 

Mr. Hope has a strong commercial background having founded and operated commercial enterprises in both Australia 

and the United States in addition to working as a lawyer in a top-tier firm and in-house. 
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James’ legal experience over the last decade spans a range of commercial areas including negotiations, transactions 

and settlements with publicly listed companies, government departments and major private enterprises as well as 

many smaller corporations. Specifically, James has dealt with matters in the following areas of practice: 

 

 Advising on purchase and sale of businesses including legal due diligence, contracts, warranties, security 
interests and risk awareness; 

 Advising clients on a range of intellectual property matters including trade mark registration and 

prosecution, design law, confidential information and defamation law, brands, logos, slogans and other 

legal issues within advertising and marketing as well as licensing and sale/purchase of intangible assets; 

 Creation and negotiation of employment contracts and subcontract arrangements; advising on competition 

law including passing off, misleading and deceptive conduct and general issues arising under the 

Competition and Consumer Act and Australian Consumer Law; 

 Preparing shareholder advice and shareholder agreements; 

 Advising and litigating under aviation law; 

 Providing website terms including terms of use, privacy policies and related intellectual property 

 General property matters including construction, planning and environment, land tax and property 
conveyancing; 

 Preparing and negotiating distribution agreements (exclusive and non-exclusive); 

 Drafting, settling and finalising industrial, commercial and retail leases including providing advice in 

relation to “make good” (end-term obligations), outgoings, rent incentives, etc.; 

 Banking, loan/finance and mortgage agreements; 

 Providing general commercial organisational structuring advice including trusts, corporations and 

partnerships. 

 

James has presented seminars on the Personal Property Securities Act and previously taught Finance Law at 

Swinburne University as well as written numerous trade articles relating to general commercial legal issues such as 

privacy, adverse possession, trademarks, debt recovery, asset protection and business structuring. 

 

Mr. Hope will devote 10% of his time to the business of the Corporation. He has not signed a non-disclosure or non-

competition agreements. 

 

Harold Forzley Age 58  Director and Chairman of the Board of Directors 

 

Mr. Forzley was granted a B.A Commerce from Simon Fraser University, located in Burnaby, B.C. on May 1, 1978. 

He was licensed as a Certified Professional Accountant by Chartered Professional Accountants of British Columbia 

in December 1980. Since August 1986 he has operated Harold Forzley Consulting which provides accounting services, 

business plans and corporate analysis. 

 
Other Reporting Company Experience 

 

Mr. Forzley is and has been a director and officer of other reporting companies operating in a variety of industries as 

listed below: 

 

Name of Reporting Company 

Name or Exchange 

or Market Position From To 

Pacific Cascade Minerals Inc. TSX.V Director and 

President 

December 2006  

Cabbay Holdings Corp. CSE Director July 2018 February 2020 

Grande Portage Resources Ltd. 

 

TSX.V Director and 

CFO 

September 2006 April 2016 

South Star Mining Corp. 

 

TSX.V Director September 2005 December 2012 

Canada Strategic Metals Inc. TSX.V Director May 2010 November 2012 
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Mr. Forzley will devote approximately 10% of his time to the business of the Corporation. He has not signed a non-

disclosure or non-competition agreement.  

 

None of the other directors, officers and promoters have been directors, officers or promoters of other companies that 

are or were a Reporting Company in any Canadian jurisdiction or elsewhere.  
 

Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties or Sanctions 

 

Cease Trade Orders 

 

Mr. Forzley is a director of Pacific Cascade Minerals Inc. which had a cease trade order (“CTO”) issued to it by the 

British Columbia Securities Commission on February 5, 2016 for failure to file annual audited financial statements. 

Pacific Cascade Minerals Inc. filed all the required financial statements. The CTO was revoked on April 27, 2020.  

 

To the Corporation`s knowledge and other than as disclosed herein, no existing director or executive officer or a 

shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of the Corporation to materially affect the control of the 

Corporation is, as at the date of this Prospectus, or was within ten years prior to the date of this Prospectus, a director, 
Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer of any company including the Corporation that: 

 

(i) was subject to an order that was issued while the director or executive officer was acting in the capacity as 

director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer; or 

(ii) was subject to an order that was issued after the director or executive officer ceased to be a director, chief 

executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an event that occurred while that person was acting 

in that capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer. 

 

For the purposes herein “order” means: 

(a) a cease trade order; 

(b) an order similar to a cease trade order; or 
(c) an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, 

that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days. 

 

None of the directors or executive officers of the Company, or a shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities 

of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company. See “Principal Securityholders”. 

 

Halt Trades, Bankruptcies 
To the Corporation`s knowledge and other than as disclosed herein, no existing director or executive officer or a 

shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of the Company to materially affect the control of the 

Corporation: 

 

(a) is, as at the date of this Prospectus, or has been within the 10 years before the date of this Prospectus, a 
director or executive officer of any company (including the Company) that, while that person was acting in that 

capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any 

legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or 

compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; 

 

(b) has, within the 10 years before the date of this Prospectus, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any 

legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or 

compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the director, 

executive officer or shareholder. 

 

Penalties or Sanctions 
 

To the Corporation`s knowledge and other than as disclosed herein, no existing director or executive officer or a 

shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of the Corporation to materially affect the control of the 

Corporation has been subject to: 
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(a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to provincial and territorial securities legislation or by 

a provincial or territorial securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a provincial 

or territorial securities regulatory authority; or 

 

(b)  any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be considered 
important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision. 

 

Conflicts of Interest 

 

The directors of the Company will not be devoting all of their time to the affairs of the Company as they have 

employment outside of the Company and some of them are directors and officers of other companies, some of which 

are in the same business as the Company. The directors and officers of the Company are required by law to act in the 

best interests of the Company. They have the same obligations to the other companies in respect of which they act as 

directors and officers. Discharge by the directors and officers of their obligations to the Company may result in a 

breach of their obligations to the other companies, and in certain circumstances this could expose the Company to 

liability to those companies. Similarly, discharge by the directors and officers of their obligations to the other 

companies could result in a breach of their obligation to act in the best interests of the Company. Such conflicting 
legal obligations may expose the Company to liability to others and impair its ability to achieve its business objectives. 

 

 

 

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

 

During the three years ended December 31, 2019 and for the period from the date of incorporation on October 4, 2018 

to December 31, 2018 the Company had one NEO: Mark van der Horst.  

 

During the three years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 EYEfi had one NEO: Simon Langdon.   

 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

 

In assessing the compensation of its executive officers, for the years ended December 31, 2019 and for the period 

from the date of incorporation on October 4, 2018 to December 31, 2018, the Company did not have in place any 

formal objectives, criteria or analysis; compensation payable is currently determined by the Board of Directors.   

 

The remuneration strategy is based on achieving the overall objective of expanding the number of Channel Partners 

in Australia and in North America via referrals and relationships, expanding the services and hardware products,  

increasing the number of connected devices and subscribers to EYEfi’s Platform, all to increase revenue. The core 

of EYEFI’s remuneration philosophy seeks to focus on driving performance over and above shareholder and market 

expectations.  

 
The Company has an option plan. No options have been granted. 

 

At this time, there are compensation agreements with the CEO and the CFO. See “Directors and Officers” for full 

details.  

 

Option Based Awards: No option based awards were granted in 2019 and 2018 and 2017. 

 

Compensation of Named Executive Officers of the Company: The following table sets forth the compensation of the 

Named Executive Officers and persons earning more than $150,000 annually for the three most recently completed 

fiscal years.  
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Summary Executive Compensation Table of the Company 

 

 

 

Name and 

principal 

position 

(a) 

 

 

 

Yea

r 

(b) 

 

 

Salary 

($) 

(c) 

Ordin

ary 

Share

based 

award

s 

($) 

(d) 

 

Opt-

ion 

based 

awards 

($) 

(e) 

Non-equity incentive 

plan compensation 

($)(f) 

 

Pen-

sion 

value 

($) 

(g) 

 

All other 

Compen-

sation 

($) 

(h) 

 

Total 

Com- 

Pen- 

sation 

($) 

(i) 

Annual 

incent-

ive plans 

(f1) 

Long-term 

incentive 

plans 

(f2) 

Mark   
Van der   

Horst  
 

 

2019 
2018 

 
 

0 
0 

 
 

Nil 
Nil 

 
 

Nil 
Nil 

 
 

Nil 
Nil 

 
 

Nil 
Nil 

 
 

Nil  
Nil 

 
 

0 
0 

 
 
 

0 
0 

 
 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company has approximately $7,538 (2018 - $5,386) of accrued 

payables to Mark van der Horst for expenses incurred on the Company’s behalf. During 2019, the Company paid 

$1,200 related to an office lease to a private company owned by Mr. van der Horst. 

 

Summary Executive Compensation Table of EYEfi 
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plans 

(f1) 

Long-term 

incentive 

plans 

(f2) 

Simon  

Langdon  
 

 
 

2019 

2018 
2017 
 

91,742 

66,560 
65,280 
 

8,715 

6,322 
6,202 
 

Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
 
 

Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
 
 

117,869 

44,655 
41,985 

34,291 

15,473 
14,236 

Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 

Nil 
Nil  
 

252,717 

133,010 
71,482 
 
 

Incentive Plans Awards 

As at the year ended December 31, 2019 the Company had not granted any Stock Option based awards. See “Options 

and Other Rights to Purchase Securities”. 

 

Pension Plans Benefits 

The Company does not have a pension plan or provide any benefits following or in connection with retirement for 
the NEOs. 

 

Termination and Change of Control Benefits 

The Company does not have written employment agreements with the NEO’s, nor any plans or arrangements in place 

with any NEO that provide for payment following or in connection with any termination, resignation, retirement, a 

change of control of the Company or a change in a NEO's responsibilities. 

 

Intended Changes to Compensation to the NEO. 

None.   

 

Related Party Transactions 

The IIoT Sensor Cloud IP held through a related party of Simon Langdon’s, Conxsme Pty Ltd, was transferred to EYEfi 

at market value on December 31, 2019 by offsetting outstanding related party loans owed to EYEfi. Following this IP 

transfer, all other related party loans were forgiven by December 31, 2019 in accordance with the executed Preference 

Share Agreement dated August 12, 2019.  

Since December 31, 2019, the related party Conxsme Pty Ltd loan has been substantially repaid and the current 

balance outstanding is AUD$6,963. 
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Intended Changes to the Compensation to Executive and Non-executive directors. 

 

Upon the earlier of the Company: (i)  achieving a working capital of $1,000,000 for three consecutive months,  or (ii) 

an equity raise of a minimum of $2,000,000 (net of all commissions and fees), then directors will receive an annual 

fee of AUD $60,000. The Chairman of the Board of directors and the Chairman of the audit committee will each 
receive an additional AUD $10,000 annually. 

 

 

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

 

As at the date of this Prospectus, no director, executive officer or employee of the Company or EYEfi is or has been 

indebted to the Company at any time. 

 

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 

Audit Committee 

 
Audit Committee The primary purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board of Directors in discharging its 

oversight and evaluation responsibilities. In particular, the Audit Committee oversees the financial reporting process 

to ensure the balance, transparency and integrity of our published financial information. The Audit Committee also 

reviews and reports to the Board of Directors on the quality and integrity of the Financial Statements and other 

financial information; compliance with legal and regulatory requirements related to financial reporting; the 

effectiveness of the systems of control (including risk management) established by management to safeguard the 

assets (real and intangible) of the Company and its subsidiaries; the proper maintenance of accounting and other 

records; annual and quarterly interim financial information; the independent audit process, including recommending 

the appointment and compensation of the external auditor, and assessing the qualifications, performance and 

independence of the external auditor; the performance and objectivity of our internal audit function; all non‐audit 

services; the development and maintenance of procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints 
received by us regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters and the confidential anonymous 

submission by a director or officer of the Company and its subsidiaries of concerns regarding questionable accounting 

or auditing matters; the review of environment, insurance and other liability exposure issues relevant to the affairs of 

the Company; and any additional matters delegated to the committee by the Board of Directors.   

 

The Audit Committee has the right, for the purposes of performing its duties, to maintain direct communication with 

the Company’s external auditors and Board of Directors, to inspect all books and records of the Company and its 

affiliates, to seek any information it requires from any employee of the Company and its affiliates and to retain outside 

counsel or other experts.  

 

The Audit Committee is required to meet at least once per quarter and is comprised of not less than three directors, a 

majority of whom are independent (as defined in NI 52‐110) and all “financially literate” within the meaning of 
applicable Canadian securities laws. Simon Langdon, James Hope, and Harold Forzley are the members of the Audit 

Committee.  

 

Composition of Audit Committee and Independence  

 

NI 52‐110 provides that a member of an audit committee is “independent” if the member has no direct or indirect 

material relationship with a company, which could, in the view of that company’s board of directors, reasonably 

interfere with the exercise of the member’s independent judgment. Two of the members of the Audit Committee, 

James Hope and Harold Forzley meet the definition of “independence” provided in NI 52‐ 110. See “Directors and 

Executive Officers” and “Executive Compensation” for details regarding director’s fees and consulting fees paid to 

the directors directly and indirectly.  
 

Relevant Education and Experience  

 

NI 52‐110 provides that an individual is “financially literate” if he or she has the ability to read and understand a set 

of financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally 
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comparable to the breadth and complexity of the issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the Financial 

Statements. All of the members of the Audit Committee are financially literate. For details regarding the education, 

experience and financial literacy of the members of the Audit Committee, see “Directors and Executive Officers”. 

 

It is intended that the Audit Committee will establish a practice of approving audit and non‐audit services provided 
by the external auditor. The Audit Committee intends to delegate to its Chair the authority, to be exercised between 

regularly scheduled meetings of the Audit Committee, to preapprove audit and non‐audit services provided by the 

independent auditor. All such pre‐approvals would be reported by the Chair at the meeting of the Audit Committee 

next following the pre‐approval.  

External Auditor Service Fee 

 

The audit fees incurred to its external auditors, MNP, Chartered Professional Accountants, by the Company  

 

Nature of Service The Company 

Fees Paid (or accrued) to Auditor in 

respect of the financial year ended 

December 31, 2019 ($) 

The Company 

Fees Paid (or accrued) to Auditor in 

respect of the financial year ended 

December 31, 2018 ($) 

Audit Fees (1) 5,000 2,500 

Audit-Related Fees (2) 0 0 

Tax fees (3) 0 0 

All other fees (4) 525 0 

Total 5,525 0 

 
(1) “Audit Fees” include fees necessary to perform the annual audit and quarterly reviews of the Company’s financial 

statements. Audit Fees include aggregate fees for review of tax provisions and for accounting consultations on matters 

reflected in the financial statements. Audit Fees also include audit or other attest services required by legislation or 

regulation, such as comfort letters, consents, reviews of securities filings and statutory audits. 

 

(2) “Audit-Related Fees” include fees for services that are traditionally performed by the auditor. These audit-related 

services may include aggregate fees for due diligence assistance, accounting consultations on proposed transactions, 

internal control reviews and audit or attest services not required by legislation or regulation. 

 

 (3) “Tax Fees” include fees for all tax services other than those included in “Audit Fees” and “Audit-Related Fees”. 

This category includes aggregate fees for tax compliance, tax planning and tax advice. 

 
(4) “All Other Fees” include all other non-audit services, in the aggregate.  

 

Exemption 

 

The Company is relying on an exemption provided in section 6.1 of NI 52‐110 from the requirements of Part 3 

(Composition of the Audit Committee) and Part 5 (Reporting Obligations). 

 

Audit Committee Charter  

The Board of Directors has adopted an Audit Committee charter that sets out the roles and responsibilities of the 

Audit Committee. A copy of the charter is attached hereto as Schedule “J”. 

 

Corporate Governance 

Corporate governance relates to the activities of the Board of Directors, the members of which are elected by and are 

accountable to the shareholders, and takes into account the role of the individual members of management who are 

appointed by the Board of Directors and who are charged with day‐ to‐day management of the Company.  

 

The Company has adopted a Corporate Governance Policy to ensure that effective corporate governance practices are 

followed and to ensure that the Board of Directors functions independently of management. The Corporate 

Governance Policy is attached hereto as Schedule “K” to this Prospectus. 
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The following sets forth the Company’s disclosure of its corporate governance practices as they relate to the corporate 

governance guidelines set forth in National Policy 58‐201. The Board of Directors is committed to sound corporate 

governance practices, which are both in the interest of its shareholders and contribute to effective and efficient 

decision making. The Board of Directors will monitor such practices on an ongoing basis and when necessary 

implement such additional practices as it deems appropriate. 
 

NI 58‐101 suggests that the board of directors of a public company should be constituted with a majority of individuals 

who qualify as “independent” directors. An “independent” director is a director who is independent of management 

and is free from any interest and any business or other relationship which could, or could reasonably be perceived to 

materially interfere with the director’s ability to act with a view to the best interests of the company, other than 

interests and relationships arising from holding Shares or securities in the company. In addition, where a company 

has a significant shareholder, NI 58 101 suggests that the board of directors should include a number of directors who 

do not have interests in either the company or the significant shareholder. The independent directors would exercise 

their responsibilities for independent oversight of management and meet independently of management whenever 

deemed necessary.    

 

Currently, the Board of Directors is comprised of three directors, namely Simon Langdon, James Hope and Harold 
Forzley. Mr. Langdon is not considered independent, as he is the CEO of the Company. See “Directors and Executive 

Officers” for details of the employment agreement with Mr. Langdon. James Hope and Harold Forzley are considered 

independent for the purposes of NP 58‐201. The Board of Directors may meet independently of management as 

needed. The independent directors would exercise their responsibilities for independent oversight of management and 

meet independently of management whenever deemed necessary. 

 

Directorships  

Mr. Forzley has served as a director of other reporting issuers. None of the other directors or the CFO  of the Company 

have served as a directors of a Reporting Issuer. See “Directors and Executive Officers”. 

 

Position Descriptions  
The Company does not currently have written position descriptions for the chairman of the Board of Directors, or for 

the chair of its committees.  

 

Orientation and Continuing Education  

Each new director of the Company is briefed about the nature of the Company’s business, its corporate strategy and 

current issues within the Company. New directors will be encouraged to review the Company’s public disclosure 

records as filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com after the Company becomes a reporting Company. Directors are also 

provided with access to management to better understand the operations of the Company, and to the Company’s legal 

counsel to discuss their legal obligations as directors of the Company.  

 

Ethical Business Conduct  

The Board of Directors is considering implementing a written code of ethical conduct for its directors, officers and 
future employees. The Board of Directors is also required to comply with the conflict of interest provisions of the Act 

and relevant securities regulation in order to ensure that directors exercise independent judgment in considering 

transactions and agreements in respect of which a director or officer has a material interest.   Any interested director 

is required to declare the nature and extent of his interest and is not entitled to vote on any matter that is the subject 

of the conflict of interest. See “Directors and Executive Officers -“Conflicts of Interest” and “Risk Factors”.  

 

Nomination of Directors  

The Company’s management is in contact with individuals involved in the technology sector. From these sources 

management has made a number of contacts and in the event that the Company requires any new directors, such 

individuals will be brought to the attention of the Board of Directors. The Company will conduct reference and 

background checks on suitable candidates. New nominees generally must have a track record in business 
management, areas of strategic interest to the Company, the ability to devote the time required to carry out the 

obligations and responsibilities of a director and a willingness to serve in that capacity.  
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Other Board Committees  

Other than as disclosed herein, there are no other committees of the Board of Directors as of the date of this 

Prospectus.  

 

Assessments  
Neither the Company nor the Board of Directors has developed a formal review system to assess the performance of 

the directors or the Board of Directors as a whole. The contributions of individual directors are monitored by other 

members of the Board of Directors on an informal basis through observation. 

 

 

RISK FACTORS 

 

This section describes the material risks affecting the Company’s business, financial condition, operating results and 

prospects. 

 

The Company’s securities should be considered a highly speculative investment due to the nature of the Company’s 

business and its present operations. An investor should carefully review the risk factors set out below and all of the 
information disclosed in this Prospectus before making an investment decision. There may be other risks and 

uncertainties that are not known to the Company or that the Company currently believes are not material, but which 

also may have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, operating results or prospects.  

 

An investment in the Shares of the Company should only be made by persons who can afford a significant or 

total loss of their investment. There is no market through which the Shares may be sold. 

 

No Market for the Shares: There is no market through which the Shares may be sold and there are no assurances 

that any market will develop in the future. This means that there is no central place, such as a stock exchange or stock 

quotation system, to purchase or resell the Shares. This means that even if you locate a buyer or seller and negotiate 

your own sale, you may still not be allowed to sell the Shares or to pledge the Shares as collateral for a loan. 
Accordingly, an investment in the Shares should only be considered by investors who are able to bear the economic 

risk of a long-term investment and do not require liquidity. 

 

Risk of No Return on Investment: There is no assurance that the business of the Company will continue to be 

operated successfully, or that the business will continue to generate sufficient or any income to meet its obligations. 

There is no assurance that an investment in the Shares will earn a specified rate of return or any return over the life 

of the Company. 

 

Uncertainty of Additional Financing: There are no assurances that the Company’s future working capital will be 

adequate to execute its business plan or objectives as contemplated herein. The Company does not have any 

commitments to obtain additional financing and if required in future, there is no assurance that the Company will be 

able to arrange for such financing, or that such financing will be available on commercially reasonable terms. The 
failure to obtain such financing on a timely basis could have a material adverse effect on the Company. Equity financing 

and the additional issuance of equity securities will result in substantial dilution to the Company's shareholders. 

 
Global Financial Conditions: Global financial conditions over the last few years have been characterized by 

volatility and the bankruptcy of several financial institutions or the rescue thereof by governmental authorities. Now 

there is the universal threat of the COVID 19 virus and the severe disruptions it is causing in all aspects of life, for 
which there is no foreseeable end, to add to the financial uncertainty. These factors may affect the ability of the 

Company to obtain equity or debt financing in the future on terms favourable to it. Additionally, these factors, as well 

as other related factors, may cause decreases in asset values that are deemed to be other than temporary, which may 

result in impairment losses. If such levels of volatility and market turmoil continue, the operations of the Company 

may suffer adverse impact and the price of the Shares may be adversely affected 

 

Risks Specific to the Company 

 

Uncertainty of Use of Proceeds: Although the Company has set out its intended use of available funds in this 

Prospectus, the uses and figures provided are estimates only and are subject to change. While management does not 
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contemplate any material variation from such estimates, management retains broad discretion in the application of 

such proceeds. See “Use of Proceeds”. 

 

Negative Cash Flow: The company and EYEfi had a negative cash flow for the three months ended March 31, 2020 

and the Company had a negative cash flow for the two years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018. Given 
the disruption of the Covid 19 virus, there is no assurance the Company will be able to generate a positive cash flow 

from its expected and planned operations for the next twelve months. As a result the Company may be required to 

raise additional capital or other types of financing. There is no assurance that it will be available when needed or that 

these financings will be on terms favourable to the Company. Refer to: 

 

Reliance on the Directors and Officers: The Company has a small management team composed of the directors and 

the unexpected loss of any of these individuals would have a serious impact on the business. They are responsible for the 

successful operation of the Company. At present, there is no key-man insurance in place for any members of the 

management team. The loss of services of any of these personnel to develop the business and make appropriate decisions 

in respect of the management thereof could have a material adverse effect on the business of the Company.  

 

Conflicts of Interest: Other than the CEO, the directors and officers of the Company are not in any way limited or affected 
in their ability to carry on other transactions or business ventures for their own account or for the account of others. 

The CEO has signed an employment contract with a confidential covenant and a non- compete covenant.. Future 

conflicts of interest will be dealt with in accordance with applicable laws, statutes and regulations. 

 

Operational Risks: The Company will be affected by several operational risks against which it may not be adequately 

insured or for which insurance is not available, including: catastrophic accidents; fires; changes in the regulatory 

environment; impact of non-compliance with laws and regulations; labour disputes; natural phenomena such as 

inclement weather conditions, floods, earthquakes and ground movements. To this list we now have to add the Covid 

19 virus which is causing major disruption to international and national financial markets and the operations of many 

businesses.  

 
There is no assurance that the foregoing risks and hazards will not result in damage to, or destruction of, the Company’s 

premises, personal injury or death, environmental damage, resulting in adverse impacts on the Company’s operations, 

costs, monetary losses, potential legal liability and future cash flows, earnings and financial condition. The Company 

may also be subject to or affected by liability or sustain loss risks and hazards against which it cannot insure or which 

it may elect not to insure because of the cost. This lack of insurance coverage could have an adverse impact on the 

Company’s future cash flows, earnings, results of operations and financial condition. 

 

Covid 19 Virus Disruption 

 

Impacts Resulting from Ongoing COVID-19 Crisis The respiratory illness COVID-19 (also referred to as the 

“coronavirus”) has resulted in a widespread health crisis that has already adversely affected the economies and 

financial markets of many countries around the world. The international response to the spread of COVID-19 has led 
to significant restrictions on travel; temporary business closures; quarantines; global stock market and financial 

market volatility; a general reduction in consumer activity; operating, supply chain and project development delays 

and disruptions; and declining trade and market sentiment; all of which have and could further affect commodity 

prices, interest rates, credit ratings and credit risk. The continuing and additional business interruptions, expenses and 

delays relating to COVID-19, could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s operations and its operating 

results, financial condition and the market for its securities. As at the date of this Prospectus, the duration of the 

business disruptions and related financial impact of COVID-19 cannot be reasonably estimated. 

 

Some of the effects of the Covid 19 include:   

 

 uncertainty of how long the Covid 19  virus will  cause the current widespread disruption, 

 timely and novel government fiscal policy to deal with: shutdown of non-essential 

businesses,  high rates of unemployment, novel evolving wage programs for laid off workers, 

financial concessions to business, tax cuts and government spending,  

 central banks monetary policy reaction to the novel problems caused by the Covid 19 Virus to 

ensure adequate credit facilities to banks and other lenders;  



 

61 
 

 

 the ability of non- essential businesses, in particular small businesses, to withstand a lengthy 

shut down, 

 response of those sectors of the economy directly impacting business such as credit lines, 

interest rates and recurring expenses such as rent, property taxes, 

 novel difficulties for business  short and long term planning, 

 disruptions to supply chains affecting the ability to manufacture and sell products,  

 permanent loss of trained staff.  

 

This list is not exhaustive and is also subject to the almost daily evolving response of governments 

and health authorities to the Covid 19 Virus. 

 

The Covid 19 Virus and Supply Chains   

The Company is subject to disruption in its supply chains as it has offshore manufacturing and some development 

work. The Covid 19 virus is impacting our supply chain in terms of the EYEfi Sensor production (China/India) and 

electronic component supply. This is currently delaying our product launch plans with Fujitsu. There is no certainly 

as to when the supply chain disruption will be resolved. See “General Description of the Business” for a more detailed 
discussion of alternate sources and current delays. 

 

Insurance Risk: No claims have ever been made against the Company. There is always the possibility that the 

Company’s insurance may not be of a nature or level to provide adequate insurance cover. The occurrence of an event 

that is not covered or fully covered by insurance could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial 

condition and results of the Company. EYEfi has workman’s compensation insurance and professional indemnity 

insurance to AUS $10,000,000 per claim and in the annual aggregate and public liability insurance on an occurrence 

basis of not less than $10,000,000 per claim. The Company does not have key man insurance for its CEO who is 

instrumental to the Company’s operations and growth. The loss of his services would cause considerable disruption 

to the Company’s operations. 

 

Intellectual Property 
The ability of the Company to maintain or increase sales will depend in part on its ability to maintain and grow its 

brand equity through the use of its registered domain names and intellectual property. A loss of any of these may result 

in the Company’s brand equity being diminished and thus a loss of potential customers. As protection, the Company 

usually requires its employees and independent contractors to enter into confidentiality agreements, however it cannot 

be assured that the obligations therein will be maintained and honoured. In spite of confidentiality agreements and 

other methods of protecting trade secrets, the Company’s proprietary information could become known to or 

independently developed by competitors. 

 

Further, the Company’s competitors may have been granted patents protecting various product features, including 

methods and designs. If the Company’s products employ these processes, or other subject matter that is claimed under 

its competitors' patents, or if other companies obtain patents claiming subject matter that the Company uses, those 
companies may bring infringement actions against us. Whether a product infringes a patent involves complex legal 

and factual issues, the determination of which is often uncertain. In addition, because patent applications can take 

many years to issue, there may be applications now pending of which the Company is unaware, which might later 

result in issued patents that the Company’s products may infringe. If any of the Company’s products infringes a valid 

patent, it could be prevented from distributing that particular product, unless and until it can obtain a license or redesign 

the product in question to avoid infringement. A license may not be available or may require us to pay substantial 

royalties. Additionally, the Company may not be successful in any attempt to redesign the infringing product. 

Infringement and other intellectual property claims, with or without merit, can be expensive and time-consuming to 

litigate, and the Company may not have the financial and human resources to defend ourselves against any 

infringement suits that may be brought against us. 

 

Technology Risk:   

The Company is dependent upon network communication or internetworking for product connectivity. The network 

communication defines a set of protocols allowing application programs to talk to each other without regard to the 

hardware and operating systems where they are run. A disruption in the internetworking would have a serious 

impact on the Company’s services to its customers. 
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Cybersecurity Risk: EYEfi Cloud is a public cloud application and is subject to threats and attacks and data breaches 

that could affect for example delivery of service and supply lines. Security data is controlled by the cloud provider 
which could make it difficult to distinguish between everyday computing events and security events. The Company 

is constantly monitoring for security events. The Company is also subject to attacks by ransomware and the encrypting 

of data and hardware attacks that could affect computer chips. 

 

Management of Growth: The Company may experience a period of significant growth that will place a strain upon 

its management systems and resources. Its future will depend in part on the ability of its officers and directors to 

implement and improve financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures on a timely basis and 

to expand, train motivate and manage additional future staff.  The Company’s current and planned personnel, systems, 

procedures and controls may be inadequate to support its future operations regarding: funding product development 

to ensure timely release to the markets of its products and product iteration according to its plans; its ability to  recruit 

and scale quickly to ensure we maintain our competitive gap and sales/adoption with customers; supporting Channel 
Partners like Telstra with business development managers to secure sales; planning for government sales cycles which 

are slow and require additional time and resources; recruiting personnel and independent contractors as required;. 

 

Increases in Competition:  

There is significant competition from other much larger well established successful software and engineering 

companies with larger staff and resources to develop software and hardware equal to or superior to the Company’s. 

Any material deterioration in the Company’s competitive position could materially adversely affect the Company’s 

business, operating and financial performance. A list of some of the competitors is in “General Description of the 

Business”.  

 

Exposure to Adverse Macroeconomic Conditions: The Company is exposed to changes in general economic 

conditions in Australia and internationally and is affected by macroeconomic conditions such as tariffs and other trade 
barriers, economic recessions, downturns or extended periods of uncertainty or volatility, especially now with the 

Covid 19 virus, all of which may materially adversely affect the Company’s business, operating and financial 

performance.   

 

Acquisition Risk and Associated Risk of Dilution: The Company’s possible expansion strategy does not now 

include pursuing acquisitions but that could change in the future. The successful implementation of acquisitions will 

depend on a range of factors including acquisition costs, funding arrangements, business cultural compatibility and 

operational integration. To the extent acquisitions are not successfully integrated with the Company’s existing 

business, the financial performance of the Company could be materially adversely affected. Future acquisitions may 

involve the issue of Shares for consideration. In this event, Shareholders’ interests will be diluted. Shares may also be 

issued for other purposes such as debt reduction. Effective due diligence by the Company is ongoing to minimize the 
risk in integrating acquisition targets although this cannot be guaranteed.  

 

Currency Exchange Risk  
The Company’s operations are currently in Australia and New Zealand and are thus exposed to fluctuations in 

currency exchange rates, which could negatively affect its financial condition and results of operations. Fluctuations 

in the U. S $ exchange rate will affect the Company with respect to its supply chain and sales. In the event the 

operations expand outside of Australia, the currency exchange risk could increase.  

 

Unforeseen Expenses 

All expenses that the Company is aware of are taken into account. There is a risk that unforeseen expenses may 

develop which could materially negatively affect the business operations. 

 

Permits and Government Regulations 

There are currently no permits or government regulations in Canada and Australia that affect the Company’s 

operations beyond business license requirement and the requirements of the Act and Corporations Act, 2001 (Cth) 

Australia. 
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Environmental and Safety Regulations and Risks, Climate Change 

There are currently no environmental laws and regulations affect the operations of the Company. None are 

anticipated as the Company’s does not have physical operations other than business offices. The Company, like all 

other businesses and persons in the world is exposed to the effects of climate change. The direct effects on the 

Company’s business is not foreseeable at this time. EYEfi has systems of quality management, environmental 
management and occupational health and safety management consistent with New Zealand and Australia national 

ISO standards.  

 

Dividends 

The Company does not anticipate paying any dividends on its Shares in the near future. 

 

List Not Exhaustive 

The above list of risk factors ought not to be taken as exhaustive of the risks faced by the Company or by Shareholders. 

The above factors and others not specifically referred to above may in the future materially affect the financial 

performance of the Company and the value of the shares described by this Prospectus. Accordingly, the Shares under 

this Prospectus carry no guarantee with respect to the payment of dividends, return of capital or the market value of 

those Shares.  
 

Investors should consider that the investment in the Company is speculative, carefully consider the foregoing 

risk factors and should consult their professional advisers to assess income tax, legal and other aspects of an 

investment in the Shares before making financial decisions regarding a purchase of the Company’s Shares. 

 

 

PROMOTERS 

There are no promoters. 

 

 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS 
 

There are no legal proceedings, regulatory actions, pending legal proceedings, or regulatory actions to which the 

Company is or is likely to be a party. 

 

 

INTERESTS OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

 

There are no material interests, direct or indirect, of officers, senior officers, any shareholders who beneficially own, 

directly or indirectly, more than 10% of the outstanding Shares or any known associate or affiliate of such persons, 

in any transaction since incorporation or in any proposed transaction, which has materially affected or is reasonably 

expected to materially affect the Company. See “Business Description” and the disclosure therein. 

 

 

AUDITOR, TRANSFER AGENTS AND REGISTRAR 

 

Auditor 

 

The auditor of the Company is MNP LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants.  They are located at suite 300, 111 

Richmond Street West, Toronto, Ontario M5H 2G4. MNP was appointed the auditor of the Company on April 15, 

2020. 

 

Registrar and Transfer Agent and Escrow Agent 

 
The Transfer Agent and Registrar of the Company’s Shares and the Company’s Escrow Agent is Computershare 

Investor Services Inc., 3rd Floor, 510 Burrard Street, Vancouver, BC V6C 3B9 who will maintain the Company’s 

central securities register. 
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MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

 

The following are the material contracts of the Company and EYEfi that are outstanding as of the date of the 

Prospectus: 
 

(a) Escrow Agreement dated May 27, 2020 between the Company, the Escrow Agent and certain shareholders of 

the Company. See “Escrowed Securities and Other Securities Subject to Resale Restrictions on Transfer”. 

 

(b) Transfer Agent Agreement with Computershare Investor Services Ltd. dated May 27, 2020.  

 

(c) Agreement with Telstra Corporation Limited dated May 4, 2016 as revised June 5, 2019. See “General 

Description of the Business”. 

 

(d) Agreement with Fujitsu Australia Limited dated March 7, 2019. See “General Description of the Business”. 

 

(e) Agreement with Emergency Warning Systems Ltd. dated January 30, 2019. See “General Description of the 
Business”. 

 

(f) Agreement with CCP Network Australia Pty. Ltd. dated November 4, 2019. See “General Description of the 

Business”. 

 

(g) Loan Agreement for AUD $485,000 between the Company and Simon Langdon dated May 27, 2020. See 

“Directors and Executive Officers” for full details. 

 

 

EXPERTS 

 
The following persons or companies whose profession or business gives authority to a statement made by the person or 

company are named in the Prospectus as having prepared or certified a part of that document or a report of valuation 

described in the Prospectus: 

 

MNP LLP, Chartered Accountants, audited the year-end audited financial statements ended December 31, 2019 and 

for the period from the date of incorporation on October 4, 2018 to December 31, 2018 and conducted a review 

engagement report of the three month interim unaudited financial statements ended March 31, 2020. MNP LLP is a 

member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of British Columbia and as of the date of this Prospectus did not 

own or have any registered or beneficial interests, directly or indirectly, in any securities or other property of the 

Company. 

 

OTHER MATERIAL FACTS 
 

There are no further facts or particulars in respect of the Shares that are not already disclosed herein that are necessary 

to be disclosed for this Prospectus to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to such 

securities. 

 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

The financial statements of the Company attached to this Prospectus are: 

 

 The Company’s comparative interim unaudited financial statement for the quarter ending March 31, 2020. 

 The Company’s comparative audited, annual, comparative financial statements for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2019. 

 EYEfi’s comparative interim financial statement for the three months ended March 31, 2020. 

 EYEfi’s audited, annual, comparative financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019. 

 Proforma consolidated financial statements of the Company and EYEfi for the year ended December 31, 2019. 
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EYEFI Group Technologies Inc. 

(formerly 1181950 B.C. Ltd.) 
Unaudited Interim Condensed Financial Statements 

For the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019  

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 
 
  



EYEFI Group Technologies Inc. 
(formerly 1181950 B.C. Ltd.) 

Statements of Financial Position 
Expressed in Canadian Dollars 

  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed interim financial statements 

 

 

 

As at 

March 31, 2020 

 

As at 

December 31, 2019 

(Audited) 

Assets   

 

Cash   $        16,210  $           – 

Prepaid expenses    10,976         976 

Total Assets          27,186          976  

             

    

Liabilities    

Bank overdraft  $             –  $          31 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities           15,916           14,966  

Total Liabilities   15,916         14,997               

    

 

Equity / Deficit    

Share capital (including shares to be issued)   $       65,841  

                     

$           1 

Accumulated deficit  (54,571)  

                           

(14,022) 

Total Equity / Deficit   11,270         (14,021)               

    

Total Liabilities and Equity / Deficit  $       27,186  $        976 

  

                                                 

  

Approved by the Board of Directors  

 

 
“   ” 
Simon Langdon, Director 
 
“   ” 
James Hope, Director
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2 

 

  

 

Three months 

ended 

March 31, 

 2020 

 

 

Three months 

ended 

March 31,  

2019 

    

Other income    

Interest income 
 

        14                – 

 

 

Expenses      

Office and administration  $        83           $        48 

Management fees      34,500                    – 

Management consultant fees   1,500 – 

Rent   300 300 

Professional fees  4,150          – 

Foreign exchange loss  30 – 

Total expenses   
 

40,563                348 

Net loss and comprehensive loss  $    40,549 

              $       

348 

 

 



                                            EYEFI Group Technologies Inc. 
(formerly 1181950 B.C. Ltd.) 

 Unaudited Condensed Interim Statement of Changes in Deficit / Equity 

For the three months ended March 30, 2020 and 2019 
Expressed in Canadian Dollars 

  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed interim financial statements 

3 

Shares Amount Shares Amount

Accumulated 

Deficit Total Deficit

Balance, December 31, 2019 100 1$               -            -$              (14,022)$             (14,021)$          

Common shares issued for cash 3,000,000 60,000 73,000 5,840$       -                        65,840$           

Net loss for the period -              -             -            -            (40,549)$               (40,549)$          

Balance, March 31, 2020 3,000,100 60,001$    73,000 5,840$     (54,571)$             11,270$           

Share Capital Shares to be Issued

 
 

          Shares Amount

Accumulated 

Deficit Total Deficit

Balance, December 31, 2018 100 1$             (2,904)$          (2,903)$            

Net loss for the period -                         -            (348)$               (348)$                

Balance, March 31, 2019 100 1$             (3,252)$          (3,251)$            

Share Capital
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For the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 
Expressed in Canadian Dollars  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements 

4 

 
    
 
  March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019 

Cash flows related to the following activities:    

Operating activities    

Net loss  $ (40,549)       $       (348)                

 

Change in non-cash operating items:       

Bank overdraft  (31) – 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  950 348 

Prepaid expenses  (10,000) – 

 

Net cash flows used by operating activities  (49,630) – 

Financing activities    

Proceeds from common share issuances $ 65,840       $         –                

 

Net cash flows generated from financing activities  65,840 – 

Net change in cash  16,210 – 
 Cash, beginning of the period  – – 

Cash, end of period $ 16,210    $         – 
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(formerly 1181950 B.C. Ltd.) 
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1. Incorporation and operations 

EYEFI Group Technologies Inc. (formerly 1181950 B.C. Ltd.) (the “Company”) was incorporated on October 4, 2018 

under the laws of the Province of British Columbia, Canada by a Certificate of Incorporation issued pursuant to the 

provisions of the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) and changed its name from 1181950 B.C. Ltd. to EYEFI 

Group Technologies Inc. on January 8, 2020. The Company’s registered and head office is #390 - 825 Homer Street, 

Vancouver, BC V6B 2W2. The Company is a shell entity with no commercial or operational activity. 
 

2. Basis of preparation 

 

Statement of compliance 

These interim financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 have been prepared by 

management in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), including International Accounting Standard ("IAS") 34, Interim Financial 

Reporting. The same accounting policies and methods of computation were followed in the preparation of these interim 

financial statements as were followed in the preparation of the annual financial statements for the year ended December 

31, 2019 prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the IASB.  

The interim financial statements do not include all the information and disclosures required in the annual financial 
statements. Accordingly, these condensed interim financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 

2019 should be read together with the annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019.  

The preparation of interim financial statements in accordance with IAS 34 requires the use of certain critical accounting 

estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgment in applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areas 

involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 

financial statements are consistent with those disclosed in the notes to the annual financial statements for the year ended 

December 31, 2019. These interim financial statements were reviewed, approved and authorized for issue by the 

Company’s board of Directors on XX, 2020.  

Functional and presentation currency 

These interim financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation 

currency. 

Significant estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of these interim financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make certain 

estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 

contingent assets and liabilities. Estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s 

experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from 

these estimates. 

 

 

3. Related Party Transactions  

 

During the period ended March 31, 2020, the Company paid $300 for an office lease to a related company owned by a 

Director. 
 

There were no other transactions with related party and no remuneration was paid to key management 

personnel during the period ended March 31, 2020 and March 31, 2019.
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4. Financial Instruments and Risk Management   

 

Capital Management 

 

The Company’s objective when managing capital is to maintain its ability to continue as a going concern, in order to 

provide returns for the shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. The Company includes equity, comprised of share 

capital and deficit, in the definition of capital.  

 

The Company's primary objective, with respect to its capital management, is to ensure that it has sufficient cash resources 
to fund the identification and evaluation of potential acquisitions. To secure the additional capital necessary to pursue 

these plans, the Company may attempt to raise additional funds through the issuance of equity or by securing strategic 

partners. 

 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. As at March 31, 2020, 

the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents is carried at fair value. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

approximate their fair value due to their short-term nature. 

 

5. Subsequent events          

On April 24, 2020 the Company issued 177,500 shares at a price of $0.08 per share and received subscription funds of 

$14,200. 

On April 30, 2020 the Company issued 825,500 shares at a price of $0.08 per share and received subscription funds of 

$66,040. 

The Company entered a Share Swap Agreement dated March 4, 2020, which will it allow it to acquire the issued and 

outstanding ordinary shares of EYEfi Pty Ltd., a software and engineering company that has developed, patented and 

commercialized innovative spatial, predictive, approximation and radial convolution technology called SPARC and an 

associated product suite that turns any sensor, camera or smartphone device (fixed, mobile, airborne, portable or 

handheld) into a target co-ordinate acquisition system. 

The Share Swap Agreement closed on May 27, 2020. 19,002,500 shares were issued to the shareholders of EYEfi Pty. 

Ltd. In exchange for 100% of the ordinary shares of EYEfi Pty Ltd. 
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1.1 Date 

 

This Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of EYEFI Technologies Group Inc.  (the “Company”) has been 

prepared by management as of March 31, 2020 and should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements 

and related notes thereto of the Company for the period from incorporation on October 4, 2018 to December 31, 2018 

and December 31, 2019, which was prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 

as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and International Financial Reporting 

Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). 

This MD&A contains forward-looking information which reflects management's expectations regarding the Company’s 

growth, results of operation, performance and business prospects and opportunities. The use of words such as 

“anticipate”, “continue”, “estimate", "expect”, “may”, “will”, “project”, “should”, believe”, outlook”, “forecast” and 

similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.  

Forward-looking statements in this MD&A include, but not limited to, the Company’s expectation of future activities 

and results, of its working capital needs and its ability to identify, evaluate and pursue suitable business opportunity. 

Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual 

results of events to differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements. Readers should not put 

undue reliance on forward-looking information. 

All amounts in this MD&A are presented in Canadian dollars (“CAD”). The financial statements are presented for the 

Quarterly period January 1, 2020 to March 31, 2020. The Company’s fiscal year end is December 31. 

Historical results of operations and trends that may be inferred from the following discussion and analysis may not 

necessarily indicate future results from operations. 

 

1.2 Overall Performance 

 

The Company was incorporated on October 4, 2018 under the laws of the Province of British Columbia, Canada by a 

Certificate of Incorporation issued pursuant to the provisions of the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) 

1.3 Selected Annual Information 

 

 For the quarterly period from 

 January 1, 2020 – March 31, 2020 

Loss for the period $ (40,549) 

Loss per share $ (0.01) 

Current assets $27,186 

Total assets $27,186  

Total current liabilities $15,916  

 

Current assets consist of cash on hand in the amount of $16,210 and prepaid expenses of $10,976. 

 

1.4 Results of Operations 

 

Period from January 1, 2020 to March 31, 2020 

During the period from January 1, 2020 to March 31, 2020, the Company reported a loss of $40,549 which was 

comprised of a loss on foreign exchange of $30, interest income of $14, expenses including Success fees in the amount 

of $34,500,  consultant fees of $1,500, accounting and professional fees of $4,150 bank charges of $83 and office rental 

of $300.
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1.5 Summary of Quarterly Results 

 

The information herein represents the results for the first quarter of 2020.  

 

1.6 Liquidity and Capital Resources 

 

As at March 31, 2020, the Company had working capital of $11,270.  The current liabilities include consulting fees of 

$1,500, accounting and professional fees of $11,576, and expense reimbursement owing to director of $2,840.  

The Company may continue to have capital requirements in excess of its currently available resources. In the event the 

Company’s plans change, its assumptions change or prove inaccurate, or its capital resources in addition to projected 

cash flow, if any, prove to be insufficient to fund operations, the Company may be required to seek additional financing. 

There can be no assurance that the Company will have sufficient financing to meet its future capital requirements or that 

additional financing will be available on terms acceptable to the Company in the future.   

 

1.7 Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

 

The Company does not utilize off-balance sheet arrangements. 

 

1.8 Risk and Uncertainties 

 

The Company’s financial performance is likely to be subject to the following risks: 

 The Company has not generated any significant revenue and has incurred significant losses since inception. 

 Although management of the Company is working diligently to complete the business transaction, there is no 

assurance that a definitive agreement will be entered into nor completed. 

The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarized below:  

 

Credit risk  

The Company is exposed to credit risk by holding cash, which is held in trust with Canadian legal counsel, and in a 

Canadian bank account. Management believes there is no exposure to credit risk with respect to its cash balances. 

 

Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company is unable to meet its financial obligations as they come due.  The Company 

manages this risk by careful management of its working capital to ensure its expenditures will not exceed available 

resources.   

 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the Company’s exposure to changes in results of operations because of fluctuating interest rates. The 

Company has no variable interest-bearing financial instruments and is therefore not exposed to interest rate risk. 

 

Currency risk 

The Company does not have assets or liabilities in a foreign currency and therefore is not exposed to foreign currency 

risk. 
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1.9 Transactions with Related Parties 

  

During the period ended March 31, 2020, the Company paid $300 for an office lease to a related company owned by a 

Director. 

  

1.10 Subsequent Events  
 

On April 24, 2020 the Company issued 177,500 shares at a price of $0.08 per share and received subscription funds of 

$14,200. 

On April 30, 2020 the Company issued 825,500 shares at a price of $0.08 per share and received subscription funds of 

$66,040. 

The Company entered a Share Swap Agreement dated March 4, 2020, which will it allow it to acquire the issued and 
outstanding ordinary shares of EYEfi Pty Ltd., a software and engineering company that has developed, patented and 

commercialized innovative spatial, predictive, approximation and radial convolution technology called SPARC and an 

associated product suite that turns any sensor, camera or smartphone device (fixed, mobile, airborne, portable or 

handheld) into a target co-ordinate acquisition system. 

The Share Swap Agreement closed on May 27, 2020. 19,002,500 shares were issued to the shareholders of EYEfi Pty. 

Ltd. In exchange for 100% of the ordinary shares of EYEfi Pty Ltd. 

 

1.11 Critical Accounting Estimates 

 

Not applicable to venture issuers.  

 

1.12 Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption 

 

The financial information presented in this MD&A has been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards. Our significant accounting policies are set out in Note 2 of the financial statements of the 

Company, as at and for the period ended March 31, 2020. 

 

1.13 Financial Instruments and Other Instruments 

 

The Company classifies and measures its financial instruments as follows:  

Asset/Liability Measurement Category Subsequent 

measurement 

Cash FVTPL Fair value 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Amortized cost Amortized cost 
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1.14 Other Requirements 

 

Summary of Outstanding Share Data as of date of this MD&A:  

Authorized: Unlimited number of common shares without par value. 

Issued and outstanding: 3,000,100 common shares. 

 

The board of directors approved this MD&A on **, 2020 



Schedule C 

Interim unaudited statements to March 31, 2020 of EYEfi Pty. Ltd.  

  



    
    
    
    
 

 

  
  
  
  
  
  

EYEfi Pty Ltd 
  

ABN 36 114 673 684 
  
  
  
  

Quarterly Financial Report - 31 March 2020 
  



EYEfi Pty Ltd 
Contents 
31 March 2020 
 

  

  
1 

Statement of comprehensive income 2 
Statement of financial position 3 
Statement of changes in equity 4 
Statement of cash flows 5 
Notes to the financial statements 6 
Directors' declaration 9 
  
 

General information 
  
The financial statements cover EYEfi Pty Ltd as an individual entity. The financial statements are presented in Australian 
Dollars, which is EYEfi Pty Ltd.'s functional and presentation currency. 
  
EYEfi Pty Ltd is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its registered office and principal place 
of business are: 
  
Registered office  Principal place of business 
   
C/ - DLK Advisory Pty Ltd 
Level 10, 99 Queen Street 
Melbourne Vic 3000 Australia 

 Unit 1, 255 Wellington Street 
Collingwood Vic 3066 Australia 

  
A description of the nature of the company's operations and its principal activities are included in the directors' report, which 
is not part of the financial statements. 
  
The financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors, on ___________________ 
2020. 
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Note 

 
31 March 

2020 

 31 March 
2019 

(unreviewed) 
  $  $ 
     

The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
2 

Revenue     
Sales from rendering services  52,667   55,474  
Cost of sales  (37,908)  (57,987) 
     
Gross profit  14,759   (2,513) 
  
Other income  22,288   (8) 
  
Expenses     
Administration  (128,158)  (43,960) 
Depreciation and amortisation  (84,410)  (6,679) 
Employee benefits expense  (97,491)  (16,480) 
  
Profit/(loss) from ordinary activities before loan forgiveness expense  (273,012)  (69,640) 
  
Loan forgiveness expense  -    (112,666) 
  
Profit/(loss) before income tax (expense)/benefit  (273,012)  (182,306) 
  
Income tax (expense)/benefit  84,538   55,086  
  
Profit/(loss) after income tax (expense)/benefit for the period attributable to the 
owners of EYEfi Pty Ltd 

 
(188,474) 

 
(127,220) 

  

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period, net of tax  -    -   
  
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period attributable to the owners of EYEfi 
Pty Ltd 

 
(188,474) 

 
(127,220) 

  
Basic earnings per share                                                                                                     7  (0.08)  (0.05) 
  
Diluted earnings per share                                                                                                   7  (0.08)  (0.05) 
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Note 
 31 March 

2020 
 31 December 

2019 
    $  $ 
       

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
3 

Assets       
       
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents    408,477   121,448  
Trade and other receivables    196,671   186,436  
Income tax receivable    110,557   -   
Amounts receivable for the issue of preference shares    -    460,000  
Total current assets    715,705   767,884  
       
Non-current assets       
Plant and equipment    52,160   52,847  
Intangibles    1,396,738   1,467,837  
Deferred tax asset    144,538   141,006  
Right-of-use assets    121,290   130,620  
Total non-current assets    1,714,726   1,792,310  
       
Total assets    2,430,431   2,560,194  
  

Liabilities       
       
Current liabilities       
Trade and other payables    241,736   184,471  
Lease liabilities    34,054   40,229  
Income tax payable    -    3,936  
Employee benefits provisions    178,438   165,217  
Income in advance    336,760   336,760  
Convertible preference shares  3  1,000,000   1,000,000  
Total current liabilities    1,790,988   1,730,613  
       
Non-current liabilities       
Lease liabilities    92,295   93,959  
Total non-current liabilities    92,295   93,959  
       
Total liabilities    1,883,283   1,824,572  
  
Net assets    547,148   735,622  

  

Equity       
Issued capital    2,500,012   2,500,012  
Accumulated losses    (1,952,864)  (1,764,390) 
       
Total equity    547,148   735,622  
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The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
4 

  Issued  Accumulated  
Total equity   capital  losses  

  $  $  $ 
       
Balance at 1 January 2019  2,500,012  (1,427,229)  1,072,783 
       
Profit/(loss) after income tax (expense)/benefit for the period (unreviewed)  -  (127,220)  (127,220) 
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period, net of tax (unreviewed)  -  -  - 
       
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period (unreviewed)  -  (127,220)  (127,220) 
       
Balance at 31 March 2019 (unreviewed)  2,500,012  (1,554,449)  945,563 

  
  Issued  Accumulated   

Total equity   capital  losses  
  $  $  $ 
       
Balance at 1 January 2020  2,500,012  (1,764,390)  735,622 
       
Profit/(loss) after income tax (expense)/benefit for the period  -  (188,474)  (188,474) 
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period, net of tax  -  -  - 
       
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period  -  (188,474)  (188,474) 
       
Balance at 31 March 2020  2,500,012  (1,952,864)  547,148 
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31 March 

2020 

 31 March 
2019 

(unreviewed) 
  $  $ 
     

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
5 

Cash flows from operating activities     
Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST)  58,736   68,529  
Payments to suppliers (inclusive of GST)  (182,240)  (57,102) 
Finance costs  (3,880)  (4,540) 
Income taxes paid  (37,749)  (7,960) 
     
Net cash used in operating activities  (165,133)  (1,073) 
  

 

 

  

Cash flows from financing activities     
Proceeds from issue of preference shares  460,000   -   
Lease payments  (7,838)  -   
     
Net cash from financing activities  452,162   -   
  

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  287,029   (1,073) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial period  121,448   11,906  
     
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial period  408,477   10,833  
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Note 1. Significant accounting policies 
  
These general purpose financial statements for the interim three-month reporting period ended 31 March 2020 have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard IAS 34 'Interim Financial Reporting' as appropriate 
for for-profit oriented entities. They do not include all the information required in annual financial statements and should be 
read in conjunction with the financial statements of the company for the year ended 31 December 2019. 
  
The principal accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year and corresponding interim 
reporting period, unless otherwise stated. 
  
New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 
The company has adopted no new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the International 
Financial Reporting Standards as no new standards or interpretations have a significant impact on the entity. 
  

Note 2. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
  
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in 
relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and 
assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal 
the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next financial year are 
discussed below. 
  
Recovery of deferred tax assets 
Deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences only if the company considers it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. The company’s tax year is yet to 
end, within which there is an expectation of profitable trade. As such, carry-forward losses have been recorded as a current 
tax asset. 
  
Significant events and transactions 
The Company may be affected by operational disruptions caused by the COVID-19 virus which is causing disruption to 
international and national financial markets and the operations of many businesses. 
  
COVID-19 virus disruption 
The respiratory illness COVID-19 (also referred to as the “coronavirus”) has resulted in a widespread health crisis that has 
already adversely affected the economies and financial markets of many countries around the world. The international 
response to the spread of COVID-19 has led to significant restrictions on travel; temporary business closures; quarantines; 
global stock market and financial market volatility; a general reduction in consumer activity; operating, supply chain and 
project development delays and disruptions; and declining trade and market sentiment; all of which have and could further 
affect commodity prices, interest rates, credit ratings and credit risk. 
 
Management believes that the company is well positioned to cope with a downturn in the economy. 
Factors contributing to the company’s strong position are: 
• the company has long-term contracts with a number of its existing customers 
• the company’s major customers have not experienced financial difficulties. Credit quality of trade receivables as at 31 
March 2020 is considered to be good. 
  
Despite the COVID-19 disruptions, the directors still believe the company is a going concern due to the strong position of the 
company’s working capital (excluding preference shares and deferred revenue), and its ability to capture and fulfil its order 
book. The company’s major customers have not been significantly disrupted by COVID-19 nor have they altered their 
contracts with the company, as such the company does not expect significant COVID-19 disruptions to operations and 
financially. The COVID-19 disruptions have had no impact on the company’s March 2020 quarter operations.  
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Note 3. Convertible preference shares 
  

 
 31 March 

2020 
 31 December 

2019 
  $  $ 
     
Preference shares  1,000,000   1,000,000  

  
On 12 August 2019, the Company issued 1 million convertible preference shares with a par value of $1 per share, of which: 
  
●  $460,000 was paid on issue date; 
●  $460,000 was deferred and paid 10 days after 1 January 2020; and 
●  The remaining $80,000 as non-cash share-based payments earned by corporate advisors for services rendered. 
  
Conversion date of preference shares to ordinary shares is 3 years from the date of agreement or at any time before that 
date subject to the following: 
  
●  Either EBITDA or Revenue of the Company is equal to or greater than 75% of $7,395,267 or $11,329,217 respectively, 

such that the total of all ordinary shares held by new shareholders is equal to 20% of the total ordinary shares in the 
company. 

●  Both EBITDA and Revenue of the Company are each less than 75% of $7,395,267 or $11,329,217 respectively, such 
that the total of all ordinary shares held by the new shareholders is equal to 25% of the total ordinary shares in the 
company; or 

●  The company completes a fundraising act on or before conversion date, with the company or business being valued 
(immediately before the fundraising act) at: 

  - Greater than or equal to $5 million (on an equity-based valuation), such that the total of all ordinary shares held by 
new shareholders is equal to 20% of the total ordinary shares in the company subsequent to the fundraising act; or 

  - Less than $5 million (on an equity-based valuation), such that the total of all ordinary shares held by new shareholders 
is equal to 25% of the total ordinary shares in the company subsequent to the fundraising act. 

  
These convertible preference shares have no cash redemption requirements. 
  

Pursuant to the Share Swap Agreement dated 4 March 2020, the reverse takeover of EYEfi was completed on ….. May 
2020 with the Company becoming the wholly owned subsidiary of EYEfi Group Technologies Inc. On this date, the 
$1,000,000 preference shares were converted to ordinary shares in accordance with Clause 4 of Preference Share 
Agreement. 
 

Note 4. Operating segments 
  
The company has one operating segment: software and electronics engineering services. In identifying the operating 
segment, management generally follows the company’s service line representing Spatial Video Platform and IIoT Sensor 
Cloud services. The company aims to solve critical problems for government and industry customers operating in 
infrastructure and asset management, emergency management and incident response markets. The company operates in 
the Oceania region, which is situated in Asia-Pacific region. 
  
The operations of the segment are monitored by the Company’s chief operating decision maker and strategic decisions are 
made based on reporting results. During the three month period to 31 March 2020, there have been no changes from prior 
periods to measurement methods used to determine the segment’s profit or loss. 
  
Major customer 
During the period ended 31 March 2020, at least 90% (2019: At least 90%) of the company’s revenue was derived from one 
major customer, being Telstra Corporation Limited (Telstra). Telstra is an Australian telecommunications company which 
builds and operates telecommunications networks and markets voice, mobile, internet access, pay television and other 
products and services. 
  

Note 5. Contingent liabilities 
  
The company had no significant contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2020 and 31 December 2019. 
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Note 6. Related party transactions 
  
The IIoT Sensor Cloud IP held through a related party of Simon Langdon’s, Conxsme Pty Ltd, was transferred to EYEfi at 
market value on 31 December 2019 by offsetting outstanding related party loans owed to EYEfi. Following this IP transfer, 
all other related party loans were forgiven by 31 December 2019 in accordance with the executed Preference Share 
Agreement dated 12 August 2019. The only related party loan existing as at 31 March 2020 is a loan with Conxsme Pty Ltd 
of $140,000 (being the GST component on IP transfer). 
  

Note 7. Earnings per share 
  

 
 31 March 

2020 
 31 March 

2019 
  $  $ 
     
Basic earnings per share     
Total basic earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity of shareholders of the 
company 

 
(0.08) 

 
(0.05) 

  
Diluted earnings per shares     
Total diluted earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity of shareholders of the 
company 

 
(0.08) 

 
(0.05) 

  
Reconciliation of earnings used in calculation of earnings per share     
Earnings used  (188,474)  (127,220) 

  
Weighted average number of shares used as denominator     
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating both 
basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share 

 
2,500,012  

 
2,500,012  

  
Accounting policy 
Basic earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit/loss attributable to owners of the company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial period, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares 
issued during the period and excluding treasury shares. 
  
Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share take into account: 
●  the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares; and 
●  the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion 

of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
  

Note 8. Events after the reporting period 
 

Since 31 March 2020, the related party Conxsme Pty Ltd loan has been substantially repaid and the current balance 
outstanding is $6,963. 
 
Pursuant to the Share Swap Agreement dated 4 March 2020, the reverse takeover of EYEfi was completed on 27 May 
2020 with the Company becoming the wholly owned subsidiary of EYEfi Group Technologies Inc. On this date, the 
$1,000,000 preference shares were converted to ordinary shares in accordance with Clause 4 of Preference Share 
Agreement. 
 

Other than disruptions to operations caused by the COVID-19 virus and reverse takeover mentioned above, no other matter 
or circumstance has arisen since 31 March 2020 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the company's 
operations, the results of those operations, or the company's state of affairs in future financial years. 
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In the directors' opinion: 
  
●  the attached financial statements and notes comply with the International Financial Reporting Standards IAS 34 'Interim 

Financial Reporting' and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; 
  
●  the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the company's financial position as at 31 March 

2020 and of its performance for the financial period ended on that date; and 
  
●  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 

and payable. 
  
On behalf of the directors 
  
  
  
  
___________________________ 
Simon Langdon, CEO 
 
  
___________________ 2020 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 

For the three months ended March 31, 2020 
 
 
Overview 

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) provides additional analysis of the 
operations, financial position and financial performance of EYEFI Pty Ltd. (“EYEFI” or the “Company”) for 
the three months ended March 31, 2020.  It is supplementary information and should be read in 
conjunction with the Company’s financial statements and accompanying notes for the three months 
ended March 31, 2020 and March 31, 2019.  

This MD&A is the responsibility of the management. The Board of Directors carries out its responsibility 
for the review of this disclosure principally through its audit committee which is comprised of a majority of 
independent directors. The audit committee reviews and, prior to its publication and pursuant to the 
authority delegated to it by the Board of Directors, approves this disclosure. 
 
EYEFI was incorporated pursuant to the Australian Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) on June 8, 2006 with 
incorporation number ACN (Australian Corporation Number) 114 673 684. On January 4, 2007 its name 
was changed from Landmark Security (AUS) Pty. Ltd. to its current name. Its head office is located at Unit 
1, 255 Wellington Street, Collingwood, Victoria 3066 Australia. Its registered office is located at C/O - DLK 
Advisory Pty. Ltd., Level 10, 99 Queen Street, Melbourne, Victoria 3000, Australia.  
 
Business of the Company 
 
EYEFI is a software and engineering company that has developed, patented and commercialized 
innovative spatial, predictive, approximation and radial convolution technology called SPARC and an 
associated product suite that turns any sensor, camera or smartphone device (fixed, mobile, airborne, 
portable or handheld) into a target co-ordinate acquisition system.  SPARC solves critical problems for 
government and industry customers operating in infrastructure and asset management, emergency 
management and incident response markets. As an example, it has developed an IIoT hardware sensor 
(EYEfi Sensor) product and Cloud application called Smart Waste for waste management. 
 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

 
Matters may be included in this MD&A that constitute "forward-looking" information within the 
meaning of Canadian securities law.  Such forward-looking statements may be identified by words 
such as "plans", "proposes", "estimates", "intends", "expects", "believes", "may" or words of a similar 
nature.  There can be no assurance that such statements will prove to be accurate. Actual results and 
future events could differ materially from such statements.  Factors that could cause actual results to 
differ materially include among others, regulatory risks, risk inherent in foreign operations, commodity 
prices and competition. Most of these factors are outside the control of the Company.  All subsequent 
forward-looking statements attributable to the Company or its agents are expressly qualified in their 
entirety by these cautionary comments.  Except as otherwise required by applicable securities statutes 
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or regulation, the Company expressly disclaims any intent or obligation to update publicly forward-
looking information, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. 

 

Overall Performance in the First Quarter 2020 
 
The revenues of EYEFI decreased slightly to $52,667 or 5% during the quarter ending March 31, 2020  
compared to revenues of $55,474 during the quarter ending March 31, 2019, due to there being some ad-
hoc project income in the previous corresponding period. Cost of sales also decreased to 37.9% of 
revenue during the quarter ending March 31, 2020 2019 from 104.5% of revenue in the quarter ending 
March 31, 2020. This was due to this period reflecting normal ongoing contract billing of subscription fees, 
which have a lower cost of goods sold. 
 
At March 31, 2020, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $408,477.  
 

The EYEFI Business  
 
During the first quarter ending March 31, 2020, the Company initiated a plan to file a prospectus with the 
Bristish Colombia Securities Commission (the “BCSC”). This non‐offering prospectus (the “Prospectus”) 
of EYEFI Group Technologies Inc., a planned parent company (the “Company” or “EYEFI”) is being filed 
with the British Columbia Securities Commission (the “BCSC”). The filing is to comply with Policy 2 – 
Qualifications for Listing of the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “CSE”) in order for the Company to 
meet one of the eligibility requirements for the listing of the Shares on the CSE by becoming a Reporting 
Company as defined herein, pursuant to the applicable securities legislation in the Province of British 
Columbia.  Upon receipt of this Prospectus by the BCSC, the Company will become a Reporting 
Company in British Columbia.  
 
No securities are being offered pursuant to this Prospectus. As such, no proceeds will be raised, and all 
expenses incurred in connection with the preparation and filing of this Prospectus will be paid by the 
Company from its general corporate funds.  
 
An application has been filed by the Company to have its Shares listed for trading on the Canadian 
Securities Exchange (“CSE”). Listing will be subject to the Company fulfilling all the listing requirements 
of the CSE, including, without limitation, the distribution of the Shares to a minimum number of public 
shareholders and the Company meeting certain financial and other requirements. 
 
During the quarter, EYEfi continued to develop its product suite and channel partner relationships. 
 
The business and operations of the Company is a software and engineering company that has 
developed, patented and commercialized an innovative spatial, predictive, approximation and radial 
convolution technology called SPARC and associated product suite that turns any sensor, camera or 
smartphone device (fixed, mobile, airborne, portable or handheld) into a target co-ordinate acquisition 
system. SPARC solves critical problems for government and industry customers operating in 
infrastructure and asset management, emergency management and incident response markets. It has 
also developed an Industrial Internet of Things (IIoT) hardware sensor (EYEfi Sensor) product and Cloud 
application called smart waste for waste bins and Smart Drain for storm water pits and is rolling out this 
technology in Australia and New Zealand 
 
The Company’s office of operations is at Unit 1, 255 Wellington Street, Collingwood, Victoria 3066 
Australia operates in Australia. 
 
The primary business objectives for EYEFI over the next 12 months is to identify and secure large 
resellers that can provide access to new customers and markets (“Channel Partners”) in North America 
and eventually, other regions around the world. As such, our initial business development activities 
focused on: 
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(i) growing our existing customers and Channel Partners (ie. Resellers), including migration of 

existing legacy customers to new contracts via our Channel Partners; 
(ii) new growth opportunities, such as securing new Channel Partners in North America; 
(iii) employment of Business Development Managers (streamlined sales force) and consultants 

in Australia, NZ and North America to help secure and develop our Channel Partners, and 
to assist these partners in identifying and closing targeted sales opportunities; 

(iv) launching of our latest (2020) product releases; and 
(v) exploring acquisition opportunities to help build scale and distribute EYEfi’s products.   

 
 
The following is a summary of selected financial information for EYEFI over the past three financial years 
ended December 31 extracted from the audited financial statements of EYEFI. 

 
 2019 2018 2017   

Total Revenues $969,082 $1,536,638 $1,000,585   

Gross Profit $685,635 $1,214,847 $704,780   

Administration Expense $193,578 $217,260 $278,051   

Comprehensive Income (loss) after tax ($337,161) $577,497 ($41,991)   

      
                  
 

Intellectual Property 
 
EYEfi’s International Patents 

 

EYEfi has registered patents in USA, Canada, China, Japan, South Korea, Australia and New Zealand. EYEfi has 

also established large global resellers for its products. It is well positioned to expands its reseller network into 

new markets and also established licensing of its technology to large customers.  

 
PATENT 

NUMBER 

COUNTRY APPLICANT/ASSIGNEE TITLE  FILING/EXP 

DATE 

STATUS 

9,058,689 USA EYEfi Pty Ltd SPATIAL PREDICTIVE APPROXIMATION 

AND RADIAL CONVOLUTION 

16 June 2009/ 

16 June 2029 

Granted on 16 

June 2015 

2,727,687 Canada EYEfi Pty Ltd SPATIAL PREDICTIVE APPROXIMATION 

AND RADIAL CONVOLUTION 

16 June 2009/ 

16 June 2029 

Granted on 14 

November 2017 

           

ZL 

20098013199.4 

China EYEfi Pty Ltd SPATIAL PREDICTIVE APPROXIMATION 

AND RADIAL CONVOLUTION 

16 June 2009/ 

16 June 2029 

Granted on 25 

December 2013 

           

5575758 Japan EYEfi Pty Ltd SPATIAL PREDICTIVE APPROXIMATION 

AND RADIAL CONVOLUTION 

16 June 2009/ 

16 June 2029 

Granted on 11 

July 2014 

           

10-1663669  South 

Korea 

EYEfi Pty Ltd SPATIAL PREDICTIVE APPROXIMATION 

AND RADIAL CONVOLUTION 

16 June 2009/ Granted on 30 

September 2016 
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16 June 2029 

           

2009260182 Australia EYEfi Pty Ltd SPATIAL PREDICTIVE APPROXIMATION 

AND RADIAL CONVOLUTION 

16 June 2009/ 

16 June 2029 

Granted on 10 

March 2016 

           

590428 New 

Zealand 

EYEfi Pty Ltd SPATIAL PREDICTIVE APPROXIMATION 

AND RADIAL CONVOLUTION 

16 June 2009/ 

16 June 2029 

Granted on 4 

March 2014 
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EYEfi’s Trademarks  

 

TRADEMARK 

NUMBER 
MARK CLASS DESCRIPTION 

FILING 

DATE 
STATUS 

1103375 EYEFfi® 
CLASS 9 

and 38 

Class: 9 Camera system - mounted on pole, trailer, in 

ground or any other suitable structure, permanent or semi-

permanent installation connected to network by wireless, 

Wi-Fi, mobile data network and/or fixed line or any other 

suitable communications network, standalone or hosted 

video switching control software with remote user access 

and content management service. 

 

Class: 38 Communications by fibre (fibre) optic networks; 

net casting (broadcasting over a global computer network); 

providing telecommunications connections to a global 

computer network; providing user access to a global 

computer network (service providers); switching network 

services (telecommunications); telecommunications 

security (providing secure connections and access 

including to computers and the global computer network); 

web portal services (providing user access to a global 

computer network); webcasting (broadcasting over a 

global computer network) 

14 March 

2006 
Registered 

1103370 
 

CLASS 9 

and 38 

Class: 9 Camera system - mounted on pole, trailer, in 

ground or any other suitable structure, permanent or semi-

permanent installation connected to network by wireless, 

Wi-Fi, mobile data network and/or fixed line or any other 

suitable communications network, standalone or hosted 

video switching control software with remote user access 

and content management service.  

 

Class: 38 Communications by fibre (fibre) optic networks; 

net casting (broadcasting over a global computer network); 

providing telecommunications connections to a global 

computer network; providing user access to a global 

computer network (service providers); switching network 

services (telecommunications); telecommunications 

security (providing secure connections and access 

including to computers and the global computer network); 

web portal services (providing user access to a global 

computer network); webcasting (broadcasting over a 

global computer network) 

14 March 

2006 
Registered 

1553152 Spatialeye® EYEfi Pty Ltd 

Global positioning system (GPS) apparatus; Application 

software; Computer programmes (programs) and recorded 

software distributed online; Computer programs 

(downloadable software); Computer software downloaded 

from the internet; Personal computer application software; 

Target location apparatus (electronic); Distance measuring 

apparatus; Electronic distance measuring apparatus; 

Coordinate measuring apparatus 

3 May 2013 Registered 

 
 
The company is working on further developing its patents, core Intellectual Property (IP) and various 
algorithms and trade secrets, and will be registering further trademarks as it commercialises products with 
Channel Partners in various regions around the globe.   
 

Results of Operations 
 
EYEFI had sales from rendering services of $52,667 and matching cost of sales of $37,908 for a gross 
profit of $14,759 for the quarter ending March 31, 2020.  Sales from rendering services for the quarter 
ended March 31, 2019 was $55,474 with cost of sales of $57,987 for a gross loss of $2,513. The increase 
in gross profit of $17,272 was mainly due to the decrease in cost of sales from 104% to 71.9%. The high 
cost of sales in the quarter ended March 31, 2019 was due to one-off IIoT Sensor Cloud development 
costs. 
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The Company's other source of revenue (expense) relates to the Australian Government’s COVID-19 
cash flow boost for the quarter ended March 2020 of $22,288 and other foreign exchange movements in 
2019 of ($8). 

 
Administrative expenses of $128,158 for the quarter ended March 31, 2020 (March 31, 2019 - $43,960). 
The increase of $84,198 related to a increase in one-off accounting services of $58,500 (note $34,000 will 
be taken as equity following completion of the Share Swap Agreement dated 4 March 2020), audit 
expenses of $17,600, legal expenses of $5,500 and other general expenses.  
 
Employee benefits expense was $97,491 for the quarter ended March 31, 2020 (March 31, 2019 – 
$16,480). The increase of $81,011 was mainly due to an increase in salaries of $56,000 and the balance 
represented adjustments to annual and long service leave in line with accounting standards. 
 
Income tax benefit was $84,538 for the quarter ended March 31, 2020 (March 31, 2019 - $55,086) 
 
As a result of the foregoing, the Company recorded a net comprehensive loss after tax of $188,474 
($0.08 per share) for the March 31, 2020 quarter compared to net comprehensive loss after tax of 
$127,220 ($0.05 per share) for the March 31, 2019 quarter. 
 

Summary of Quarterly Information 
 
 
 Q1 2020 Q4 

2019 

Q3  

2019 

Q2  

2019 

Q1 

2019 

Q4 

2018 

Q3 

2018 

Q2 

2018 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Sales from rendering 

services 

 

52,667 

 

84,501 

 

11,491 

 

817,616 

 

55,474 77,535 

 

56,912 

 

1,217,103 

Other income (expense) 22,288 - - 2,132 (8) - - 4,438 

Total Sales and other 

income 
 

74,955 
 

84,501 
 

11,491 
 

819,749 
 

55,466 77,535 
 

56,902 
1,221,541 

Net Comprehensive 

Income (Loss) 

 

(188,474) 

 

(593,748) 

 

(302,049) 

 

685,856 

 

(127,220) (266,275) 

 

(88,095) 

 

839,251 

         

Per Share (0.08) (0.24) (0.12) 0.27 (0.05) (0.11) (0.04) 0.34 

Per Share diluted (0.08) (0.24) (0.12) 0.27 (0.05) (0.11) (0.04) 0.34 

         

 
Revenues at EYEFI are subject to the influences of Australian economic conditions and are also subject 
to some seasonal fluctuations, particularly the EYEfi SPARC product and bushfire monitoring as this is a 
a seasonal activity from October – March each year, although as our global sales start to come online 
and we are operating in different regions, the effect of this will reduce. There is growing demand for 
EYEFI’s product offerings, which consist primarily of spatial, predictive, approximation and radial 
convolution technology called SPARC and an associated product suite that turns any sensor, camera or 
smartphone device (fixed, mobile, airborne, portable or handheld) into a target co-ordinate acquisition 
system. In difficult economic times such as the disruption caused by the corona virus pandemic in the first 
quarter of 2020, businesses tend to reduce discretionary spending, which would include EYEFI’s products 
and conversely in more robust economic times spending on discretionary items tends to increase. EYEfi’s 
IIoT sensor technology and product suite is less influenced by these seasonal effects.  
 

Liquidity and Financial Position and Capital Resources 
 
The Company’s ability to generate sufficient cash to fund its operations and working capital requirements 
depends upon the ability of the EYEFI business to generate positive cash flow. EYEFI’s ability to 
generate positive cash flow from its business requires it to have revenues in excess of its costs.  
 
 



  

7  

Summary of Working Capital and Cash Flow 
 

At March 31, 2020, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $1,075,283. (December 31, 2019 – 
$962,729).   
 
Current assets were $715,705 as at March 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 - $767,884) and current 
liabilities were $1,790,988 (December 31, 2019 - $1,730,613). 
 
As at 31 March 2020 and 31 December 2019, please note current liabilities includes convertible 
preference shares of $1,000,000 which will be converted to ordinary shares following completion of the 
Share Swap Agreement dated 4 March 2020 and income in advance of $336,000 which will not effect 
working capital cash flows due the availability of the R&D tax concession offsets. 
 
For the quarter ended March 31, 2020 cash flow used in operating activities totalled $165,133 compared 
to cash used in operating activities of $1,073 for the quarter ended March 31, 2019. This consisted 
primarily of cash provided by the receipts from customers of $58,736 for the quarter ended March 31, 
2020 (March 31, 2019 - $68,529). For the quarter ended March 31, 2020, this was offset by cash used for 
payments to suppliers in the amount of $182,240 (March 31, 2019 - $57,102), cash used for finance costs 
in the amount of $3,880 (March 31, 2019 - $4,540), and cash used for income taxes in the amount of 
$37,749 (March 31, 2019 - $7,960). 
 
For the quarter ended March 31, 2020 cash flows used in investing activities totalled $Nil (March 31, 2019 
- $Nil).  
 
For the quarter ended March 31, 2020 cash flow from financing activities consisted of proceeds from the 
issuance of preference shares of $460,000 (March 31, 2019 – $Nil) and lease payments of $7,838 (March 
31, 2019 - $NIL). 
 
The cash and cash equivalents, receivables, both trade and from the issuance of preference shares and 
the income, if any, from the operations of EYEFI, are used to fund EYEFI’s financial requirements. 
  

Analysis of Financial Condition and Financial Performance 
 
The financial condition of the Company is directly dependent on the performance of EYEFI. In March 
2020 EYEFI’s revenues were $52,667 which was a decrease of 5% over the March 31, 2019 revenue of 
$55,474. 
 
Related Party Transactions 
 

The following related party transactions occurred and were reflected in the financial statements during the 
quarters ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 as follows:                                      

 

Remuneration of key management 
 Quarter Ended 
 March 31, 
 2020 2019 

Salary 41,096  16,640 
Annual leave  125,111  39,640 
Long service leave 42,031  15,778 
Superannuation 3,253  1,581 

 211,491 73,639 
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Key management personnel are those individuals having authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the Company and its subsidiary including the Company’s Board of Directors. 
The Company considers key management to be the members of the Board of Directors and the Chief 
Executive Officer. 

The IIoT Sensor Cloud IP held through a related party of Simon Langdon’s, Conxsme Pty Ltd, was 
transferred to EYEfi at market value on December 31, 2019 by offsetting outstanding related party loans 
owed to EYEfi. Following this IP transfer, all other related party loans were forgiven by December 31, 2019 
in accordance with the executed Preference Share Agreement dated August 12, 2019. The only related 
party loan existing as at March 31, 2020 is a loan with Conxsme Pty Ltd of $140,000 (being the GST 
component on IP transfer).  
 
Commitment 

EYEfi signed a new lease on July  1, 2019 for $43,173 per annum, including all outgoings and GST.  The 
term is one by two years and rent is paid monthly in advance. 

   

Risk Factors and Risk Management 
 
Negative Cash Flows 
During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company has had negative cash flow from its operating 
activities and, as a result, has had to fund its operations with cash on hand. The Company’s cash on 
hand as at March 31, 2020 was $408,477. The Company is constantly working to increase sales, cut 
costs and improve cash flows 
 
Risk Management 
Any start-up or established business must continuously manage the risks by recognizing and mitigating 
the ambiguities and risks both in internal and external business environments that surround a company. 
The Company's management team manages risks proactively. Here are some of the risks that the 
Company faces:   
 
Technology Risk 
The Company is dependent upon network communication or internetworking for product connectivity. The 

network communication defines a set of protocols allowing application programs to talk to each other 

without regard to the hardware and operating systems where they are run. A disruption in the 

internetworking would have a serious impact on the Company’s services to its customers. 

Cybersecurity Risk:  
EYEfi Cloud is a public cloud application and is subject to threats and attacks and data breaches that 
could affect for example delivery of service and supply lines. Security data is controlled by the cloud 
provider which could make it difficult to distinguish between everyday computing events and security 
events. The Company is constantly monitoring for security events. The Company is also subject to 
attacks by ransomware and the encrypting of data and hardware attacks that could affect computer chips. 
 
Competitive Risks  
There are other well established companies who are competitors to the Company providing services and 
products to the same kind of customers the Company is targeting. A discussion of these competitors is 
contained earlier in this section of the Prospectus.  
 
Legal and Regulatory Risks  
Some of the possible legal or regulatory issues are continuous reporting requirements by the Regulatory 
Authorities and Exchange, tax complications, user and privacy policy, customer complaints, etc. The 
Company has retained professional advisors with the requisite experience to deal with these matters and 
will consult with them to keep it informed of possible complications before they arise. 
 



  

9  

 
 
Intellectual Property 
The ability of the Company to maintain or increase sales will depend in part on its ability to maintain and 
grow its brand equity through the use of its registered domain names and intellectual property. A loss of 
any of these may result in the Company’s brand equity being diminished and thus a loss of potential 
customers. As protection, the Company usually requires its employees and independent contractors to 
enter into confidentiality agreements, however it cannot be assured that the obligations therein will be 
maintained and honoured. In spite of confidentiality agreements and other methods of protecting trade 
secrets, the Company’s proprietary information could become known to or independently developed by 
competitors. 
 
New Risk Factor 
Since March 31, 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic is causing a widespread health crisis that has affected 
economies and financial markets around the world resuting in an economic downturn. In response to the 
outbreak, governmental authorities in Canada and internationally have introduced various 
recommendations and measures to try to limit the pandemic, including travel restrictions, border closures, 
non-essential business closures, quarantines, self-isolations, shelters-in-place and social distancing. The 
COVID-19 outbreak and the response of governmental authorities to try to limit it are having a significant 
impact on the private sector and individuals, including unprecedented business, employment and 
economic disruptions. The continued spread of COVID-19 nationally and globally could have an adverse 
impact on the Company’s business, operations and financial results, as well as a deterioration of general 
economic conditions including a possible national or global recession. Due to the speed with which the 
COVID-19 situation is developing and the uncertainty of its magnitude, outcome and duration, it is not 
possible to estimate its impact on the Company’s business, operations or financial results, including the 
Company’s ability to secure financing; however, the impact could be material.   
 

Internal Controls 
 
Disclosure controls and procedures 
 
Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures for the Company as defined under National Instrument 52-109 issued by the Canadian 
Securities Administrators. The Company as a venture issuer is not required to certify the design and 
evaluation of the issuer’s disclosure controls and procedures.  
 
Internal controls over financial reporting 
 
Management of the Company is responsible for designing internal controls over financial reporting for the 
Company as defined under National Instrument 52-109 issued by the Canadian Securities Administrators.  
The Company as a venture issuer is not required to certify the design and evaluation of the issuer’s 
internal controls over financial reporting. 
 
International Financial Reporting Standards  
 
The Company’s financial statements for the quarter ended March 31, 2020 and the comparative 
information presented in the financial statements for the quarter ended March 31, 2019 have been 
prepared in accordance with IFRS applicable to the presentation of financial statements.  
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Future Direction 

The Company’s main objective is to grow the revenues of its EYEFI business but this may require the 
investment of significant additional capital.  

 

Outstanding Share Data 
 
The Company has authorized an unlimited number of shares without par value.  As at the date of this 
MD&A, and as at March 31, 2020 and March 31, 2019, there were 2,500,012 common shares issued.  
 
 
Convertible Preference Shares 
 

On 12 August 2019, the Company issued 1 million convertible preference shares with a par value of $1 
per share, of which: 
 
● $460,000 was paid on issue date; 

● $460,000 was deferred and paid 10 days after 1 January 2020; and 

● The remaining $80,000 as non-cash share-based payments earned by corporate advisors for 
services rendered. 

 
Conversion date of preference shares to ordinary shares is 3 years from the date of agreement or at any 
time before that date subject to the following: 

 
● Either EBITDA or Revenue of the Company is equal to or greater than 75% of $7,395,267 or 

$11,329,217 respectively, such that the total of all ordinary shares held by new shareholders is 

equal to 20% of the total ordinary shares in the company. 

● Both EBITDA and Revenue of the Company are each less than 75% of $7,395,267 or $11,329,217 

respectively, such that the total of all ordinary shares held by the new shareholders is equal to 25% 

of the total ordinary shares in the company; or 
● The company completes a fundraising act on or before conversion date, with the company or 

business being valued (immediately before the fundraising act ) at: 

- Greater than or equal to $5 million (on an equity-based valuation), such that the total of all 

ordinary shares held by new shareholders is equal to 20% of the total ordinary shares in 

the company subsequent to the fundraising act; or 
- Less than $5 million (on an equity-based valuation), such that the total of all ordinary 

shares held by new shareholders is equal to 25% of the total ordinary shares in the 

company subsequent to the fundraising act. 

 
These convertible preference shares have no cash redemption requirements. 
 
Events after the reporting date 
 
Since 31 March 2020, the related party Conxsme Pty Ltd loan has been substantially repaid and the 
current balance outstanding as at 14 May 2020 is $6,963. 
 
Pursuant to the Share Swap Agreement dated 4 March 2020, the reverse takeover of EYEfi was 
completed on 27 May 2020 with the Company becoming the wholly owned subsidiary of EYEfi Group 
Technologies Inc. On this date, the $1,000,000 preference shares were converted to ordinary shares in 
accordance with Clause 4 of Preference Share Agreement. 
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Date and Other Available Information 
 
Unless otherwise indicated, the information contained in this MD&A is as of **, 2020. 
 
Signed  
 
“                           ” 
Simon Langdon 
CEO 
 
 



Schedule E 

Audited Annual Financial Statements of the Company for the   

years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018     

  



 

 
 

  
EYEFI Group Technologies Inc. 

(formerly 1181950 B.C. Ltd.) 

Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019 and for the period from  
October 4, 2018 (Date of incorporation) to December 31, 2018 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 



 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
To the Shareholders of EYEFI Group Technologies Inc.: 
 
Opinion 
 

We have audited the financial statements of EYEFI Group Technologies Inc. (the “Company”), which comprise the 

statements of financial position as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, and the statements of loss and 

comprehensive loss, statement of changes in equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019 and for the 

period from October 24, 2018 (Date of incorporation) to December 31, 2018 and notes to the financial statements, including 

a summary of significant accounting policies.  

 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 

Company as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year 

ended December 31, 2019 and for the period from October 4, 2018 (Date of incorporation) to December 31, 2018 in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of 

our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audits 

of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion. 

 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 

the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 

management either intends to liquidate the Company’s or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment 
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 

resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 

intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Company’s internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by management. 



 

 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 

cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 

on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may 

cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 

and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation. 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 

the audits and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 

audits. 

 

 

Toronto, Ontario Chartered Professional Accountants 
**, 2020 Licensed Public Accountants 
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1 

 

 

  

As at  

December 31, 2019 

As at 

December 31, 2018 

Assets   

 

Prepaid expenses  $           976  $       2,483 

Total Assets             976          2,483  

               

    

Liabilities    

Cash overdraft  $            31   $           –  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities           14,966           5,386  

Total Liabilities   14,997         5,386               

    

 
Deficit    

Share capital   $             1  

                     

$           1 

Accumulated deficit  $       (14,022)  

                     

$      (2,904) 

Total Deficit   (14,021)         (2,903)               

    

Total Liabilities and Deficit  $          976  $       2,483  

  

                                                 

  
Approved by the Board of Directors  

 

 
“   ” 

Simon Langdon, Director 

 

“      ” 

James Hope, Director
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2019 

 

 

2018 

    

Expenses    

Office and administration   $         726           $        187 

Rent   1,200 200 

Professional fees  9,192          2,517 

Total expenses 
 

11,118                2,904 

Net and comprehensive loss  $      11,118               $      2,904 
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Expressed in Canadian Dollars 

  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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  Share Capital   

  Shares  Amount  
Accumulated 

deficit 
  

Total 

Deficit 

Balance, October 24, 2018 (date of 

incorporation) 
100 $ 1 $ – $ 1 

Net loss for the period –  –  (2,904)   (2,904) 

Balance, December 31, 2018 100 $  1 $ (2,904) $ (2,903)               

 

 

 

  Share Capital   

  Shares  Amount  
Accumulated 

deficit 
  

Total 

Deficit 

Balance, December 31, 2018 100 $ 1 $ (2,904) $ (2,903) 

Net loss for the period –  –  (11,118)   (11,118) 

Balance, December 31, 2019 100 $  1 $ (14,022) $ (14,021)               
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  2019 2018 

Cash flows related to the following activities:    

Operating activities    

Net loss  $ (11,118)       $    (2,904)                

 

Change in non-cash operating items:       

Cash overdraft  31 – 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  9,580 5,386 

Prepaid expenses  1,507 (2,483) 

 

Net cash flows used in operating activities  -  (1) 

Financing activities    

Proceed from common share issuance $ -       $         1         

 

Net cash flows generated from financing activities  -         1 

Net change in cash  - – 
 Cash, beginning of the year / period  – – 

Cash, end of year / period $ -    $         – 
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for the period from October 4, 2018 (date of incorporation) to December 31, 2018 
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  5 

 

1. Incorporation and operations 

EYEFI Group Technologies Inc. (formerly 1181950 B.C. Ltd.) (the “Company”) was incorporated on October 4, 2018 

under the laws of the Province of British Columbia, Canada by a Certificate of Incorporation issued pursuant to the 
provisions of the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) and changed its name from 1181950 B.C. Ltd. to EYEFI 

Group Technologies Inc. on January 8, 2020. The Company’s registered and head office is #390 - 825 Homer Street, 

Vancouver, BC V6B 2W2. The company is a shell entity with no commercial or operational activity. 

These financial statements have been prepared using International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) applicable 

to a going concern, which assumes that the Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be 

able to realize assets and discharge liabilities in the normal course of operations. Different basis of measurement may be 

appropriate if the Company is not expected to continue operations for the foreseeable future. As at December 31, 2019, 

the Company has not generated any revenues from operations and has an accumulated deficit of $14,022. 

 

2. Basis of preparation 

 

Statement of compliance 

The financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the Interpretations of the 

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2019 and for the period from October 4, 2018 

(Date of incorporation) to December 31, 2018 were approved by the Board of Directors on **, 2020. 

Basis of presentation 

The financial statements are presented in Canadian dollar (“CAD”), which is the Company’s functional and presentation 

currency. The financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments 

classified as fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), which are stated at their fair value. The accounting policies 

have been applied consistently throughout the entire period presented in these financial statements. 

Functional and presentation currency 

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation 

currency. 

Significant estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make certain estimates, 

judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 

and liabilities. Estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and 

other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

 

3. Summary of significant accounting policies 

Income taxes 

Income tax expense is comprised of current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity. Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on taxable 

income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for amendments to tax 

payable with regards to previous years. 

Deferred tax is recorded using the asset and liability method, providing for temporary differences, between the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount 

of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the carrying amount of assets 

and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
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3.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Income taxes (continued) 

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the asset can be utilized. To the extent that the Company does not consider it probable that a deferred tax asset 

will be recovered, it provides a valuation allowance against that excess. 

Going concern   

 

Management applies judgment in its evaluation of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Provisions 

 

Provisions are recorded when a present legal or constructive obligation exists as a result of past events where it is 

probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the 

amount of the obligation can be made. The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration 

required to settle the present obligation estimated at the end of each reporting period, taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 

Financial instruments 

The Company recognizes financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value on the date the Company becomes a party 

to the contractual provisions of the instruments. 

The Company classifies its financial assets into the following categories: fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), 

fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), or amortized cost. 

 

The Company classifies its financial liabilities at amortized cost. Financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value 

plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured at 

amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

 

The classification of financial assets depends on the business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual 

terms of the cash flows. Financial liabilities are classified as those to be measured at amortized cost unless they are 

designated as those to be measured subsequently at FVTPL (an irrevocable election at the time of recognition). For assets 

and liabilities measured at fair value, gains and losses are either recorded in profit or loss or accumulated other 

comprehensive income (loss). 

The Company reclassifies financial assets when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes. 

Financial liabilities are not reclassified. 

The Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities are classified and measured as follows: 
 

Asset/Liability Measurement Category Subsequent Measurement 

Bank overdraft FVTPL Fair value 

Accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities 

Amortized cost Amortized cost 

 

Leases 

 

Effective January 1, 2019 (hereafter referred to as the “date of initial application”), the Company adopted IFRS 16 

Leases as issued by the IASB in January 2016. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, 

presentation and disclosure of leases for both the lessee and lessor. The standard supersedes the requirements in IAS 17 

Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC 15 Operating Leases – Incentives, and SIC 

27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. 
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3.  Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

Leases (continued) 
The Company adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach and accordingly the information presented 

for 2018 has not been restated. It remains as previously reported under IAS 17 and related interpretations. On initial 

application, the Company has elected to record right-of-use assets based on the corresponding lease liability, adjusted 

by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments. The Company has elected to apply the practical expedient to 

account for leases for which the lease term ends within 12 months of the date of initial application as short-term leases. 
The Company has elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of which transactions are leases 

on the date of initial application, as previously assessed under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The Company applied the definition 

of a lease under IFRS 16 to contracts entered into or changed on or after January 1, 2019. 
 

4. Income Taxes  

 

As of December 31, 2019, the Company has non-capital losses carried forward for income tax purposes of $6,116 (2018 

– $2,810).  

 

5. Related Party Transactions  

 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company has approximately $7,539 (2018 - $5,386) of accrued payables 

to a Director of the Company for expenses incurred on the Company’s behalf. During 2019, the Company has paid 

$1,200 related to an office lease to a related company owned by a Director. 
 

There were no other transactions with related parties and no remuneration was paid to key management 

personnel during the year ended December 31, 2019. 

 

6. Financial Instruments and Risk Management   

 

Capital Management 

 

The Company’s objective when managing capital is to maintain its ability to continue as a going concern, in order to 

provide returns for the shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. The Company includes equity, comprised of 

share capital and deficit, in the definition of capital.  
 

The Company's primary objective, with respect to its capital management, is to ensure that it has sufficient cash 

resources to fund the identification and evaluation of potential acquisitions. To secure the additional capital necessary 

to pursue these plans, the Company may attempt to raise additional funds through the issuance of equity or by securing 

strategic partners. 

 

Fair value 

Fair value represents the price at which an asset and liability could be exchanged in an orderly market, in an arm's length 

transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. The Company classifies 

the fair value of assets and liabilities according to the following hierarchy based on the amount of observable inputs 

used to value the instrument.  

Level 1: Fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in the active market for identical 

assets or liabilities. 

Level 2: Fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices). 

Level 3: Fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or 

liability that are not based on observable market data. 
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6. Financial Instruments and Risk Management (continued) 

 

As at December 31, 2019, the fair value of cash held by the Company was based on level 1 inputs of the fair value 

hierarchy. The Company’s financial instruments consist of bank overdraft, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 

The carrying values of accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value because of the short-term nature 

of these instruments.  

The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarized below: 

 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with the counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. The Company 

believes it has no significant credit risk.   

 

Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 

Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient readily available reserves in order to meet its 

liquidity requirements at any point in time. The Company will achieve this by maintaining sufficient cash and seeking 

equity financing when needed. 

 

7. Subsequent events          

Subsequent to December 31, 2019, financial markets have been negatively impacted by the novel Coronavirus or 

COVID-19, which was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization on March 12, 2020. This has resulted in 

significant economic uncertainty and consequently, it is difficult to reliably measure the potential impact of this 

uncertainty on our future financial results. 

On February 27, 2020, the Company issued 3,000,000 shares at a price of $0.02 per share and received subscription 

funds of $60,000.  

On April 24, 2020 the Company issued 177,500 shares at a price of $0.08 per share and received subscription funds of 

$14,200. 

On April 30, 2020 the Company issued 825,500 shares at a price of $0.08 per share and received subscription funds of 

$66,040. 

The Company entered a Share Swap Agreement dated March 4, 2020, which will it allow it to acquire the issued and 
outstanding ordinary shares of EYEfi Pty Ltd., a software and engineering company that has developed, patented and 

commercialized innovative spatial, predictive, approximation and radial convolution technology called SPARC and an 

associated product suite that turns any sensor, camera or smartphone device (fixed, mobile, airborne, portable or 

handheld) into a target co-ordinate acquisition system. 

The Share Swap Agreement closed on May 27, 2020. 19,002,500 shares were issued to the shareholders of EYEfi Pty. 

Ltd. In exchange for 100% of the ordinary shares of EYEfi Pty Ltd. 
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1.1 Date 

 

This Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of EYEFI Technologies Group Inc.  (the “Company”) has been 

prepared by management as of December 31, 2019 and should be read in conjunction with the audited financial 

statements and related notes thereto of the Company for the period from January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019, which 

was prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). 

This MD&A contains forward-looking information which reflects management's expectations regarding the Company’s 

growth, results of operation, performance and business prospects and opportunities. The use of words such as 

“anticipate”, “continue”, “estimate", "expect”, “may”, “will”, “project”, “should”, believe”, outlook”, “forecast” and 

similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.  

Forward-looking statements in this MD&A include, but not limited to, the Company’s expectation of future activities 

and results, of its working capital needs and its ability to identify, evaluate and pursue suitable business opportunity. 

Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual 

results of events to differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements. Readers should not put 

undue reliance on forward-looking information. 

All amounts in this MD&A are presented in Canadian dollars (“CAD”). The financial statements are presented for the 

period January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019. The Company’s fiscal year end is December 31. 

Historical results of operations and trends that may be inferred from the following discussion and analysis may not 

necessarily indicate future results from operations. 

 

1.2 Overall Performance 

 

The Company was incorporated on October 4, 2018 under the laws of the Province of British Columbia, Canada by a 

Certificate of Incorporation issued pursuant to the provisions of the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia).  

1.3 Selected Annual Information 

 

 For the period from incorporation on January 1, 

2019 to December 31, 2019 

Loss for the year $ (11,118) 

Loss per share $ (111.18) 

Current assets $976  

Total assets $976  

Total current liabilities $ 14,997 

 

Current assets consist of prepaid expenses in the amount of $976. 

 

Current liabilities consist of bank overdraft (fees to be reversed) of $31 and expenses to be reimbursed to director of 

$7,538 and audit accrual fees of $7,500, and GST input tax credits receivable by the government of Canada in the amount 

of $72. 
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1.4 Results of Operations 

 

Period from January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019 

During the period from January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019, the Company reported a loss of $11,118, which was 

comprised of legal fees of $1,447, business fees of $245, professional fees of $7,500, meals and entertainment of $623, 

office rental of $1,200, interest and bank charges of $31 and parking expense of $72. 

 

1.5 Summary of Quarterly Results 

 

Quarterly financial information for interim periods preceding the date of this MD&A have been omitted as the Company 

had no activity in the 2019 fiscal year.  

 

1.6 Liquidity and Capital Resources 

 

As at December 31, 2019, the Company had working capital deficit of $14,021 dollars.  As at December 31, 2019, the 

Company had cash on hand of zero dollars and had current liabilities due only to the director of the company for out of 

pocket expenses.   

The Company may continue to have capital requirements in excess of its currently available resources. In the event the 

Company’s plans change, its assumptions change or prove inaccurate, or its capital resources in addition to projected 

cash flow, if any, prove to be insufficient to fund operations, the Company may be required to seek additional financing. 

There can be no assurance that the Company will have sufficient financing to meet its future capital requirements or that 

additional financing will be available on terms acceptable to the Company in the future.   

 

1.7 Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

 

The Company does not utilize off-balance sheet arrangements. 

 

1.8 Risk and Uncertainties 

 

The Company’s financial performance is likely to be subject to the following risks: 

 The Company has not generated any significant revenue and has incurred significant losses since inception. 

 Although management of the Company is working diligently to complete the business transaction, there is no 

assurance that a definitive agreement will be entered into nor completed. 

The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarized below:  

 

Credit risk  

The Company is exposed to credit risk by holding cash, which is held in trust with Canadian legal counsel, and in a 

Canadian bank account. Management believes there is no exposure to credit risk with respect to its cash balances. 

 

Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company is unable to meet its financial obligations as they come due.  The Company 

manages this risk by careful management of its working capital to ensure its expenditures will not exceed available 

resources.  
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.1.8 Risk and Uncertainties - continued 

 

Interest rate risk 

 

Interest rate risk is the Company’s exposure to changes in results of operations because of fluctuating interest rates. The 

Company has no variable interest-bearing financial instruments and is therefore not exposed to interest rate risk. 

 

Currency risk 

 

The Company does not have assets or liabilities in a foreign currency and therefore is not exposed to foreign currency 

risk. 

 

1.9 Transactions with Related Parties 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company has approximately $7,539 (2018 - $5,386) of accrued 

payables to a Director of the Company for expenses incurred on the Company’s behalf. During 2019, the Company 

has paid $1,200 related to an office lease to a related company owned by a Director. 

 

1.10 Subsequent Events  
 

Subsequent to December 31, 2019, financial markets have been negatively impacted by the novel Coronavirus or 
COVID-19, which was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization on March 12, 2020. This has resulted 

in significant economic uncertainty and consequently, it is difficult to reliably measure the potential impact of this 

uncertainty on our future financial results. 

On April 24, 2020 the Company issued 177,500 shares at a price of $0.08 per share and received subscription funds 

of $14,200. 

On April 30, 2020 the Company issued 825,500 shares at a price of $0.08 per share and received subscription funds 

of $66,040. 

The Company entered a Share Swap Agreement dated March 4, 2020, which will it allow it to acquire the issued and 

outstanding ordinary shares of EYEfi Pty Ltd., a software and engineering company that has developed, patented 

and commercialized innovative spatial, predictive, approximation and radial convolution technology called SPARC 

and an associated product suite that turns any sensor, camera or smartphone device (fixed, mobile, airborne, portable 
or handheld) into a target co-ordinate acquisition system. 

The Share Swap Agreement closed on May 27, 2020. 19,002,500 shares were issued to the shareholders of EYEfi 

Pty. Ltd. In exchange for 100% of the ordinary shares of EYEfi Pty Ltd. 

 

1.11 Fourth Quarter  

 

Please refer to 1.4 Results of Operations and 1.12 Proposed Transactions. 

 

1.12 Proposed Transaction  
 

 The Company reviewed several potential acquisition targets introduced by Shape Capital. 
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1.13 Critical Accounting Estimates 

 

Not applicable to venture issuers.  

 

1.14 Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption 

 

The financial information presented in this MD&A has been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards.  

 

1.15 Financial Instruments and Other Instruments 

 

The Company classifies and measures its financial instruments as follows:  

Asset/Liability Measurement Category Subsequent 

measurement 

Bank overdraft FVTPL Fair value 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Amortized cost Amortized cost 

 

1.16 Other Requirements 

 

Summary of Outstanding Share Data as of date of this MD&A:  

Authorized: Unlimited number of common shares without par value. 

Issued and outstanding: 100 common shares. 

 

The board of directors approved this MD&A on **, 2020 
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The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the company for the year ended 31 December 

2019. 

 
 

Directors 

Simon Langdon 

B. Elec. Eng, Member - AICD 

Founder and Managing Director, 2006. 

 
Simon has been developing and commercializing problem-solving technology for over 25 years in both senior technical and 

commercial roles within the ICT sector. Simon is a global patentee, and has successfully deployed EYEfi’s products with 

large enterprise and government clients in Australia and New Zealand.  

 
 

Principal activities 

EYEfi Pty Ltd ("EYEfi") is a software and electronics engineering company that has developed, patented and commercialized 
an innovative spatial technology (SPARC) and associated product suite, that solves critical problems for government and 

industry customers operating in infrastructure and asset management, emergency management and incident response 

markets. 

 
EYEfi has also developed an IIoT hardware sensor product and cloud application (Smart Waste for waste bins and Smart 

Drain for stormwater pits) and is rolling this technology out in Australia and NZ. 

 
 

Dividends 

There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year. 

 
 

Review of operations 

The loss for the company after providing for income tax amounted to $337,161 (31 December 2018: profit of $577,497).  

 
During the year ended 31 December 2019, EYEfi issued $1m convertible preference shares to provide working capital to 

grow the business. Pursuant to the executed Preference Share Agreement dated 12 August 2019, the IIoT Sensor Cloud 

Intellectual Property (IP) held through a related party of Simon Langdon’s, Conxsme Pty Ltd, was transferred to EYEfi at 

market value on 31 December 2019 by offsetting outstanding related party loans owed to EYEfi. Following this IP transfer, 
all other related party loans were forgiven by 31 December 2019 in accordance with the agreement. 

 
 

Significant changes in the state of affairs 
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the company during the financial year.  

 
 

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year 
Since 31 December 2019, the respiratory illness COVID-19 (also referred to as the “coronavirus”) has resulted in a 
widespread health crisis that has already adversely affected the economies and financial markets of many countries around 
the world. The international response to the spread of COVID-19 has led to significant restrictions on travel; temporary 
business closures; quarantines; global stock market and financial market volatility; a general reduction in consumer activity; 
operating, supply chain and project development delays and disruptions; and declining trade and market sentiment; all of 
which have and could further affect commodity prices, interest rates, credit ratings and credit risk.  
 
Management believes that the company is well positioned to cope with a downturn in the economy. 
Factors contributing to the company’s strong position are: 
• the company has long-term contracts with a number of its existing customers 
• the company’s major customers have not experienced financial difficulties. All trade receivables on 31 December 2019 
have been received prior to the issue of this report. 
 
Despite the COVID-19 disruptions, the directors still believe the company is a going concern due to the strong position of 
the company’s working capital (excluding preference shares and deferred revenue), and its ability to capture and fulfil its 
order book. The company’s major customers have not been significantly disrupted by COVID-19 nor have they altered their 
contracts with the company, as such the company does not expect significant disruptions to operations or financially. As at 
the issue of this report, the COVID-19 disruptions have had no impact on the company’s operations. 
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Pursuant to the Share Swap Agreement dated 4 March 2020, the reverse takeover of EYEfi was completed on ….. May 
2020 with the Company becoming the wholly owned subsidiary of EYEfi Group Technologies Inc.  
 
Other than disruptions to operations caused by the COVID-19 virus and reverse takeover mentioned above, no other matter 
or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2019 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the company's 
operations, the results of those operations, or the company's state of affairs in future financial years.  
 
 
Likely developments and expected results of operations 

EYEfi is planning to list on the Canadian Stock Exchange in the second half of 2020 to assist the Company in achieving its 

growth objectives and provide further access to capital. Shape Capital, a Corporate Advisory firm based on Melbourne, 

Australia is managing the listing process with a Canadian advisory team. 

 
 

Shares under option 

No contingent equity instruments exist as at 31 December 2019, with the exception of the rights attached to convertible 

preference shares (refer note 10). 
 

Shares issued on the exercise of options 

There were no ordinary shares of the company issued on the exercise of options during the year ended 31 December 2019 

and up to the date of this report. 

 
Directors interests 

Ordinary shares Preference shares 

EYEfi Unit Trust (Simon Langdon associate entity) 2,500,012 - 

 
 

Proceedings on behalf of the company 
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf 

of the company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility 

on behalf of the company for all or part of those proceedings. 

 
 

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

On behalf of the directors 

 

 

  _   

    Simon Langdon 

 

      2020 
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General information 

 
The financial statements cover EYEfi Pty Ltd as an individual entity. The financial statements are presented in Australian 
dollars, which is EYEfi Pty Ltd.'s functional and presentation currency. 

 
EYEfi Pty Ltd is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its registered office and principal place 
of business are: 

 
Registered office Principal place of business 

 

C/ - DLK Advisory Pty Ltd 
Level 10, 99 Queen Street 

Melbourne Vic 3000 

Unit 1, 255 Wellington Street 

Collingwood Vic 3066 

 

A description of the nature of the company's operations and its principal activities are included in the directors' report, which 

is not part of the financial statements. 

 

The financial statements were authorized for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors, on                2020. 
The directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements. 
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Note 2019 2018 

$ $ 

Revenue 

Sales from rendering services 4   969,082 1,536,638 
Cost of sales    (283,447)   (321,791) 

Gross profit   685,635 1,214,847  

 
Other income 

 
Expenses 

2,132 4,437 

Administration (193,578) (217,260) 

Depreciation expense (27,156) (19,005) 

Employee benefits expense (265,386) (106,010) 

Cost of issuing preference shares   (80,000) -  
 

Profit/(loss) from ordinary activities before loan forgiveness expense    121,647  877,009 

Loan forgiveness expense 6   (478,098) (139,570) 

Profit/(loss) before income tax (expense)/benefit   (356,451)  737,439 

Income tax (expense)/benefit 5    19,290 (159,942) 

Profit/(loss) after income tax (expense)/benefit for the year attributable to the 

owners of EYEfi Pty Ltd (337,161) 577,497 

 
 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax   - -  
 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the owners of EYEfi  

Pty Ltd   (337,161) 577,497  

 
 
  Basic earnings per share   17         (0.13)       0.23 
  
  Diluted earnings per share  17         (0.13)       0.23 

 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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31 December 31 December 

 Note 2019 

$ 

2018 

$ 

Assets 
   

Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 

  
121,448 

 
11,906 

Trade and other receivables 6 186,436 1,438,350 

Amounts receivable for the issue of preference shares   460,000  -  

Total current assets   767,884  1,450,256  

 
Non-current assets 
Plant and equipment 

  
52,847 

 
58,820 

Intangibles 8 1,467,837 65,781 

Deferred tax asset 9 141,006 111,074 
Right-of-use asset 7   130,620  -  

Total non-current assets    1,792,310  235,675  

Total assets 
 

  2,560,194 1,685,931  

 
 

Liabilities 

 
Current liabilities 

 

Trade and other payables  184,471 143,632 

Lease liabilities 10 40,229 - 

Income tax payable  3,936 67,560 

Employee benefit provisions  165,217 65,196 

Income in advance  336,760 336,760 
Convertible preference shares 11   1,000,000  -  

Total current liabilities    1,730,613  613,148  

Non-current liabilities 
Lease liabilities 
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  93,959  -  

Total non-current liabilities    93,959  -  

Total liabilities 
 

  1,824,572 613,148  

Net assets 
 

  735,622 1,072,783  

 
 
Equity 

  

Issued capital 12 2,500,012 2,500,012 

Accumulated losses      (1,764,390)    (1,427,229) 
 

Total equity   735,622 1,072,783  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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 Issued 

capital 
Accumulated 

losses 
 
Total equity 

$ $ $ 

Balance at 1 January 2018 2,500,012 (2,004,726) 495,286 

Profit after income tax expense for the year - 577,497 577,497 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax   -  -  -  
 

Total comprehensive income for the year   -  577,497  577,497  
 

Balance at 31 December 2018   2,500,012 (1,427,229) 1,072,783  
 

Issued Accumulated 

capital  losses 

 
Total equity 

$ $ $ 

 
Balance at 1 January 2019 2,500,012 (1,427,229) 1,072,783 

 
Loss after income tax benefit for the year  - (337,161) (337,161) 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax   -   -   -  
 

Total comprehensive income for the year   -  (337,161)  (337,161) 
 

Balance at 31 December 2019   2,500,012 (1,764,390) 735,622  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Note 2019 

$ 
2018 

$ 

 
Cash flows from operating activities 

  

Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST) 1,096,368 1,692,529 

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST) (1,343,941) (1,589,304) 

Finance costs (24,037) (8,761) 

Income taxes paid    (74,267)  (40,475) 

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 20   (345,877) 53,989  

 
Cash flows from investing activities 

  

Payments for plant and equipment  - (64,399) 

Payments for intangible assets 8 (4,581) (3,295) 

Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment    -  3,637  

Net cash used in investing activities 
 

  (4,581) (64,057) 

 
Cash flows from financing activities 

  

Proceeds from the issue of preference shares    460,000  -  

Net cash from financing activities 
 

  460,000 -  

 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  109,542 (10,068) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year    11,906   21,974  
 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year   121,448 11,906  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

 
New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 

The company has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the International 

Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 

 
Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted.  

 
The adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations did not have any significant impact on the financial 

performance or position of the company. 

 
The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are most relevant to the company:  

 
IFRS 16 Leases 

General impact of application of IFRS 16 Leases 

In the current year, the Company, for the first time, applied IFRS 16 Leases, with an initial application date of 1 January 

2019. 

 
IFRS 16 introduces new requirements with respect to lease accounting by removing the distinction between operating and 

finance leases, requiring the recognition of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at commencement for all leases except 

for short-term leases, being those less than 12 months, and leases of low-value assets. 

 
For contracts in place at the date of initial application, the Company has made use of the practical expedient available on 

transition to IFRS 16 not to reassess whether a contract is or contains a lease. Accordingly, the definition of a lease in 

accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 will continue to be applied to leases entered or modified before 1 January 2019.  

 
Impact of the definition of a new lease 

The change in definition of a lease mainly relates to the concept of control. IFRS 16 determines whether a contract contains 

a lease on the basis of whether the customer has the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 

exchange for consideration. The Company has applied this definition to all lease contracts currently held. 

 
Impact on lessee accounting 

Previously, under IAS 17 for the comparative period, all leases were classified as operating leases and were not recognized 

in the Company’s statement of financial position. Payments under operating leases were recognized in the profit or loss on 

a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received were recognized as an integral part of the total 

lease expense, over the term of the lease. 

 
IFRS 16 changes how the Company accounts for leases previously classified as operating leases under IAS 17 including:  

• Recognizing right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the statement of financial position, initially measured at the present 

value of future lease payments; and 

• Recognizing depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on lease liabilities in the statement of comprehensive income; 

and 

• Lease incentives under IFRS 16 are recognized as part of the measurement of the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. 

 
Under IFRS 16, right-of-use assets are tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of assets.  

 
For short-term leases (lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets, the Company has opted to recognize 

a lease expense on a straight-line basis as permitted by IFRS 16. This expense is presented within other expenses in the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

 
Financial impact of initial application of IFRS 16 

The Company transitioned to IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019. On 1 July 2019, a new lease commenced and the Company 

recognized a right-of-use asset of $149,280 and $149,280 of lease liabilities (refer note 6).  

 
When measuring lease liabilities, the Company discounted lease payments using the Company’s incremental borrowing rate, 

being 6%. 
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Basis of preparation 

These audited financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial 

Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). This financial report is a general-purpose financial report that has also been 

prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards, Interpretations and other 

applicable authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB). 

 
Historical cost convention 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.  

 
Critical accounting estimates 

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 

management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the company's accounting policies. The areas involving a 
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 

statements, are disclosed in note 2. 

 
Foreign currency translation 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is EYEfi Pty Ltd.'s functional and presentation currency. 

 
Foreign currency transactions 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 

transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 

at financial year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in 
profit or loss. 

 
Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company is expected to be entitled in 

exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. For each contract with a customer, the Company: identifies the 

contract with a customer; identifies the performance obligations in the contract; determines the transaction price which takes 

into account estimates of variable consideration and the time value of money; allocates the transaction price to the separate 

performance obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service to be delivered; 

and recognizes revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts the transfer to the 

customer of the goods or services promised. Revenue which has been invoiced and/or receipted in advance for which 

services are yet to be performed is recorded as income in advance or contract liabilities. 

 
The Company has two primary revenue streams: 

• Software and hardware solution services; and 
• Professional services 

All revenue for services rendered to customers is billed over time. 

 
Interest 

Interest revenue is recognized as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the 
amortized cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, 

which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to t he 

net carrying amount of the financial asset. 

 
Other revenue 

Other revenue is recognized when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established. 

 
Income tax 

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based on the applicable 

income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary 

differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognized for prior periods, where applicable. 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to be applied when the 
assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted, except for: 

 
● When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwil l or an asset or liability in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting nor 

taxable profits; or 

● When the taxable temporary difference is associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, and the 

timing of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 

future. 

 
Deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that 

future taxable amounts will be available to utilize those temporary differences and losses. 

 
The carrying amount of recognized and unrecognized deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date. Deferred tax 

assets recognized are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available for the 

carrying amount to be recovered. Previously unrecognized deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable 

that there are future taxable profits available to recover the asset. 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against 

current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same taxable authority on 

either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to settle simultaneously. 

 
Current and non-current classification 

Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current classification. 

 
An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the company's 

normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realized within 12 months after the 

reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability 

for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current. 

 
A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the company's normal operating cycle; it is  held 

primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is no 
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other liabilities 

are classified as non-current. 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current. 

 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short -term, highly 

liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 

which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 
Trade and other receivables 

Trade receivables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 

interest method, less any allowance for expected credit losses. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 

days. 

 
The company has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected loss 

allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on days overdue. 

 
Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes 

expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
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Depreciation is calculated either on a straight-line or diminishing value basis to write off the net cost of each item of plant 
and equipment (excluding land) over their expected useful lives as follows: 

 
Plant and equipment 3-10 years 

Patents 20 years 

Motor vehicle 8 years 

 
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.  

 
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful life of the assets, 

whichever is shorter. 

 
An item of plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to the company. 

Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or loss. 

 
Right-of-use assets 

A right-of-use asset is recognized at the commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which 

comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, any lease payments made at or before the 

commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs incurred, and, except where included in the 

cost of inventories, an estimate of costs expected to be incurred for dismantling and removing the underlying asset, and 
restoring the site or asset. 

 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful 

life of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the company expects to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of 

the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life. Right-of use assets are subject to impairment or adjusted for 

any re-measurement of lease liabilities. 

 
Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property are measured at fair value where the company has 

adopted a fair value measurement basis for investment property assets. 

 
The company has elected not to recognize a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for short-term leases with 

terms of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments on these assets are expensed to profit or loss 

as incurred. 

 
Intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination, other than goodwill, are initially measured at their fair value at 

the date of the acquisition. Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognized at cost. Indefinite life intangible 

assets are not amortized and are subsequently measured at cost less any impairment. Finite life intangible assets are 

subsequently measured at cost less amortization and any impairment. The gains or losses recognized in profit or loss arising 

from the de-recognition of intangible assets are measured as the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying 

amount of the intangible asset. The method and useful lives of finite life intangible assets are reviewed annually. Changes in 

the expected pattern of consumption or useful life are accounted for prospectively by changing the amortization method or 

period. 

 
Patents 

Significant costs associated with patents are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the period of their expected 
benefit, being their finite life of 20 years. 

 
Software 
Significant costs associated with software are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the period of their expected 

benefit, being their finite life of 5 years. 

 
Impairment of non-financial assets 

Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount 

exceeds its recoverable amount. 
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Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use is the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the asset or 

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped together to 

form a cash-generating unit. 

 
Trade and other payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the company prior to the end of the financial year and 

which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortized cost and are not discounted. The amounts 

are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

 
Lease liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The carrying amounts are re-measured 

if there is a change in the following: future lease payments arising from a change in an index or a rate used; residual 

guarantee; lease term; certainty of a purchase option and termination penalties. When a lease liability is re-measured, an 
adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of use asset, or to profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset 

is fully written down. 

 
Employee benefits 

 
Short-term employee benefits 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to be 

settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 
are settled. 

 
Fair value measurement 

When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the fair 

value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place either: in the principal 
market; or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. 

 
Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming 

they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its highest and 
best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 

measure fair value, are used, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable 

inputs. 

 
Convertible preference shares 

Convertible preference shares have variable share conversion rights based on EBITDA and revenue forecast targets or a 

fundraising event. As they have variable conversion rights, they have been classified as a financial liability in the financi al 
statements and held at cost at initial recognition. This is the best approximation of their fair value at that date, and thereafter 

held at cost. 

 
Issued capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,  

from the proceeds. 

 
Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 

recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognized as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part of 

the expense. 

 
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 

recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of 

financial position. 

 
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities 

which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 
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Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority.  

 
New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted 

Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet mandatory, have not 
been early adopted by the company for the annual reporting period ended 31 December 2019. The company has not yet 

assessed the impact of these new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations. 

 
 

Note 2. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 

affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in 

relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and 

assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management 

believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal 

the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next financial year are 

discussed below. 

 
Fair value measurement hierarchy 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 

market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using 

another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liabil ity, the Company takes into account the 

characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the 

asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these financials 

statements is determined on such a basis. 

 
IloT Sensor Cloud software 

IIoT Sensor Cloud software was measure at fair value on transfer to EYEfi on 31 December 2019 (please refer note 7 

Intangibles). 

 
Income tax 

The company is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Significant judgement is required in 

determining the provision for income tax. There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary 

course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The company recognises liabilities for anticipated 

tax audit issues based on the company's current understanding of the tax law. Where the final tax outcome of these matters 
is different from the carrying amounts, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax provisions in the period in  

which such determination is made. 

 
Recovery of deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences only if the company considers it is probable that 

future taxable amounts will be available to utilize those temporary differences and losses. 

 
Employee benefits provision 

As discussed in note 1, the liability for employee benefits expected to be settled more than 12 months from the reporting 

date are recognized and measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made in respect of all 
employees at the reporting date. In determining the present value of the liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay increases 

through promotion and inflation have been taken into account. 
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The company has one operating segment: software and electronics engineering services. In identifying the operating 

segment, management generally follows the company’s service line representing Spatial Video Platform and IIoT Sensor 

Cloud services. The company aims to solve critical problems for government and industry customers operating in 

infrastructure and asset management, emergency management and incident response markets. The company operates in 

the Oceania region, which is situated in Asia-Pacific region. 

  

The operations of the segment are monitored by the Company’s chief operating decision maker and strategic decisions are 

made based on reporting results. During the year ended 31 December 2019, there have been no changes from prior periods 

to measurement methods used to determine the segment’s profit or loss. 

  

Major customer 

During the year ended 31 December 2019, approximately 20% (2018: 32%) of the company’s revenue was derived from 

sales to a major customer, being Telstra Corporation Limited (Telstra). Telstra is an Australian telecommunications company 

which builds and operates telecommunications networks and markets voice, mobile, internet access, pay television and other 

products and services. 

  
 

 

 

 

Note 4. Sales from rendering services      

 
   

 

 

IloT Sensor Cloud 745,567 1,070,382 

Spatial Video Platform 216,597 466,256 

Other consulting revenue   6,918  -  
 

Revenue   969,082 1,536,638  
 

IIot Sensor Cloud, Spatial Video Platform and other consulting revenue have all been recognized over the time the services 

have been rendered. 

 

Major customer revenue contribution 

 
2019 2018 

$ $ 

 
Telstra 

Revenue amount   193,645 488,373  
 

Revenue portion of total revenue 20% 32% 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2019 2018 

$ $ 
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Income tax expense/(benefit)  

Current tax 219,074 376,356 

Deferred tax - origination and reversal of temporary differences (29,932) (5,178) 

Adjustment recognised for prior periods - (14,352) 

Non-refundable R&D offset   (208,432)  (196,884) 

Aggregate income tax expense/(benefit)   (19,290) 159,942  

 
Deferred tax included in income tax expense/(benefit) comprises: 

 

Increase in deferred tax assets (note 8)   (29,932)  (5,178) 

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense/(benefit) and tax at the statutory rate 
 

Profit/(loss) before income tax (expense)/benefit   (356,451)  737,439  

 
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 27.5% 

 
(98,024) 

 
202,796 

Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income: 
  

Entertainment expenses 2,650 5,190 

Cost of issuing convertible preference shares 22,000 - 
Penalties and fines 252 343 

Debt forgiveness 131,477 38,382 

R&D expenditure 131,767 124,467 
Other   (980)  -  

  
189,142 

 
371,178 

Adjustment recognised for prior periods - (14,352) 

R&D tax offset   (208,432)  (196,884) 
 

Income tax expense/(benefit)   (19,290) 159,942  

 

Note 6. Trade and other receivables 
 

31 December 31 December 

2019 2018 

$ $ 

 
Current assets 

Trade receivables 1,580  34,320 

GST receivable 184,856  27,396 

Related party loan - Conxsme Pty Ltd*   -   1,376,634  
 

        186,436 1,438,350  
 

*The Conxsme Pty Ltd related party loan was unsecured, non-interest bearing, receivable at call and related to the IIoT 

Sensor Cloud IP development in prior years. This loan was offset by the market value of the IP transferred on 31 December 

2019 (refer to note 7). 

 
Loan forgiveness expenses in relation to the Conxsme Pty Ltd and other related party loans amounted to $478,098. 

This was formerly agreed pursuant to the executed Preference Share Agreement dated 12 August 2019.  
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In the current year, the Company, for the first time, applied IFRS 16 Leases, with an initial application date of 1 January 
2019. 

 
The right-of-use asset and a lease liability are measured at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at 

commencement date, discounted using the Company’s incremental borrowing rate of 6%. 

 
The Company transitioned to IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019. On 1 July 2019, a new lease commenced and the Company 

recognised a right-of-use asset of $149,280 and $149,280 of lease liabilities (refer note 1).  

 
31 December 31 December 

2019 2018 

$ $ 

 
Non-current assets 

Office buildings 149,280 - 

Less: Accumulated depreciation   (18,660)  -  
 

  130,620 -  
 

Right-of-use asset depreciated over 4 years on a straight-line basis. 

 
 

Note 8. Intangibles 

 
Reconciliations 

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out 

below: 

 
 

Patents and 
trademarks 

 
 

Software 

Other 

intangible 
assets 

 
 

Total 

$ $ $ $ 

 
Balance at 1 January 2018 

 
62,788 

 
11 

 
2,141 

 
64,940 

Additions 3,295 - - 3,295 

Amortisation expense   (1,586)  (11)  (857)  (2,454) 

 
Balance at 31 December 2018 

 
64,497 

 
- 

 
1,284 

 
65,781 

Additions 4,581 1,400,000 - 1,404,582 

Amortisation expense   (1,669)  -  (856)  (2,526) 

 
Balance at 31 December 2019   67,409 1,400,000 428 1,467,837  

 

IIoT Sensor Cloud Intellectual Property (“IP”) was acquired by the Company from Conxsme Pty Ltd a related party of Simon 

Langdon on 31 December 2019. The IP was valued by a qualified external valuation expert using the “relief from royalties” 
approach as the primary method based on forecast IIoT Sensor Cloud revenue and applicable royalty rates. The value was 

cross checked against the “estimated recreation cost” method, which quantifies the development time to re-create the IP to 

a similar level of functionality. The resulting valuation of $1.4 million was offset against outstanding loans owing to the  
company by Conxsme Pty Ltd, pursuant to the executed Preference Share Agreement dated 12 August 2019. 
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31 December 31 December 

 2019 

$ 

2018 

$ 

Non-current assets 
  

Deferred tax asset comprises temporary differences attributable to:   

Amounts recognised in profit or loss: 
  

Plant and equipment (41,053) - 
Employee benefits 45,434      17,929 

Leases 42,034 - 

Accrued expenses 1,982 536 

Revenue received in advance            92,609  92,609  
 

Deferred tax asset   141,006 111,074  
 

Movements: 

Opening balance 111,074 105,896 

Credited to profit or loss (note 4)   29,932  5,178  
 

Closing balance   141,006 111,074  

 

Note 10. Lease liabilities 

 
In the current year, the Company, for the first time, applied IFRS 16 Leases, with an initial application date of 1 January 

2019. 

 
The right-of-use asset and a lease liability are measured at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at 

commencement date, discounted using the Company’s incremental borrowing rate of 6%. 

 
The Company transitioned to IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019. On 1 July 2019, a new lease commenced and the Company 
recognized a right-of-use asset of $149,280 and $149,280 of lease liabilities (refer note 1).  

 
Total 

Lease commitments $ 

 
Within one year  40,229 
Later than one year but not later than five years    109,310  

 

  146,269  
 

Total 

Lease commitments present value $ 

 
No later than one year  40,229 

Later than one year and not later than five    93,959  
 

  134,188  
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31 December 31 December 

2019 2018 

$ $ 

 
Current liabilities 

Convertible preference shares   1,000,000 -  
 

On 12 August 2019, the Company issued 1 million convertible preference shares with a par value of $1 per share, of which: 

 
● $460,000 was paid on issue date; 

● $460,000 is deferred, payable 10 days after 1 January 2020; and 

● The remaining $80,000 as non-cash share-based payments earned by corporate advisors for services rendered. 

 
Conversion date of preference shares to ordinary shares is 3 years from the date of agreement or at any time before that 

date subject to the following: 

 
● Either EBITDA or Revenue of the Company is equal to or greater than 75% of $7,395,267 or $11,329,217 respectively, 

such that the total of all ordinary shares held by new shareholders is equal to 20% of the total ordinary shares in the 

company. 

● Both EBITDA and Revenue of the Company are each less than 75% of $7,395,267 or $11,329,217 respectively, such 

that the total of all ordinary shares held by the new shareholders is equal to 25% of the total ordinary shares in the 
company; or 

● The company completes a fundraising act on or before conversion date, with the company or business being valued 

(immediately before the fundraising act ) at: 

- Greater than or equal to $5 million (on an equity-based valuation), such that the total of all ordinary shares held by 

new shareholders is equal to 20% of the total ordinary shares in the company subsequent to the fundraising act; or 

- Less than $5 million (on an equity-based valuation), such that the total of all ordinary shares held by new 

shareholders is equal to 25% of the total ordinary shares in the company subsequent to the fundraising act. 

 
 

These convertible preference shares have no cash redemption requirements. 

 
 

Note 12. Issued capital 

 
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 

2019 2018 2019 2018 

Shares Shares $ $ 

 
Ordinary shares - fully paid   2,500,012 2,500,012 2,500,012 2,500,012  

 

Ordinary shares 

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the company in proportion 
to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and the company 

does not have a limited amount of authorized capital. 

 
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 

share shall have one vote. 

 
Capital risk management 

The company's objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can 

provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimum capital structure to reduce 

the cost of capital. 

 
Capital is regarded as total equity, as recognized in the statement of financial position, plus net debt. Net debt is calculated 
as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. 
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In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 

 
 

Note 13. Dividends 

 
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year.  

 
 

Note 14. Financial instruments 

 
Financial risk management objectives 

The company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk and price risk), 

credit risk and liquidity risk. 

 
The only material financial risk is liquidity risk and cashflow budgeting is the tool used to manage this r isk. 

 
Liquidity risk 

Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the company to maintain sufficient liquid assets (mainly cash and cash 
equivalents) and available borrowing facilities to be able to pay debts as and when they become due and payable.  

 
The company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and available borrowing facilities by continuously 

monitoring actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

 
 Total 

0-30 Days 30-60 Days 60-90 Days 90-365 Days 1-5 Years $ 

 
2019 

    

Virgin credit card 8,322 - - - - 8,322 

Loan - Conxsme - 140,000 - - - 140,000 

Superannuation payable 7,208 - - - - 7,208 

Withholding taxes payable 28,941 - - - - 28,941 

Lease liability   3,271  3,271  3,271  30,416  93,959  134,188  

  
47,742 

 
143,271 

 
3,271 

 
30,416 

 
93,959 

 
318,659 

       
Total 

 0-30 Days 30-60 Days 60-90 Days 90-365 Days 1-5 Years $ 

 
2018 

    

Virgin credit card 7,418 - - - - 7,418 

Superannuation payable 1,952 - - - - 1,952 

Withholding tax payable 3,640 - - - - 3,640 

Loan - S Langdon - - - 127,197 - 127,197 
Other creditors   3,425                                                                        3,425         

 
16,435 - - 127,197 - 143,632 

 

 

Convertible preference shares have been excluded from the above liability profits analysis because there is no cash 

repayment requirement (refer note 10 Preference shares). 

 
Fair value of financial instruments 

Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value. 
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Note 15. Key management personnel 

 
The aggregate compensation made to directors and key management personnel of the consolidated entity is set out below:  

 
2019 

$ 
2018 

$ 

 
Simon Langdon 

  

Short-term employee benefits   

Salaries 91,742 66,560 

Annual leave 117,869 44,655 
Long-service leave 34,391 15,473 

Superannuation   8,715  6,322  

Total short-term employee benefits   252,717 133,010  

 
 
Note 16. Contingent liabilities 

 

 
The company had no significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.  
 
 
Note 17. Earnings per share 

 
2019 

$ 
2018 

$ 

 
Basic earnings per share 

  

Total basic earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity of shareholders of the 
company (0.13) 0.23 
   

Diluted earnings per shares   
Total diluted earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity of shareholders of the 
company (0.13) 0.23 
   

Reconciliation of earnings used in calculation of earnings per share   

Earnings used (337,161) 577,497 

   

Weighted average number of shares used as denominator   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating both 
basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share 2,500,012 2,500,012 

 

  
 
Accounting policy 
Basic earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit/loss attributable to owners of the company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial period, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares 
issued during the period and excluding treasury shares. 
  

Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share take into account:  
●  the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares; and 
●  the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the 

conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
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Note 18. Related party transactions 

 
As detailed in note 7 Intangibles, the IIoT Sensor Cloud IP held through a related party of Simon Langdon’s, Conxsme Pty 

Ltd, was transferred to EYEfi at market value on 31 December 2019 by offsetting outstanding related party loans owed to 

EYEfi. Following this IP transfer, all other related party loans were forgiven by 31 December 2019 in accordance with the 

executed Preference Share Agreement dated 12 August 2019. The only related party loan existing as at 31 December 2019 
is a loan with Conxsme Pty Ltd of $140,000 (being the GST component on IP transfer). 

 
 

Note 19. Events after the reporting period 
 
Since 31 December 2019, the respiratory illness COVID-19 (also referred to as the “coronavirus”) has resulted in a 
widespread health crisis that has already adversely affected the economies and financial markets of many countries around 
the world. The international response to the spread of COVID-19 has led to significant restrictions on travel; temporary 
business closures; quarantines; global stock market and financial market volatility; a general reduction in consumer activity; 
operating, supply chain and project development delays and disruptions; and declining trade and market sentiment; all of 
which have and could further affect commodity prices, interest rates, credit ratings and credit risk. 
 
Management believes that the company is well positioned to cope with a downturn in the economy.  
Factors contributing to the company’s strong position are: 
• the company has long-term contracts with a number of its existing customers 
• the company’s major customers have not experienced financial difficulties. All trade receivables on 31 December 2019 
have been received prior to the issue of this report. 
 
Despite the COVID-19 disruptions, the directors still believe the company is a going concern due to the strong position of 
the company’s working capital (excluding preference shares and deferred revenue), and its ability to capture and fulfil its 
order book. The company’s major customers have not been significantly disrupted by COVID-19 nor have they altered their 
contracts with the company, as such the company does not expect significant disruptions to operations or financially. As at 
the issue of this report, the COVID-19 disruptions have had no impact on the company’s operations. 
 
Since 31 December 2019, the related party Conxsme Pty Ltd loan has been substantially repaid and the current balance 
outstanding is $6,963. 
 
The $460,000 deferred settlement for the preference shares was received by the Company in January 2020 in accordance 
with the Preference Share Agreement dated 12 August 2019. 
 
Pursuant to the Share Swap Agreement dated 4 March 2020, the reverse takeover of EYEfi was completed on 27 May 2020 
with the Company becoming the wholly owned subsidiary of EYEfi Group Technologies Inc. On this date, the $1,000,000 
preference shares were converted to ordinary shares in accordance with Clause 4 of Preference Share Agreement.  
 
Other than disruptions to operations caused by the COVID-19 virus and reverse takeover mentioned above, no other matter 
or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2019 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the company's 
operations, the results of those operations, or the company's state of affairs in future financial years. 

 
Note 20. Reconciliation of profit/(loss) after income tax to net cash from/(used in) operating activities  

 
 2019 

$ 

2018 

$ 

Profit/(loss) after income tax (expense)/benefit for the year (337,161) 577,497 

Adjustments for: 
  

Depreciation and amortization 27,156 19,004 
Net gain on disposal of plant and equipment - (3,636) 

Cost of issuing convertible preference shares 80,000 - 

Change in operating assets and liabilities: 
  

Decrease / (increase) in trade receivables and other receivables 149,374 (603,799) 

(Decrease) / increase in trade creditors and other payables (171,689) (54,544) 

Movement in income taxes payable (63,625) 124,645 

Movement in deferred taxes payable   (29,932)  (5,178) 
 

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities   (345,877) 53,989  
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In the directors' opinion: 

 
● the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting Standards, the 

Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; 

 
● the attached financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 1 to the financial statements; 

 
● the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the company's financial position as at 31 

December 2019 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and 

 
● there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 

and payable. 

 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

On behalf of the directors 

 

 

  _   

 Simon Langdon 

 

       2020 

 



 

 
 
 

EYEfi Pty Ltd 

Independent auditor’s report to members 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of EYEfi Pty Ltd (the Company), which comprises the 

statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, the statement of comprehensive 

income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year 

then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration. 

 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Company, is in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards, including: 

(i) presents fairly the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2019 and of its 

financial performance for the year then ended. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are 

independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of 

the International Financial Reporting Standards and the ethical requirements of the 

Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in 

Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the 

Code. 

 

 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other Information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 

the information included in the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 

2019, but does not include the financial report and the auditor’s report thereon. 

 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we 

do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 



 

 
 

 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 

doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that presents fairly 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control as the directors 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that presents fairly and is free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Company to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 

in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 

exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 

basis of this financial report. 

 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of these financial statements is located at the 

Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: 

 
http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf 

 

This description forms part of our independent auditor’s report. 

 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

 

 
William Buck Audit (Vic) Pty Ltd 

ABN: 59 116 151 136 

 
 
 

 
N. S. Benbow 

Melbourne, ……………. 2020 

http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf
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1.1 Date 

 

This Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of EYEFI Technologies Group Inc.  (the “Company”) has been 

prepared by management as of December 31, 2019 and should be read in conjunction with the audited financial 

statements and related notes thereto of the Company for the period from January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019, which 

was prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). 

This MD&A contains forward-looking information which reflects management's expectations regarding the Company’s 

growth, results of operation, performance and business prospects and opportunities. The use of words such as 

“anticipate”, “continue”, “estimate", "expect”, “may”, “will”, “project”, “should”, believe”, outlook”, “forecast” and 

similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.  

Forward-looking statements in this MD&A include, but not limited to, the Company’s expectation of future activities 

and results, of its working capital needs and its ability to identify, evaluate and pursue suitable business opportunity. 

Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual 

results of events to differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements. Readers should not put 

undue reliance on forward-looking information. 

All amounts in this MD&A are presented in Canadian dollars (“CAD”). The financial statements are presented for the 

period January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019. The Company’s fiscal year end is December 31. 

Historical results of operations and trends that may be inferred from the following discussion and analysis may not 

necessarily indicate future results from operations. 

 

1.2 Overall Performance 

 

The Company was incorporated on October 4, 2018 under the laws of the Province of British Columbia, Canada by a 

Certificate of Incorporation issued pursuant to the provisions of the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia).  

1.3 Selected Annual Information 

 

 For the period from incorporation on January 1, 

2019 to December 31, 2019 

Loss for the year $ (11,118) 

Loss per share $ (111.18) 

Current assets $976  

Total assets $976  

Total current liabilities $ 14,997 

 

Current assets consist of prepaid expenses in the amount of $976. 

 

Current liabilities consist of bank overdraft (fees to be reversed) of $31 and expenses to be reimbursed to director of 

$7,538 and audit accrual fees of $7,500, and GST input tax credits receivable by the government of Canada in the amount 

of $72. 
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1.4 Results of Operations 

 

Period from January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019 

During the period from January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019, the Company reported a loss of $11,118, which was 

comprised of legal fees of $1,447, business fees of $245, professional fees of $7,500, meals and entertainment of $623, 

office rental of $1,200, interest and bank charges of $31 and parking expense of $72. 

 

1.5 Summary of Quarterly Results 

 

Quarterly financial information for interim periods preceding the date of this MD&A have been omitted as the Company 

had no activity in the 2019 fiscal year.  

 

1.6 Liquidity and Capital Resources 

 

As at December 31, 2019, the Company had working capital deficit of $14,021 dollars.  As at December 31, 2019, the 

Company had cash on hand of zero dollars and had current liabilities due only to the director of the company for out of 

pocket expenses.   

The Company may continue to have capital requirements in excess of its currently available resources. In the event the 

Company’s plans change, its assumptions change or prove inaccurate, or its capital resources in addition to projected 

cash flow, if any, prove to be insufficient to fund operations, the Company may be required to seek additional financing. 

There can be no assurance that the Company will have sufficient financing to meet its future capital requirements or that 

additional financing will be available on terms acceptable to the Company in the future.   

 

1.7 Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

 

The Company does not utilize off-balance sheet arrangements. 

 

1.8 Risk and Uncertainties 

 

The Company’s financial performance is likely to be subject to the following risks: 

 The Company has not generated any significant revenue and has incurred significant losses since inception. 

 Although management of the Company is working diligently to complete the business transaction, there is no 

assurance that a definitive agreement will be entered into nor completed. 

The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarized below:  

 

Credit risk  

The Company is exposed to credit risk by holding cash, which is held in trust with Canadian legal counsel, and in a 

Canadian bank account. Management believes there is no exposure to credit risk with respect to its cash balances. 

 

Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company is unable to meet its financial obligations as they come due.  The Company 

manages this risk by careful management of its working capital to ensure its expenditures will not exceed available 

resources.  
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.1.8 Risk and Uncertainties - continued 

 

Interest rate risk 

 

Interest rate risk is the Company’s exposure to changes in results of operations because of fluctuating interest rates. The 

Company has no variable interest-bearing financial instruments and is therefore not exposed to interest rate risk. 

 

Currency risk 

 

The Company does not have assets or liabilities in a foreign currency and therefore is not exposed to foreign currency 

risk. 

 

1.9 Transactions with Related Parties 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company has approximately $7,539 (2018 - $5,386) of accrued 

payables to a Director of the Company for expenses incurred on the Company’s behalf. During 2019, the Company 

has paid $1,200 related to an office lease to a related company owned by a Director. 

 

1.10 Subsequent Events  
 

Subsequent to December 31, 2019, financial markets have been negatively impacted by the novel Coronavirus or 
COVID-19, which was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization on March 12, 2020. This has resulted 

in significant economic uncertainty and consequently, it is difficult to reliably measure the potential impact of this 

uncertainty on our future financial results. 

On April 24, 2020 the Company issued 177,500 shares at a price of $0.08 per share and received subscription funds 

of $14,200. 

On April 30, 2020 the Company issued 825,500 shares at a price of $0.08 per share and received subscription funds 

of $66,040. 

The Company entered a Share Swap Agreement dated March 4, 2020, which will it allow it to acquire the issued and 

outstanding ordinary shares of EYEfi Pty Ltd., a software and engineering company that has developed, patented 

and commercialized innovative spatial, predictive, approximation and radial convolution technology called SPARC 

and an associated product suite that turns any sensor, camera or smartphone device (fixed, mobile, airborne, portable 
or handheld) into a target co-ordinate acquisition system. 

The Share Swap Agreement closed on May 27, 2020. 19,002,500 shares were issued to the shareholders of EYEfi 

Pty. Ltd. In exchange for 100% of the ordinary shares of EYEfi Pty Ltd. 

 

1.11 Fourth Quarter  

 

Please refer to 1.4 Results of Operations and 1.12 Proposed Transactions. 

 

1.12 Proposed Transaction  
 

 The Company reviewed several potential acquisition targets introduced by Shape Capital. 
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1.13 Critical Accounting Estimates 

 

Not applicable to venture issuers.  

 

1.14 Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption 

 

The financial information presented in this MD&A has been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards.  

 

1.15 Financial Instruments and Other Instruments 

 

The Company classifies and measures its financial instruments as follows:  

Asset/Liability Measurement Category Subsequent 

measurement 

Bank overdraft FVTPL Fair value 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Amortized cost Amortized cost 

 

1.16 Other Requirements 

 

Summary of Outstanding Share Data as of date of this MD&A:  

Authorized: Unlimited number of common shares without par value. 

Issued and outstanding: 100 common shares. 

 

The board of directors approved this MD&A on **, 2020 

 



Schedule I 

Consolidated Proforma Financial Statements to December 31, 2019  
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EYEFI Group Technologies Inc. 
Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  
As at March 31, 2020 
(Unaudited – Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

  

 
EYEFI Group 

Technologies 

Inc. 

EYEFI 

Pty. Ltd 

Note  

Ref. 

Pro-Forma 

Adjustments 

Pro-Forma 

Consolidated 

 $ $  $ $ 

Assets      

Current assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 16,210 354,395 3 (a) 74,400 906,355 

   3 (c) 441,350  

   4 20,000  

Trade and other receivables - 170,632  - 170,632 

Income tax receivable - 95,919  - 95,919 

Prepaid expenses 10,976 -  - 10,976 

Total current assets 27,186 620,946  535,750 1,183,882 

Property, plant and equipment - 45,254  - 45,254 

Intangibles - 1,211,810  - 1,211,810 

Deferred tax asset - 125,401  - 125,401 

Right of use asset - 105,231  - 105,231 

Total Non-Current Assets  - 1,487,696  - 1,487,696 

Total Assets 27,186 2,108,642  535,750 2,671,578 

      

Liabilities      

Current liabilities      

Trade and other payables 15,916 209,730 4 (34,000) 235,781 

   3 (c) 44,135  

Lease liabilities - 29,545  - 29,545 

Employee benefit provisions - 154,813  - 154,813 

Income in advance - 292,173  - 292,173 

Convertible preference shares - 867,600 3 (b) (867,600) - 

Facility loan payable - - 3 (c) 441,350 441,350 

Total current liabilities 15,916 1,553,861  (416,115) 1,153,662 

Lease Liabilities - 80,076  - 80,076 

Total Non-Current Liabilities - 80,076  - 80,076 

Total liabilities 15,916 1,633,937  (416,115) 1,233,738 

Shareholders' Equity      

Share capital and  

   Issued Capital 
65,841 2,169,010 3 (d) (65,841) 3,450,858 

   3 (a) 74,400  

   3 (d) (74,400)  

   3 (d) 320,248  

   4 74,000  

   4 20,000  
   3 (b) 867,600  

Accumulated losses (54,571) (1,694,305) 3 (d) 54,571 (2,013,018) 
   3 (c) (35,308) - 

   3 (d) (283,405)  

Total shareholders' equity 11,270 474,705  951,865 1,437,840 

Total liabilities and shareholders' 

equity 
27,186 2,108,642  535,750 2,671,578 

     

 

 

See accompanying notes to the unaudited pro-forma consolidated financial statements.



 

EYEFI Group Technologies Inc. 
Pro Forma Consolidated Statements of Net Loss 
For the three-months period ended March 31, 2020 
(Unaudited - Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

  
 

 
EYEFI Group 

Technologies 

Inc. 

EYEFI 

Pty. Ltd 

Note 

 Ref. 

Pro-Forma 

Adjustments 

Pro-Forma 

Consolidated 

 $ $  $ $ 

Revenue      

Sales from rendering services - 45,694  - 45,694 

Cost of sales - (32,889)  - (32,889) 

Gross profit - 12,805  - 12,805 

Other income 14 19,337  - 19,351 

Expenses      

Administration (83) (111,190)  - (111,273) 

Management fees (34,500) - 4 (40,000) (74,500) 

Management consultant fees (1,500) -  - (1,500) 

Rent (300) -  - (300) 

Professional fees (4,150) -  - (4,150) 

Foreign exchange loss (30) -  - (30) 

Depreciation expense - (73,234)  - (73,234) 

Employee benefit expense - (84,583)  - (84,583) 

Interest expense - - 3 (c) (8,827) (8,827) 

Listing expenses - - 3 (d) (234,578) (234,578) 

Total Expenses (40,563) (269,007)  (283,405) (592,975) 

Loss before income tax expense (40,549) (236,865)  (283,405) (560,819) 

Income tax expense - 73,345  - 73,345 

Net loss for the period (40,549) (163,520)  (283,405) (487,474) 

 

 

Weighted average number of shares                                                                                                               23,005,600 

 

Basic and diluted loss per share                                                                                                                               (0.02) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

See accompanying notes to the unaudited pro-forma consolidated financial statements.



 
 

 

 

EYEFI Group Technologies Inc. 
Pro Forma Consolidated Statements of Net Loss 
For the year ended Dec 31, 2019 
(Unaudited - Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

  

 
EYEFI Group 

Technologies 

Inc. 

EYEFI 

Pty. Ltd 

Note 

 Ref. 

Pro-Forma 

Adjustments 

Pro Forma 

Consolidated 

 $ $  $ $ 

Revenue      

Sales from rendering Services - 883,997  - 883,997 

Cost of sales - (258,560)  - (258,560) 

Gross profit - 625,437  - 625,437 

Other income - 1,945  - 1,945 

Expenses      

Administration (726) (176,582)  - (177,308) 

Rent (1,200) -  - (1,200) 

Management fees - - 4 (40,000) (40,000) 

Professional fees (9,192) -  - (9,192) 

Depreciation expense - (24,772)  - (24,772) 

Employee benefit expense - (242,085)  - (242,085) 

Cost of using issuing preference 

shares 
- (72,976)  - (72,976) 

Interest expense - - 3 (c) (35,308) (35,308) 

Listing expenses - -  (234,578) (234,578) 

Total Expenses (11,118) (516,415)  (309,886) (837,419) 

Profit (loss) from ordinary 

activities before loan forgiveness 

expense 

(11,118) 110,967  (309,886) (210,037) 

Loan forgiveness expense - (436,121)  - (436,121) 

Loss before income tax expense (11,118) (325,154)  (309,886) (646,158) 

Income tax expense - 17,596  - 17,596 

Net loss for the year (11,118) (307,558)  (309,886) (628,562) 

 

 

Weighted average number of shares                                                                                                                19,932,600 

 

Basic and diluted loss per share                                                                                                                               (0.03) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

See accompanying notes to the unaudited pro-forma consolidated financial statements 



EYEFI Group Technologies Inc. 
Pro Forma Consolidated Select Financial Statements  
As at March 31, 2020 
(Unaudited – Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
  
 

1. Basis of presentation 

 

The accompanying unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position of EYEFI Group Technologies 

Inc (“EYEFI” or “the Company”) have been prepared by management to reflect the wholly owned subsidiary, EYEFI 

Pty. Ltd (“EYEfi” ) with EYEFI, as part of the contemplated reverse take over (“RTO”). 

 

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position has been prepared in using accounting policies 

and practices consistent with those used in the preparation of EYEFI and EYEFI Pty. Ltd’s recent financial statements, 

both of which are prepared under International Financial Reporting Standards. In preparing the unaudited pro forma 

consolidated financial information, consideration was given to identifying accounting policy differences between 

EYEFI and EYEFI Pty. Ltd where the impact was potentially material and could be reasonably estimated.  

 

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position as at March 31, 2020 and proforma consolidated 

statement of comprehensive loss for the three-month period ended March 31, 2020 and the year ended December 31, 

2019 has been compiled from: 

 

 The statement of financial position of EYEFI as at March 31, 2020 obtained from the unaudited interim review 

financial statements of EYEFI. 

 The statement of financial position of EYEFI Pty. Ltd as at March 31, 2020 obtained from the unaudited interim 

review financial statements of EYEFI Pty. Ltd. 

 The statements of net loss of EYEFI Pty. Ltd for the three-months ended March 31, 2020 obtained from the 

unaudited interim review of EYEFI Pty. Ltd., and for and the year ended December 31, 2019 obtained from the 

audited financial statements of EYEFI Pty. Ltd. 

 

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position has been prepared as if the transaction had 

occurred as of March 31, 2020. 

 

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position has been prepared for illustration purposes only 

and may not be indicative of the combined results or financial position had the transaction been in effect at the date 

indicated. 

 

EYEFI Pty. Ltd unaudited interim review financial position as at March 31, 2020, the statements of net loss for the 

three-months ended March 31, 2020, and the audited statement of net loss for the year ended December 31, 2019 have 

been translated per the Bank of Canada exchange rates. Pro-forma consolidated select financial statements have been 

translated at the following rates:  

 

 Pro-forma consolidated statement of financial position as at March 31, 2020 and the consolidated statements 

of net loss for the three-months ended March 31, 2020 have been converted using period end rate of 

CAD/AUD of 0.8676. 

 Pro-forma consolidated statements of net loss for the year ended December 31, 2019 has been translated at 

the year end rate of CAD/AUD of 0.9122 
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2.  Pro Forma Transactions 

 

On March 4, 2020, the Company signed an arms-length Share Swap Agreement with EYEfi and its shareholders the 

“Share Swap Agreement”. On May 27, 2020, the Company acquired all of the issued Shares of EYEfi in exchange for 

19,002,500 Shares (the “Transaction”).  

 

3. Pro Forma Adjustments  

 

The unaudited pro-forma consolidated select financial statements have been prepared using the following assumptions 

and adjustments: 

 

a) Funding  

 

The Company received subscriptions financing of 177,500 and 825,500 shares at a price of $0.08 per share for gross 

proceeds of $14,200 (cash received $11,080) and $66,040 (cash received $63,320), respectively. 

 

b) Preference convertible shares into common shares 

 

EYEFI Pty. Ltd. will complete conversion of its 1 million convertible preference shares to common shares with a par 

value of $1 per share, equivalent to $867,600. 

 

c)  Loan Facility from a Director 

 

Pursuant to a loan agreement dated May 27, 2020 (the Loan Agreement”) between the Company and a Director of the 

Company, the Company was advanced a loan of CAD$ 441,350 (AUD $485,000) (the “Loan”) for a two year term 

commencing on the date of the first drawdown by the Company with interest at the rate of 8% calculated daily and on 

an accrual basis, payable either quarterly or on the repayment date. The pro-forma consolidated statements of 

comprehensive loss included interest expense for the three-months period ended March 31, 2020 of $8,827 and 

$35,308 for the year ended December 31, 2019. 
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d) Share Swap Agreement  
 

Cost of acquisition:  

Shares of the resulting Issuer issued to shareholder of EYEFY (1) 320,248 

  $        320,248  

Cost allocated as follows:  

Net assets of EYEFI (2) 11,270 

Additional subscriptions financing (2) 74,400 

RTO expense (3) 234,578 

  $        320,248 
 

(1) Determined base on 4,003,100 shares of EYEFI per share valued at $0.08 

(2) Net assets of EYEFI at March 31, 2020 and additional subscriptions financing during April 2020 

(3) EYEFI did not constitute a business as defined by IFRS 3. Accordingly, the excess of the consideration paid 

was recorded as share based payment under IFRS 2 

 

e) Pro Forma Effective Income Tax Rate 

 

The pro forma effective income tax rate applicable to operations of EYEFI in Canada is 26.5%. 

 

4.  Pro Forma Share Capital 
 

After giving effect to the pro forma assumptions, the pro forma share capital of EYEFI has been determined as follows:  

 

 

Number  

of shares 

 Amount 

                     

$ 

EYEFI common shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2020 

3,073,100 

 

65,841 

EYEFI additional subscriptions financing during  

   April 2020 930,000 

 

74,400  

Total EYEFI common shares issued and  

   outstanding  4,003,100 

 

140,241 

 

Share Swap Agreement  19,002,500 

 

3,130,610 

 

Share of the resulting Issuer issued to shareholders of EYEFI  

   per RTO (*) - 

 

320,248 

 

Elimination of EYEFI common shares issued and outstanding - 

 

(140,241)  

Total 23,005,600    $ 3,540,858           
 

(*) 4,003,100 shares at share price of $0.08 consistent with RTO 
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Schedule J - AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER 

 

Audit Committee Charter 

 

Mandate and Purpose of the Committee 
The Audit Committee (the “Committee”) of the board of directors (the “Board”) of EYEFI Group Technologies Inc. 

(the “Issuer”) is a standing committee of the Board whose primary function is to assist the Board in fulfilling its 

oversight responsibilities relating to: 

 the integrity of the Issuer’s financial statements; 

 the Issuer’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, as they relate to the Issuer’s financial 

statements; 

 the qualifications, independence and performance of the Issuer’s auditor; 

 internal controls and disclosure controls; 

 the performance of the Issuer’s internal audit function; and 

 performing the additional duties set out in this Charter or otherwise delegated to the Committee by the Board. 

 

Authority 

The Committee has the authority to: 

 engage and compensate independent counsel and other advisors as it determines necessary or advisable to 

carry out its duties; and 

 communicate directly with the Issuer’s auditor. 

 

The Committee has the authority to delegate to individual members or subcommittees of the Committee. 

 

Composition and Expertise 

The Committee shall be composed of a minimum of three members, each whom is a director of the Issuer.  The 

Committee shall be comprised of members, a majority of whom are not officers, employees or control persons (as 
such term is defined in the policies of the Canadian Securities Exchange and any other publicly listed exchange on 

which the shares of the Issuer may be listed) of the Issuer. They are also independent as that term is defined in National 

Instrument 52-110 Audit Committees. Briefly, an audit committee member is independent if he or she has no director 

or indirect material relationship with the Company and does not receive compensation from the Company other than 

fees for acting as a director. 

 

Committee members shall be appointed annually by the Board at the first meeting of the Board following each annual 

meeting of shareholders.  Committee members hold office until the next annual meeting of shareholders or until they 

are removed by the Board or cease to be directors of the Issuer. 

 

The Board shall appoint one member of the Committee to act as Chair of the Committee.  If the Chair of the Committee 

is absent from any meeting, the Committee shall select one of the other members of the Committee to preside at that 
meeting. 

 

Meetings 

Any member of the Committee or the auditor may call a meeting of the Committee.  The Committee shall meet at 

least once per year and as many additional times as the Committee deems necessary to carry out its duties.  The Chair 

shall develop and set the Committee’s agenda, in consultation with other members of the Committee, the Board and 

senior management. 

 

Notice of the time and place of every meeting shall be given in writing to each member of the Committee, at least 72 

hours (excluding holidays) prior to the time fixed for such meeting.  The Issuer’s auditor shall be given notice of 

every meeting of the Committee and, at the expense of the Issuer, shall be entitled to attend and be heard thereat.  If 
requested by a member of the Committee, the Issuer’s auditor shall attend every meeting of the Committee held during 

the term of office of the Issuer’s auditor. 

 

A majority of the Committee shall constitute a quorum.  No business may be transacted by the Committee except at 

a meeting of its members at which a quorum of the Committee is present in person or by means of such telephonic, 
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electronic or other communications facility that permits all persons participating in the meeting to communicate 

adequately with each other during the meeting. 

 

The Committee may invite such directors, officers and employees of the Issuer and advisors as it sees fit from time 

to time to attend meetings of the Committee. 

 

The Committee shall meet without management present whenever the Committee deems it appropriate. 

 

The Committee shall appoint a Secretary who need not be a director or officer of the Issuer.  Minutes of the meetings 

of the Committee shall be recorded and maintained by the Secretary and shall be subsequently presented to the 

Committee for review and approval. 

 

Committee and Charter Review 

The Committee shall conduct an annual review and assessment of its performance, effectiveness and contribution, 

including a review of its compliance with this Charter.  The Committee shall conduct such review and assessment in 

such manner as it deems appropriate and report the results thereof to the Board. 

 
The Committee shall also review and assess the adequacy of this Charter on an annual basis, taking into account all 

legislative and regulatory requirements applicable to the Committee, as well as any guidelines recommended by 

regulators or the CSE and shall recommend changes to the Board thereon. 

 

Reporting to the Board 

The Committee shall report to the Board in a timely manner with respect to each of its meetings held.  This report 

may take the form of circulating copies of the minutes of each meeting held. 

 

Duties and Responsibilities 

 

Financial Reporting 
The Committee is responsible for reviewing and recommending approval to the Board of the Issuer’s annual and 

interim financial statements, MD&A and related news releases, before they are released. 

 

The Committee is also responsible for: 

(a) being satisfied that adequate procedures are in place for the review of the Issuer’s public disclosure of financial 

information extracted or derived from the Issuer’s financial statements, other than the public disclosure referred 

to in the preceding paragraph, and for periodically assessing the adequacy of those procedures; 

(b) if deemed appropriate by the Committee, engaging the Issuer’s auditor to perform a review of the interim 

financial statements and receiving from the Issuer’s auditor a formal report on the auditor’s review of such 

interim financial statements; 

(c) discussing with management and the Issuer’s auditor the quality of applicable accounting principles and financial 

reporting standards, not just the acceptability thereof; 
(d) discussing with management any significant variances between comparative reporting periods; and 

(e) in the course of discussion with management and the Issuer’s auditor, identifying problems or areas of concern 

and ensuring such matters are satisfactorily resolved. 

 

Auditor 

The Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board: 

(a) the auditor to be nominated for the purpose of preparing or issuing an auditor’s report or performing other audit, 

review or attest services for the Issuer; and 

(b) the compensation of the Issuer’s auditor. 

 

The Issuer’s auditor reports directly to the Committee.  The Committee is directly responsible for overseeing the work 
of the Issuer’s auditor engaged for the purpose of preparing or issuing an auditor’s report or performing other audit, 

review or attest services for the Issuer, including the resolution of disagreements between management and the 

Issuer’s auditor regarding financial reporting. 
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Relationship with the Auditor 

The Committee is responsible for reviewing the proposed audit plan and proposed audit fees.  The Committee is also 

responsible for: 

(a) establishing effective communication processes with management and the Issuer’s auditor so that it can 

objectively monitor the quality and effectiveness of the auditor’s relationship with management and the 
Committee; 

(b) receiving and reviewing regular feedback from the auditor on the progress against the approved audit plan, 

important findings, recommendations for improvements and the auditor’s final report; 

(c) reviewing, at least annually, a report from the auditor on all relationships and engagements for non-audit 

services that may be reasonably thought to bear on the independence of the auditor; and 

(d) meeting in camera with the auditor whenever the Committee deems it appropriate. 

 

Accounting Policies 

The Committee is responsible for: 

(a) reviewing the Issuer’s accounting policy note to ensure completeness and acceptability with applicable 

accounting principles and financial reporting standards as part of the approval of the financial statements; 

(b) discussing and reviewing the impact of proposed changes in accounting standards or securities policies or 
regulations; 

(c) reviewing with management and the auditor any proposed changes in major accounting policies and key 

estimates and judgments that may be material to financial reporting; 

(d) discussing with management and the auditor the acceptability, degree of aggressiveness/conservatism and 

quality of underlying accounting policies and key estimates and judgments; and 

(e) discussing with management and the auditor the clarity and completeness of the Issuer’s financial disclosures. 

 

Risk and Uncertainty 

The Committee is responsible for reviewing, as part of its approval of the financial statements: 

(a) uncertainty notes and disclosures; and 

(b) MD&A disclosures. 
 

The Committee, in consultation with management, will identify the principal business risks and decide on the Issuer’s 

“appetite” for risk.  The Committee is responsible for reviewing related risk management policies and recommending 

such policies for approval by the Board and, once approved by the Board, overseeing the implementation and ongoing 

monitoring of such policies. 

 

The Committee is responsible for requesting the auditor’s opinion of management’s assessment of significant risks 

facing the Issuer and how effectively they are managed or controlled. 

 

Controls and Control Deviations 

The Committee is responsible for reviewing: 

(a) the plan and scope of the annual audit with respect to planned reliance and testing of controls; and 
(b) major points contained in the auditor’s management letter resulting from control evaluation and testing. 

 

The Committee is also responsible for receiving reports from management when significant control deviations occur. 

 

Compliance with Laws and Regulations 

The Committee is responsible for reviewing regular reports from management and others (e.g. auditors) concerning 

the Issuer’s compliance with financial related laws and regulations, such as: tax and financial reporting laws and 

regulations; legal withholdings requirements; environmental protection laws; and other matters for which directors 

face liability exposure. 

 

Non-Audit Services 
All non-audit services to be provided to the Issuer or its subsidiary entities by the Issuer’s auditor must be pre-

approved by the Committee. 
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Submission Systems and Treatment of Complaints 

 

The Committee is responsible for establishing procedures for: 

(a) the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Issuer regarding accounting, internal 

accounting controls, or auditing matters; and 
(b) the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Issuer of concerns regarding questionable 

accounting or auditing matters. 

 

The Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving the Issuer’s hiring policies regarding partners, employees 

and former partners 
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SCHEDULE K - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICY 

 

Corporate Governance 

 
Pursuant to National Instrument 58-101 Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices, the Issuer is required to and 

hereby disclose its corporate governance practices as follows. 

 

The mandate of the Board is to supervise the management of the Issuer and to act in the best interests of the Issuer. 

The Board acts in accordance with: 

 

(a) the B.C. Business Corporations Act; 

(b) the Issuer’s articles of incorporation; and 

(c) other applicable laws and Issuer policies. 

 

Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors of the Issuer facilitates its exercise of independent supervision over the Issuer’s management 
through frequent meetings of the Board. 

 

The Board approves all significant decisions that affect the Issuer before they are implemented. The Board supervises 

their implementation and reviews the results. The Board is actively involved in the Issuer’s strategic planning process. 

The Board discusses and reviews all materials relating to the strategic plan with management. 

 

The Board is responsible for reviewing and approving the strategic plan. At least one Board meeting each year is 

devoted to discussing and considering the strategic plan, which takes into account the risks and opportunities of the 

business. Management must seek the Board’s approval for any transaction that would have a significant impact on the 

strategic plan. The Board periodically reviews the Issuer’s business and implementation of appropriate systems to 

manage any associated risks, communications with investors and the financial community and the integrity of the 
Issuer’s internal control and management information systems. The Board also monitors the Issuer’s compliance with 

its timely disclosure obligations and reviews material disclosure documents prior to distribution. 

 

The Board periodically discusses the systems of internal control with the Issuer’s external auditor. 

 

The Board is responsible for choosing the Chief Executive Officer and appointing senior management and for 

monitoring their performance and developing descriptions of the positions for the Board, including the limits on 

management’s responsibilities and the corporate objectives to be met by the management. 

 

The Board approves all the Issuer’s major communications, including annual and quarterly reports, financing 

documents and press releases. The Board approves the Issuer’s communication policy that covers the accurate and 

timely communication of all important information. It is reviewed annually. This policy includes procedures for 
communicating with analysts by conference calls. 

 

The Board, through its Audit Committee, examines the effectiveness of the Issuer’s internal control processes and 

management information systems. The Board consults with the internal auditor and management of the Issuer to ensure 

the integrity of these systems. The internal auditor submits a report to the Audit Committee each year on the quality 

of the Issuer’s internal control processes and management information systems. 

 

The Board is responsible for determining whether or not each director is an independent director. Directors who also 

act as officers of the Issuer are not considered independent. Directors who do not also act as officers of the Issuer, do 

not work in the day-to-day operations of the Issuer, are not party to any material contracts with the Issuer, or receive 

any fees from the Issuer other than directors fees are considered independent.  
 

The Issuer’s Board consists of three directors, two of whom are independent based upon the tests for independence 

set forth in NI 52-110.  
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Orientation and Continuing Education 

Each new director of the Issuer is briefed about the nature of the Issuer’s business, its corporate strategy and current 

issues within the Issuer. New directors will be encouraged to review the Issuer’s public disclosure records as filed on 

SEDAR at www.sedar.com after the Issuer becomes a reporting issuer. Directors are also provided with access to 

management to better understand the operations of the Issuer, and to the Issuer’s legal counsel to discuss their legal 
obligations as directors of the Issuer. 

 

Ethical Business Conduct 

The Board has found that the fiduciary duties placed on individual directors by the Issuer’s governing corporate 

legislation and the common law and the restrictions placed by applicable corporate legislation on an individual 

director's participation in decisions of the Board in which the director has an interest have been sufficient to ensure 

that the Board operates independently of management and in the best interests of the Issuer. 

 

Under the corporate legislation, a director is required to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests 

of the Issuer and exercise the care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent person would exercise in comparable 

circumstances, and disclose to the board the nature and extent of any interest of the director in any material contract 

or material transaction, whether made or proposed, if the director is a party to the contract or transaction, is a director 
or officer (or an individual acting in a similar capacity) of a party to the contract or transaction or has a material 

interest in a party to the contract or transaction.  The director must then abstain from voting on the contract or 

transaction unless the contract or transaction (i) relates primarily to their remuneration as a director, officer, employee 

or agent of the Issuer or an affiliate of the Issuer, (ii) is for indemnity or insurance for the benefit of the director in 

connection with the Issuer, or (iii) is with an affiliate of the Issuer.  If the director abstains from voting after disclosure 

of their interest, the directors approve the contract or transaction and the contract or transaction was reasonable and 

fair to the Issuer at the time it was entered into, the contract or transaction is not invalid and the director is not 

accountable to the Issuer for any profit realized from the contract or transaction.  Otherwise, the director must have 

acted honestly and in good faith, the contract or transaction must have been reasonable and fair to the Issuer and the 

contract or transaction be approved by the shareholders by a special resolution after receiving full disclosure of its 

terms in order for the director to avoid such liability or the contract or transaction being invalid. 

 

Nomination of Directors 

The Board of Directors is responsible for identifying individuals qualified to become new Board members and 

recommending to the Board new director nominees for the next annual meeting of the shareholders. New nominees 

must have a track record in general business management, special expertise in an area of strategic interest to the 

Issuer, the ability to devote the time required, shown support for the Issuer 's mission and strategic objectives, and a 

willingness to serve. 

 

Compensation 

The Board of Directors as a whole shall determine the compensation of the Issuer’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief 

Financial Officer with reference to industry standards and the financial situation of the Issuer. The Board of Directors 

has the sole responsibility for determining the compensation of the directors of the Issuer. 
 

Given the Issuer’s size, operating history and revenue, the Board of Directors does not plan to form a compensation 

committee to monitor and review the salary and benefits of the executive officers of the Issuer at the present time. 

The Board of Directors will carry out these functions until such time as it deems the formation of a compensation 

committee is warranted. 

 

Other Board Committees 

The Board of Directors shall ensure there is an audit committee at all times in compliance with regulatory 

requirements. Additional committees may be formed as required. 

 

Assessments 
The Board of Directors shall monitor the adequacy of information given to directors, communication between the 

board and management and the strategic direction and processes of the board and committees. 
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Schedule L - STOCK OPTION PLAN 

Section 1.01 Definitions: For purposes of the Plan, unless such word or term is otherwise defined herein or the 

context in which such word or term is used herein otherwise requires, the following words and terms with the initial 

letter or letters thereof capitalized shall have the following meanings: 

“Act” means the British Columbia Business Corporations Act or its successor, as amended from time to time; 

“Black Out Period” means the period during which designated persons cannot trade Common Shares pursuant to 

any policy of the Corporation respecting restrictions on trading which is in effect at that time (which, for greater 

certainty, does not include the period during which a cease trade order is in effect to which the Corporation, or in 

respect of an insider, that insider, is subject); 

“Business Day” means each day other than a Saturday, Sunday or statutory holiday in the Province of British 

Columbia; 

“Committee” means the Directors or, if the Directors so determine in accordance with Section 2.03 of the Plan, the 

committee of the Directors authorized to administer the Plan, which includes any compensation committee of the 

board; 

“Common Shares” means the Common Shares of the Corporation, as adjusted in accordance with the provisions of 

section 5.06 of the Plan; 

“Consultant” means a person, other than an employee or a director of the Corporation or of any Designated Affiliate 

of the Corporation, that: 

(i) is engaged to provide services to the Corporation or any Designated Affiliate of the Corporation, other 

than services provided in relation to a distribution; 

(ii) provides the services under a written contract with the Corporation or any Designated Affiliate of the 

Corporation; 

(iii) spends or will spend a significant amount of time and attention on the affairs and business of the 

Corporation or any Designated Affiliate of the Corporation; and 

(iv) has a relationship with the Corporation or any Designated Affiliate of the Corporation that enables the 

individual to be knowledgeable about the business and affairs of the Issuer. 

and includes, for an individual consultant, a corporation of which the individual consultant is an employee or 

shareholder, and a partnership of which the individual consultant is an employee or partner; 

“Consulting Contract” means any contract between the Corporation or any Designated Affiliate of the Corporation 

and any Eligible Consultant relating to, or entered into in connection with, services to be provided to the 

Corporation or a Designated Affiliate by the Eligible Consultant; 

“Corporation” means EYEFI Group Technologies Inc., a corporation incorporated under the Act and its successors 

and assigns; 

“Designated Affiliate” means the affiliates of the Corporation designated by the Committee for purposes of the Plan 

from time to time; 

“Directors” means the board of directors of the Corporation from time to time; 
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“Eligible Consultants” means Consultants of the Corporation or any Designated Affiliate of the Corporation; 

“Eligible Directors” means the Directors or the directors of any Designated Affiliate of the Corporation from time 

to time; 

“Eligible Employees” means employees and officers, whether Directors or not, and including both full-time and 

part-time employees, of the Corporation or any Designated Affiliate of the Corporation; 

“Employment Contract” means any contract between the Corporation or any Designated Affiliate of the 

Corporation and any Eligible Employee relating to, or entered into in connection with, the employment of the 

Eligible Employee or between the Corporation or a Designated Affiliate and an Eligible Director with respect to his 

or her directorship or resignation therefrom; 

“Market Price” means, in the event the Corporation is trading on a Stock Exchange, the last closing trading price of 

the Common Shares on the Stock Exchange, or another stock exchange where the majority of the trading volume 

and value of the Common Shares occurs; 

“Option” means an option to purchase Common Shares granted pursuant to, or governed by, the Plan; 

“Optionee” means a Participant to whom an Option has been granted pursuant to the Plan; 

“Option Period” means the period of time during which the particular Option may be exercised and commences on 

the date of the grant of the Option, unless otherwise specified by the Committee; 

“Participant” means each Eligible Employee, Eligible Director and Eligible Consultant; 

“Plan” means this stock option plan; and 

“Stock Exchange” means a public exchange upon which the Common Shares are listed for trading. 

Section 1.02 Securities Definitions: In the Plan, the terms “affiliate”, “associate” and “insider” shall have the 

meanings given to such terms in the Securities Act (British Columbia). The term “affiliate” shall include those issuers 

that are similarly related, whether or not any of the issuers are corporations, companies, partnerships, limited 

partnership, trusts, income trusts or investment trusts or any other organized entity issuing securities. The term 

“insider” shall include associates and affiliates of the insider. 

Section 1.3 Headings: The headings of all articles, sections, and paragraphs in the Plan are inserted for convenience 

of reference only and shall not affect the construction or interpretation of the Plan. 

Section 1.4 Context, Construction: Whenever the singular or masculine are used in the Plan, the same shall be 

construed as being the plural or feminine or neuter or vice versa where the context so requires. 

Section 1.5 References to this Plan: The words “herein”, “hereby”, “hereunder”, “hereof” and similar expressions 

mean or refer to the Plan as a whole and not to any particular article, section, paragraph or other part hereof. 

Section 1.6 Canadian Funds: Unless otherwise specifically provided, all references to dollar amounts in the Plan are 

references to lawful money of Canada. 
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ARTICLE TWO 

PURPOSE AND ADMINISTRATION OF THE PLAN 

Section 2.01 Purpose of the Plan: The Plan provides for the acquisition of Common Shares by Participants for the 

purpose of advancing the interests of the Corporation through the motivation, attraction and retention of employees, 

officers, directors and consultants of the Corporation and the Designated Affiliates of the Corporation and to secure 
for the Corporation and the shareholders of the Corporation the benefits inherent in the ownership of Common 

Shares by  employees, officers, directors and consultants of the Corporation and Designated Affiliates of the 

Corporation, it being generally recognized that share incentive plans aid in attracting, retaining and encouraging 

employees, officers, directors and consultants due to the opportunity offered to them to acquire a proprietary 

interest in the Corporation. 

Section 2.03 Administration of the Plan: The Plan shall be administered by the Committee and the Committee 

shall have full authority to administer the Plan including the authority to interpret and construe any provision of the 

Plan and to adopt, amend and rescind such rules and regulations for administering the Plan as the Committee may 

deem necessary in order to comply with the requirements of the Plan. All actions taken and all interpretations and 

determinations made by the Committee in good faith shall be final and conclusive and shall be binding on the 

Participants and the Corporation. No member of the Committee shall be personally liable for any action taken or 

determination or interpretation made in good faith in connection with the Plan and all members of the Committee 
shall, in addition to their rights as Directors, be fully protected, indemnified and held harmless by the Corporation 

with respect to any such action taken or determination or interpretation made. The appropriate officers of the 

Corporation are hereby authorized and empowered to do all things and execute and deliver all instruments, 

undertakings and applications and writings as they, in their absolute discretion, consider necessary for the 

implementation of the Plan and of the rules and regulations established for administering the Plan. All costs 

incurred in connection with the Plan shall be for the account of the Corporation. 

Section 2.03 Delegation to Committee: All of the powers exercisable hereunder by the Directors may, to the extent 

permitted by applicable law and as determined by resolution of the Directors, be exercised by a committee of the 

Directors comprised of not less than three Directors or in the absence of a committee of the Directors, by the full 

board of Directors, including any compensation committee of the board of directors, which delegation may be 

revoked at any time. 

Section 2.4 Record Keeping:  The Corporation shall maintain a register in which shall be recorded: 

(a) the name and address of each Optionee;  

(b) the number of Common Shares subject to Options granted to each Optionee; and 

(c) the aggregate number of Common Shares subject to Options. 

Section 2.5. Determination of Participants and Participation: The Committee shall from time to time determine 

the Participants who may participate in the Plan. The Committee shall from time to time determine the number of 

Common Shares to be issued to the Participants to whom Options shall be granted, the number of Common Shares 

to be made subject to and the expiry date of each Option granted to each Participant and the other terms (eg vesting 

conditions) of each Option granted to each Participant, all such determinations to be made in accordance with the 

terms and conditions of the Plan, and the Committee may take into consideration the present and potential 

contributions of and the services rendered by the particular Participant to the success of the Corporation and any 

other factors which the Committee deems appropriate and relevant. 
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Section 2.6 Number of Shares Available under the Plan: There shall be available at all times for issuance under 

the Plan that number of Common Shares as is equal to 10% (on a non-diluted basis) of the number of issued and 

outstanding Common Shares of the Corporation from time to time. For greater certainty, the number of Common 

Shares available for issuance under the Plan shall not be decreased as a result of the issuance of Common Shares 

upon the exercise of Options nor increased upon the surrender, termination or expiry of Options unexercised in 
whole or in part. If the Corporation repurchases for cancellation Common Shares such that the foregoing percent 

test is not met following such repurchase, this shall not constitute non-compliance under the Plan. 

Section 2.3 Further Limitations to the Issuance of Shares under the Plan:   

(a) The aggregate number of Common Shares that may be reserved for issuance pursuant the Plan shall not exceed 

5% of the issued shares of the Corporation (determined at the date the option was granted) to any one 

individual in a 12 month period, unless the Corporation has obtained the requisite disinterested shareholder 

approval. 

(b) The number of options granted to any one Consultant in a 12 month period shall not exceed 2% of the issued 

shares of the Corporation, calculated at the date the option was granted to the Consultant. 

(c) The aggregate number of options granted to persons employed to provide Investor Relations Activities (as 

defined in the policies of the Stock Exchange, if any) must not exceed 2% of the issued shares of the 

Corporation in any 12 month period, calculated at the date the option was granted. 

ARTICLE THREE 
STOCK OPTION PLAN 

 
Section 3.01 The Stock Option Plan and Participants: A stock option plan is hereby established for Eligible 

Employees, Eligible Directors and Eligible Consultants. 

Section 3.02 Exercise Price: The price per share at which any Common Share which is the subject of an Option 
may be purchased shall be determined by the Committee at the time the Option is granted, provided that such price 

shall be not lower than the Market Price of the Common Shares at the time the Option is granted, and if the 

Common Shares are not listed on a stock exchange, the fair market value of the Common Shares at the time the 

Option is granted as determined by the Committee. 

Section 3.03 Term of Option:   

(a) The Option Period for each Option shall be such period of time as shall be determined by the 

Committee, subject to any Employment Contract or Consulting Contract, provided that no Option 

Period shall exceed 10 years. 

(b) Should the expiration date for an Option fall within a Black Out Period or within nine Business 

Days following the expiration of a Black Out Period, such expiration date shall be automatically 

extended without any further act or formality to that date which is the tenth Business Day after the 

end of the Black Out Period, such tenth Business Day to be considered the expiration date for such 
Option for all purposes under the Plan, provided that in no event shall the Option Period exceed 10 

years. Notwithstanding, the ten Business Day period referred to in this Section 3.03(b) may not be 

extended by the Committee. 
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Section 3.04 Limit on Options to be Exercised: Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, Options may be 

exercised (in each case to the nearest full share), during the Option Period at any time during the Option Period 

subject to the Vesting Restrictions in section 3.05 and the termination clause in section 3.10.3.  

Section 3.05 Vesting Conditions and Restrictions: Notwithstanding the foregoing, Options issued to Consultants 

performing Investor Relations Activities shall vest over 12 months with no more than 25% of the Options vesting in 
any three month period as the minimum required by the Exchange. Additionally, the Company will determine and 

set the vesting conditions and period for each and every grant of a Stock Option including increasing the vesting 

period for Stock Options granted to Consultants performing investor relations activities; 

Section 3.06 Eligible Participants on Exercise: An Option may be exercised by the Optionee in whole at any time, 

or in part from time to time, during the Option Period as provided, subject to vesting conditions and restrictions (as 

detailed in section 3.05) except as otherwise specifically provided in sections 3.10.1 and 3.10.3 or this section 

hereof or in any Employment Contract or Consulting Contract (both also subject to 3.10.3), no Option may be 

exercised unless the Optionee at the time of exercise thereof is: 

(a) in the case of an Eligible Employee, an officer of the Corporation or a Designated Affiliate or in the 

employment of the Corporation or a Designated Affiliate and has been continuously an officer or so employed 

since the date of grant of such Option, provided however that a leave of absence with the approval of the 

Corporation or such Designated Affiliate shall not be considered an interruption of employment for purposes of 

the Plan;   

(b) in the case of an Eligible Director who is not also an Eligible Employee, a director of the Corporation or a 

Designated Affiliate and has been such a director continuously since the date of grant of such Option; and 

(c) in the case of an Eligible Consultant, a Consultant of the Corporation or a Designated Affiliate and has been a 

such a Consultant continuously since the date of grant of such Option. 

Section 3.07 Payment of Exercise Price 

 

(a) Direct Exercise: The issue of Common Shares on exercise of any Option shall be contingent upon receipt by 

the Corporation of payment of the aggregate purchase price for the Common Shares in respect of which the 

Option has been exercised plus any amount the Corporation determines, in its discretion, is required to satisfy 

the Corporation’s withholding tax and source deduction remittance obligations in respect of the exercise of the 
Options and issuance of Common Shares, and payment of such amounts to the Corporation is in cash or by 

certified cheque delivered to the registered office of the Corporation together with a validly completed notice of 

exercise.  No Optionee or legal representative, legatee or distributee of any Optionee will be, or will be deemed 

to be, a holder of any Common Shares with respect to which such Optionee was granted an Option, unless and 

until certificates for such Common Shares are issued to such Optionee, or them, under the terms of the Plan. 

Subject to 3.10 hereof, upon an Optionee exercising an Option and paying the Corporation the aggregate 

purchase price for the Common Shares in respect of which the Option has been exercised and any amount 

required to satisfy withholding tax and source deduction requirements, the Corporation shall as soon as 

practicable issue and deliver a certificate representing the Common Shares so purchased. 

(b) Broker Assisted Exercise: If the Common Shares are listed and posted for trading on a stock exchange or 

market, an Optionee may elect a broker assisted exercise in its notice of exercise if the Common Shares 

issuable on the exercise are to be immediately sold. In such case, the Optionee will not be required to deliver to 
the Corporation a certified cheque as referred to in Subsection 3.07(a) above. Instead the following procedure 

will be followed: 

(i) The Optionee will, directly or through an intermediary, instruct a broker selected by the Optionee to sell 

through the stock exchange or market on which the Common Shares are listed or quoted, the Common 

Shares issuable on the exercise of vested Options, as soon as possible at the then applicable bid price of 

the Common Shares. 
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(ii) On the trade date, the Optionee will deliver a validly completed notice of exercise, including details of 

the trades, to the Corporation electing the broker assisted exercise and the Corporation will direct its 

registrar and transfer agent to issue a certificate in the name of the broker (or as the broker may otherwise 

direct) for the number of Common Shares issued on the exercise of the vested Options, against payment 

by the broker to the Corporation of (i) the aggregate purchase price for such Common Shares; and (ii) the 

amount the Corporation determines, in its discretion, is required to satisfy the Corporation’s withholding 

tax and source deduction remittance obligations in respect of the exercise of the vested Options and 

issuance of Common Shares. 

 
(iii) The broker will deliver to the Optionee the remaining proceeds of sale, net of the brokerage commission. 

Section 3.08 Acceleration on Take-over Bid: If there is a take-over bid (within the meaning of the Securities Act 

(British Columbia)) made for all or any of the issued and outstanding Common Shares, then all Options outstanding 

become immediately exercisable, notwithstanding 3.03 hereof, in order to permit Common Shares issuable under 

such Options to be tendered to such bid. 

Section 3.09 Effect of Death: If a Participant dies while an Optionee, any Option held by such Optionee at the date 

of death shall become immediately exercisable notwithstanding section 3.10 hereof, and shall be exercisable in 

whole or in part only by the person or persons to whom the rights of the Optionee under the Option shall pass by the 

will of the Optionee or the laws of descent and distribution for a period of twelve months after the date of death of 
the Optionee or prior to the expiration of the Option Period in respect of the Option, whichever is sooner. This is 

subject to any Employment Agreement, Consulting Agreement or any other agreement to which the Corporation or 

its Designated Affiliates is a party with respect to the rights of such Participant upon Termination or change in 

control of the Corporation. 

Section 3.10 Termination Clauses and Effect of Termination:  

3.10.1 Subject to section 3.10.3, if a Participant who is not a director shall: 

(a) cease to be employed by, or be an officer of, the Corporation and any of its Designated Affiliates (and 

is not aa director thereof), for any reason (other than death), including circumstances involving receipt 

of notice from the Corporation or any of its Designated Affiliates of the termination of his or her 

Employment Contract; or 

(b) cease to be engaged by, or be a Consultant of the Corporation and any of its Designated Affiliates, for 
any reason (other than death), including circumstances involving receipt of notice from the Corporation 

or any of its Designated Affiliates of the termination of his, her or its Consulting Contract; 

(collectively, “Termination”) such Participant may, but only within 180 days next succeeding such Termination (or 

such other later date that may be determined by the Corporation), exercise his or her Options to the extent that such 

Participant was entitled to exercise such options at the date of such Termination, provided that in no event shall such 

right extend beyond the Option Period. This section is subject to any Employment Agreement, Consulting Agreement 

or any other agreement to which the Corporation or its Designated Affiliates is a party with respect to the rights of 
 
such Participant upon Termination or change in control of the Corporation. It shall be at the discretion of the directors 

as to any extension of the Option period depending on the particular circumstances of any Termination;  

 

3.10.2 If a Participant who is a director ceases to be a director of the Corporation or any of its Designated Affiliates 

and is not or does not continue to serve in that capacity,  the director will, within 180 days after his or her  cessation 

in that capacity , have the right to exercise his or her options, and furthermore, for each year a director has served as 

a director they will have the right to exercise their Options for a further 30 days  for each year of having served as a 

director of the Company, with the understanding that the right to exercise such option will not extend for more than 

one year from the Participants cessation; provided however, that in the event a director of the Corporation and any of 

its Designated Affiliates (and is not or does not continue to be an employee thereof) is convicted of a criminal or 
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securities offence (a “Conviction”), is declared bankrupt or is terminated arising from a court order or shareholder 

resolution), the Options shall terminate on the date of such Conviction, date of bankruptcy, court order or shareholder 

resolution.  

 
Section 3.10.3 : Termination Conditions Affecting the 180 Day Exercise Period in Section 3.10.1: 

 

The board of directors of the Corporation can unilaterally eliminate or shorten the exercise period in section 3.10.1 

of any Stock Options that have not vested on the date of termination in the event a Participant (who is not a director) 

is terminated and ceases to be eligible for the grant of a Stock Option for the following reasons: 

 
a) Bad leaver, means in respect of the Employee: 

 

i. the Company terminates the Employee’s Appointment for cause; 

 

ii. the Employee resigns from her employment with the Company in circumstances where the Company 

could have terminated the Employee’s Appointment or agreement for cause; or 

 

iii. the Employee resigns from, or leaves, her employment with the Company for any reason other than as 

a Good Leaver. 
 

 

 b) Good Leaver means, in respect of the Employee, the Employee ceases to be employed by the Company as a 

result of: 

i. redundancy of the Employee; 

ii. mutual agreement in writing between the Employee and the Company; 

iii. death of the Employee; or 

iv. serious disability or permanent incapacity through ill health of the Employee (as determined by the Board 

of Directors). 

Section 3.10.4 Necessary Approvals:  The obligation of the Corporation to issue and deliver any Common Shares in 

accordance with the Plan shall be subject to any necessary approval of any stock exchange or regulatory authority 

having jurisdiction over the securities of the Corporation.  If any Common Shares cannot be issued to any Participant 

for whatever reason, the obligation of the Corporation to issue such Common Shares shall terminate and any Option 

exercise price paid to the Corporation shall be returned to the Participant. 
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ARTICLE FOUR 

WITHHOLDING TAXES AND SECURITIES LAWS 

OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

 

Section 4.1 Withholding Taxes: The Corporation or any Designated Affiliate may take such steps as it considers 
necessary or appropriate for the deduction and withholding of any taxes and other required source deductions which 

the Corporation or the Designated Affiliate, as the case may be, is required by any law or regulation of any 

governmental authority whatsoever to remit in connection with this Plan, any Options, the exercise or surrender by 

an Optionee of any Options or any issuance of any Common Shares. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, 

the Corporation may, at its discretion: (i) deduct and withhold those amounts it is required to remit from any cash 

remuneration or other amount payable to the Optionee, whether or not related to the Plan, any Options, the exercise 

or surrender by an Optionee of any Options or the issuance of any Common Shares; (ii) allow the Optionee to make 

a cash payment to the Corporation equal to the amount required to be remitted, which amount shall be remitted by 

the Corporation to the appropriate governmental authority for the account of the Optionee; or (iii) sell, on behalf of 

the Optionee, that number of Common Shares to be issued upon the exercise of Options such that the amount withheld 

by the Corporation from the proceeds of such sale will be sufficient to satisfy any taxes required to be remitted by the 

Corporation for the account of the Optionee.  Where the Corporation considers that the steps undertaken in connection 
with the foregoing result in inadequate withholding or a late remittance of taxes, the delivery of any Common Shares 

to be issued to an Optionee on the exercise of Options may be made conditional upon the Optionee (or other person) 

reimbursing or compensating the Corporation or making arrangements satisfactory to the Corporation for the payment 

in a timely manner of all taxes required to be remitted for the account of the Optionee. 

Section 4.02 Securities Laws of the United States of America: Neither the Options which may be granted pursuant 

to the provisions of the Plan nor the Common Shares which may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of Options have 

been registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “U.S. Act”), or under any securities 

law of any state of the United States of America. Accordingly, any Participant who is issued Common Shares or 

granted an Option in a transaction which is subject to the U.S. Act or the securities laws of any state of the United 

States of America may be required to represent, warrant, acknowledge and agree that: 

(a) the Participant is acquiring the Option and/or any Common Shares as principal and for the account of the 

Participant; 

(b) in granting the Option and/or issuing the Common Shares to the Participant, the Corporation is relying on the 

representations and warranties of the Participant to support the conclusion of the Corporation that the granting of 

the Option and/or the issue of Common Shares do not require registration under the U.S. Act or to be qualified 

under the securities laws of any state of the United States of America. 

ARTICLE FIVE 

GENERAL 

 
Section 5.01 Effective Date of the Plan:  The Plan shall become effective upon a date to be determined by the 

Directors. 

Section 5.2 Amendment or Discontinuance of the Plan: The Committee may from time to time in the absolute 

discretion of the Committee amend, modify and change the provisions of the Plan or any Options granted pursuant 
to the Plan, provided that any amendment, modification or change to the provisions of the Plan or any Options 

granted pursuant to the Plan shall, where required: 
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(a) be subject to any regulatory approvals, including the approval of the Stock Exchange; 

(b) be subject to shareholder approval in accordance with the rules of the Stock Exchange in circumstances where 

the amendment, modification or change to the Plan or Option would increase the fixed maximum percentage of 

Common Shares which may be issued pursuant to the Plan;  

(c) be subject to disinterested shareholder approval in accordance with the rules of the Stock Exchange if the 

Optionee is an insider of the Corporation at the time of the amendment; 

(d)  not be subject to shareholder approval in any circumstance (other than those listed above), including, but not 

limited to, circumstances where the amendment, modification or change to the Plan or Option would: 

(i)  be of a “housekeeping nature”, including any amendment to the Plan or an Option that is necessary to 

comply with applicable law or the requirements of any regulatory authority or stock exchange and any 

amendment to the Plan or an Option to correct or rectify any ambiguity, defective provision, error or 

omission therein, including any amendment to any definitions therein; 

(ii)  change the exercise price of an Option to an exercise price not below the Discounted Market Price (as 

defined by the policies of the Stock Exchange), unless the change is a reduction in the exercise price of 

an Option held by an insider of the Corporation; 

(iii)  alter, extend or accelerate any vesting terms or conditions in the Plan or any Option other than an Option 

held by an insider of the Corporation; 

(iv) amend or modify any mechanics for exercising any Option; 

(v) change the expiration date (including acceleration thereof) or change any  termination provision in 

any Option, provided that such change does not entail an extension beyond the original expiration 

date of such Option (subject to such date being extended by virtue of Section 3.04(b)); 

(vi) amend or modify any mechanics for exercising any Option; 

(vii) change the expiration date (including acceleration thereof) or change any  termination provision in 

any Option, provided that such change does not entail an extension beyond the original expiration 

date of such Option (subject to such date being extended by virtue of Section 3.04(b)); 

(viii) Adjustment in Number of Shares Subject to the Plan subject to changes arising from consolidation, 

merger etc, or Securities Exchange Take-over Bid; 

(ix) add a form of financial assistance or amend a financial assistance provision which is adopted; or 

(x) change the eligible Participants of the Plan. 

The Directors may discontinue the Plan at any time without the consent of the Participants provided that such 

discontinuance shall not adversely alter or impair any Option previously granted. 

Section 5.03 Non-Assignable: No rights under the Plan and no Option awarded pursuant to the provisions of the 

Plan are assignable or transferable by any Participant other than pursuant to a will or by the laws of descent and 

distribution. 

Section 5.04 Rights as a Shareholder: No Optionee shall have any rights as a shareholder of the Corporation with 

respect to any Common Shares which are the subject of an Option. No Optionee shall be entitled to receive, and no 

adjustment shall be made for, any dividends, distributions or other rights declared for shareholders of the 

Corporation for which the record date is prior to the date of exercise of any Option. 
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Section 5.05 No Contract of Employment: Nothing contained in the Plan shall confer or be deemed to confer upon 

any Participant the right to continue in the employment of, or to provide services to, the Corporation or any 

Designated Affiliate nor interfere or be deemed to interfere in any way with any right of the Corporation or any 

Designated Affiliate to discharge any Participant at any time for any reason whatsoever, with or without cause. 

Participation in the Plan by a Participant shall be voluntary, however a participant accepting a grant of stock options 

is deemed to be governed by this Plan. 

Section 5.06 Adjustment in Number of Shares Subject to the Plan: In the event there is any change in the 

Common Shares, whether by reason of a stock dividend, consolidation, subdivision and reclassification or 

otherwise, an appropriate adjustment shall be made by the Committee in: 

(a) the number of Common Shares available under the Plan; 

(b) the number of Common Shares subject to any Option; and 

(c) the exercise price of the Common Shares subject to Options. 

If the foregoing adjustment shall result in a fractional Common Share, the fraction shall be disregarded. All such 

adjustments shall be conclusive, final and binding for all purposes of the Plan. 
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